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iL BCA 8,12 Farm Responses
Female and Minority Directors Report

Is the corporation a publicly held corporation with its principal executive office located in
Hlinols?

Yes
Principal address of executive office in {llinols:
222 Merchandise Mart Plaza, Suite 1300, Chicago IL 60654

Set forth data on specific qualifications, skills and experience that the corporatian considers for
its board of directors, nominees for the board of directors, and executive officers. {If additional

- space Is required, please attach an additional page{s) as needed.)

Information regarding specHic gualifications, skills and experlence for our board of directors is
attached hereto as Appendix A. Information regarding specific qualifications, skills and experience
for our executive officers is attached hereto as Appendix B.

Set forth the self-identified gem:ier of each member of the board of directors: (If additional
space Is required, please attach an additlonal page(s) as needed.}

Anil Arora {male}, Thomas K. Brown {male), Stephen G. Butler {male), Sean M. Connolly {male},
Joie A. Gregor {female), Rajive Johri {male), Richard H. Lenny (male), Melissa Lora (female), Ruth
Ann Marshall (female), Craig P. Omntvedt {male) and Scott Ostfeld (male).

Set forth the race or ethnicity of each member of the board of directors.

Anil Arora {Indian), Thomas K. Brown {African American), Stephen G. Butler (Caucasian), Sean M,
Connolly (Caucasian), Joie A. Gregor (Caucasian), Rajive Johrl {Indtan), Richard H. Lenny
{Caucasian), Melissa Lora {(Caucasian), Ruth Ann Marshall {Caucasian), Craig P. Omtvedt
{Caucastan) and Scott Ostfeld (Caucasian).

Set forth a description of the corporation’s process for identifying and evaluating nominees for
the board of directors, Including whether and, If so, how demographic diversity Is considered.
{if additional space Is required, please attach an additional page(s) as needed.) '

A description of the Company’s process for identifying and evaluating nominees for its Board of
Directors, Is attached hereto as Appendix C.

Set forth a description of the corporation’s process for identlfying and appeinting executive
officers, including whether and, if so, how demographic diversity is considered. (If additional
space Is required, please attach an additional page(s) as needed.)

A description of the Company’s process for identifying and appointing executive officers is
attached hereto as Appendix D.



7.

Set forth a description of the corporation’s polides and practices for promoting diversity, equity
and incluslon among the board of directors and executive officers. (i additional space is
required, please attach an additional page{s) as needed.)

A description of the Company’s policies and practices for promoting diversity, equity and inclusion
among the board of directors and executive officers is attached hereto as Appendix E.



APPENDIX A

Set forth data on specific qualifications, skills and experience that the corporation considers for Its
board of directors and nominees for the board of directors.

Conagra Brands, Inc. {*Conagra®)} strives ta ensure that a significant majority of the members of its Board
of Directors ("Board) qualify as independent directors under applicable legal standards. The company
therefore minimizes the number of active employees serving on the Board. With respect to the selection
of independent directors, the Board seeks indlviduals with high standards for ethics and integrity.
Individuals must be willing to commit the time needed to carry out thelr director dutles, Including
overseeing the company's strategy, succession planning, and director refreshment. Conagra seeks
directors with experience in the following areas:

¢ Public company board experience

o Active or former C-Suite experience

e Market-facing experience

¢ International experience

¢ Finance/capital management expertise
¢  MEA experience

¢ Technology expertlse

* Risk Management expertise

With respect to the members of the Conagra Board as of May 1, 2020, their full biographiescan'be found
in the company’s proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. However, their
specific gualifications, skiils and experience versus the categories listed above Include (but are not limited

to) the following:

Board
Member

Qualifications, Skills and Experience

Anil Arora

Public Company Experience; Former C-Suite Executive: Strong leadership capabilities and
insights from experience as President and Chief Executive Officer of Yodlee, Inc. from
start-up phase through its IPO and subsequent acquisition” by Envestnet, and
subsequentiy as Vice Chalrman of Envestnet and Chief Executive of Envestnet | Yodlee.

Technology Expertise: Extensive experience In technology, operating at the Intersection
of consumer, Internet and technelogy sectors. '

M&ZA Experience: Led Yodlee through its growth from stari-up through ultimate
acquisition.

Thomas
Brown

Public Company Experience; Former C-Suite Execufive: Understanding of governance
Issues facing public companies from his board service to other public companies; broad
leadership capabilities and insights from his experience in leadershlp roles at Ford Motor
Company and other companies.

Internationai Expertise: Vast experience in global purchasing and supply chain at Ford
Motor Company and other companies.




Board

Qualifications, Skills and Experience

Member

Stephen G. | Pubifc Company Experience; Former C-Suite Executive: Broad understanding of
Butler govemnance issues facing public companies from his board service to other public
companles; strong leadership capablilities and Insights from service as Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer of KPMG.
internotional Expertise: Leadership of a global organization, including service as

Chairman of XPMG International.
Finance / Capital Maonagement Expertise; Risk Management Expertise: Expertise in
accounting and finance, both in the U.S. and intermationally, based on a 34-year career

with KPMG.

Sean M, Public Company Experience; Active C-Suite Executive: Broad understanding of
Connoily governance issues facing public companies from his board service to other public

.companies; closest knowledge of our husiness and operations as a result of his service

as the CEO of Conagra Brands.

Market Facing Experience: Extensive career focused on and committed to building
leading consumer brands in the food industry. |

MB&A Experlence: Transactional experience from his experience with several companies
in the food and consumer goods industry.

Joie A, Gregor

Public Company Experience; Former C-Suite Executive: Broad understanding of
governance issues facing public companies from her board service to other public
companies; extensive senior leadership experience at several organizations.

Maorket Focing Experience: Significant experlence In advising public and private
companies on market development, product strategy, sales and service and global
account management as well as organizational structure.

Technology Expertise: Significant technology experience from 13 years of service at IBM
as well as her private equity portfolio experience.

Rajive Johri

Public Company Experlence; Former C-Suite Executive: Broad understanding of
governance issues facing public companies from his tenure with other public companies;
strong leadership capabilities and insights, including through his service as President of
First National Bank of Omaha.

Finance / Capital Management Expertise; Risk Management Expertise: Significant
expertise In finance, accounting and risk and compliance oversight from his service to
banking organizations, including risk assessment and risk management experience.

Internationgl Expertise; Substantial international business and management experience
from prior service to banking institutions with responsibility over varlous geographic
regions.

Richard H.

Lenny

Public Company Experience; Former C-Sufte Executive: Broad, understanding of
governance Issues facing public companies from his~board service to other public




Board
Member

Qualifications, Skills and Expetience

companies; strong leadership capabilities and insights, particufarty with major consumer
brands based on his lengthy career in the food industry.

Market Facing Experience; internctional Expertise: Deep knowledge of strategy,
marketing and business development in the consumer products food industry
domestically and abroad from his lengthy career and leadership roles in global food
companles.

3

Melissa Lora

Public Company Experlence; Former C-Suite Executive: Strong leadership capabilities and
insights from her experience in various leadership roles at Taco Bell Corp.; broad
understanding of governance issues facing public companies from her broad service to
other public companles, including as lead independent director of KB Home.,

Market Facing Experience; International Expertise: Substantial international husiness
and management experience from service as President of Yaco Bell International.

Finance / Capital Management Expertise; Risk Management Expertise: Deep expertise
In finance, risk and compliance oversight as a result of more than a decade of service as
a result of more than a decade of service as Chief Financlal Officer of an operating
diviston (Taco Bell Corp.) of Yum| Brands, Inc., as well as a decade of service as the Chair
of the Audit Committee of KB Home.

Ruth Apn
Marshall

Public Company Experience; Former C-Suite Executive: Strong leadership capabilities and
insights from her service to MasterCard International, Inc., including marketing, account

‘| management and customer service.

Morket Facing Experience; International Expertise; Technology Expertise: Significant
domestic and international experience in growing the MasterCard Americas business,
including through new product development; career in payments technology industry.

Finance / Capital Monagement Expertise; Risk Management Expertise: Expertise in
finance from her service to MasterCard and on the Audit Committee of Reglons Flnandial

| and transactional experience from her board service to other public companies,

Craig P.
Omtvedt

Public Compony Experience; Former C-Suite Executive: Broad understanding of
governance jssues facing public companies from his board service to other public
companies; strong leadership capablhtles and insights from his service as Chief Financial
Officer of Fortune Brands.

Finance / Capital Management Expertise; Risk Monagement Expertise.: Deep expertise
in accounting and finance, based on decades of experlence in accounting and finance
roles, including Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, and Chief Internal
Auditor, at a public company.

Scott Ostfeld

Public Company Experience: Broad understanding of governance issues facing public
companies from his board service to other public companies.




Member

Qualifications, Skills and Experience

Finance / Capital Management Expertise; Risk Management Expertise: Significant
experience in finance and risk management from his service as a partner of JANA
Partners LLC and co-portfolio manager of JANA Strategic Investments.

M&A Experfence: Significant transactional experiences as an investor, board member
and investment banker.

}




APPENDIX B

Set forth data on specific qualifications, skills and experience that the corporation considers for its

executive officers.

Conagra Brands Is driven by a set of timeless values: integrity, external focus, bread-mindedness, agility,
leadership by all, and a focus on resuits, While different positlons across the company will require
specific skills, educational credentials and professional experiences, the company ultimately seeks to
hire and promote the most talented people for each role available and looks for individuals who embody
and promote the company's values. Overall, Canagra hires motivated, energetic peopte who thrive on
new challenges and opportunities and recognizes that the unique perspectives and experiences of its
workforce is what will drive the company to remain focused on connecting with and meeting the needs
of the consumers and communities the company serves.

With respect to the executive officers of the company as of May 1, 2020, mere specific gualifications,
skills and experlences are highlighted here:

Executlve Officer

Qualifications, Skiils and Experience

Sean M. Connaolly

dr. Connolly has served as cur President and Chief Executive Officer and a member
of the Board since April 6, 2015. Prior to that, he served as President and Chief
Executive Officer and a director of The Hillshire Brands Company (a branded food
products company} from June 2012 to August 2014, Executive Vice President of Sara
Lee Corporation [the predecessor to Hilishire), and Chief Executive Officer, Sara Lee
North American Retall and Foodservice, from January 2012 to lune 2012. Prior to
joining Hillshire, Mr. Connolly served as Prasident of Campbell Marth America, the
targest division of Campbel Soup Company {a branded food products company},
from October 2010 to December 2011, President, Campbell USA from 2008 to 2010,
and President, North American Foodservice for Campbell from 2007 to 2008. Before
joining Campbeil in 2002, he served in varlous marketing and brand management
roles at The Procter & Gamble Company {a consumer-packaged goods company).

David S. Marberger

Mr. Marberger has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since
August 2016. Prior to joining Conagra Brands, he served as Chief Financial Officer of
Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. (a provider of over-the-counter heafthcare products}
from October 2015 until July 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Marberger served as the Senior
Vice President and Chief Financlal Officer of Godiva Chocolatier, Inc. {a global
manufacturer and supplier of premfum chocelates) from 2008 until October 2015,
Prior to that, Mr. Marberger served Tasty Baking Company as Executive Vice President
and Chief Financlal Officer from 2006 to 2008 and as Senlor Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer from 2003 to 2006. From 1993 until 2003, he served in various roles
at Campbell Soup Company, where he last held the position of Vice President, Finance,
Food and Beverage Division. '

Catleen R,
Batcheler

Ms. Batcheler has served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate
Secretary since Septembet 2009 and served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary from February 2008 untll September 2009, Ms. Batcheler




Executive Officer

Qualifications, Skills and Experlence

joined Conagra Brands in June 2006 as Vice President, Chlef Securities Counsel and
Assistant Corporate Secretary. In September 2006, she was named Corporate
Secretary. From 2003 until joining Conagra Brands, Ms. Batcheler served as Vice
President and Corparate Secretary of Albertson's, Inc. (a retail food and drug chain).
Prior to that, she served as Associate Counsel with The Cleveland Clinic Foundation (a
non-profit academic medical center) and an associate with Jones Day {a law firm).

David B. Blegger

Mr. Blegger has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Supply Chain Officer
since October 2015, Prior to Joining Conagra Brands, Mr, Biegger spent nearly 11 years
at the Campbell Soup Company, where he served as Senior Vice President, Global
Supply Chain from February 2014 until October 2015 and was responsible for the
global supply chain of that company, including manufacturing, quality, safety,
engineering, procurement, logistics, environmental sustalnabllity and customer
service. Prior to joining Campbeli Soup Company, he spent 24 years in supply chain
roles at Procter & Gamble Co. {a consumer goods corporation),

Charisse Brock

Ms. Brock has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
since November 2015 and as Senior Vice President and Interim Chief Human
Resources Officer from August 2015 until Navember 2015. Prior to serving in these
roles, Ms. Brock served as Vice President of Human Resources for the Consumer Foods
segment of Conagra Brands from September 2010 until August 2015. Ms, Brock joined
Conagra Brands in 2004 as Director of Human Resources, supporting the Refrigerated
Foods Group. Prior to joining Conagra Brands, she served for 15 years at The Quaker
Qats Company {which was acquired by PepsiCo during her tenure} in its Consumer
Foods Division.

Thomas M.
McGough

Mr. McGough has senved as Executive Vice President and Co-Chlef Operating Officer
since October 2018, Prior to that, he served as the Company's President, Operating
Segments from May 2017 until October 2018 and as the Company's President of
Consumer Foods from May 2013 until May 2017. Mr. McGough also served as
President, Grocery Products from 2011 untll May 2013 and as Vice President in the
Company's Consumer Foods organization from 2007 to 2011. Prior to jolning the
Company, Mr. McGough served in various roles at HJ. Heinz, where he began his
careerin 1990.

Darren C. Serrao

Mr. Serrao has served as Executive Vice President and Co-Chief Operating Officer since
October 2018. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President, Chlef Growth
Officer from August 2015 to October 2018. Prior to Joining the Company, Mr. Serrao
served as Senior Vice President, Chlef Marketing and Commerclal Officer at Campbell
Soup Company from February 2015 until August 2015 and as Senior Vice President of
Innovation and Business Development for Camphbell North America from July 2011
until February 2015. Mr. 5errao has also held several profit and loss and marketing
positions during his career, including roles with PepsiCo and Unilever.

Robert G. Wise

Mr. Wise has served as Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller since December
2012. Mr. Wise jolned Conagra Brands In March 2003 and has held various posltlons




Executive Officer

Qualifications, Skills and Experience

of increasing responsibility with Conagra Brands, including Vice President, Assistant
Corporate Controller from March 2006 until January 2012 and Vice President,
Corporate Controller from January 2012 until December 2012. Prior te joining Conagra

Brands, Mr. Wise served In various roles at KPMG LLP {(an accounting firm) from
October 1995 until March 2003.




APPENDIX C

Set forth a description of the corporation’s pracess for identifying and evaluating nominees for the
board of directors, including whether and, if so, how demographic diversity is considered.

The Board of Directors of Conagra 8rands, Inc. {“Conagra”) maintalns a Nominating, Governance and
Public Affairs Committee (the "Committee”} that has the responsibiiity, among other matters, to
recommend candidates for the Board of Directors (the “Board”). The Committee considers candidates
suggested by Board members, management and shareholders, The Committee may also retain a third-
party search firm to identify candidates, Shareholders wishing to submit candidates for electlon as
directors must notify our Corporate Secretary in writing by following the outlined procedures for
submisslon of director nominations in our annual proxy statement.

The Committee makes an initfal determination as to whether to conduct a full evaluation of a director
candidate once he or she has been identified. This initial determination is based on whether additional
Board members are necessary or desirable. It Is also based on whether, based on the Infermation pravided
or otherwlise available to the Committee, the prospective nominee Is likely ta satisfy the evaluation factors
described below. If the Committee determines that additional consideration is warranted, it may request
a third-party to gather additional infermation about the prospective director candidate. The Committee
may also elect to Interview a candidate.

Aithough the Committee does not have specific minimum qualifications that must be met for a
prospective director candidate to be nominated, the Committee evaluates each prospective director
candidate against the standards and qualifications set forth in our Corporate Governance Principles,
including, but not limited to: A

» Board skill needs, taking Into account the qualifications and skills outlined in Appendix A and the
experience of current Board members;

e the candidate’s background, including demonstrated high standards of ethics and integrity, as well as
the candidate’s ability to work toward business goals with other Board members;

+ diversity, Including the extent to which the candidate reflects the composition of our constituencies;
e whether the candidate has sufficient time to effectively carry out the duties of a director;

» the candidate’s qualifications as independent and ability to serve on various committees of the Board;
and

s business experience, which should reflect a broad level of experience at the policy-making level.

Although the Board does not have a specific diversity policy, in evaluating potential director nominees,
the Committee assesses whether the Board, collectively, represents diverse views, backgrounds and
experiences that will enhance the Board’s and our effectiveness. The Committee seeks directors who have
gualities to achleve the goal of a well-rounded, diverse Board as a whole, including through the
consideration of diversity in professional experience, skills, board tenure, race, ethnicity, gender and age.

After completing Its evaluation process, the Committee makes a recommendation to the Board as to who
should be nominated, and the Board determines the director nominees after consldering the Committee’s



recommendations. The evaluation process for nominees recommended by shareheldérs does not differ
from the process set forth above,

D el e,



APPENDIXD

Set forth a description of the corporation’s process for identifying and appointing executive officers,
including whether and, if so, how demographic diversity is considered.

Conagra has a multi-step process for identifying and appointing executive officers. We have leadership
and performance competencies that align our executive team with the Company’s timeless values of
integrity, being externally focused, broad-mindedness, agility and delivering results with a refuse to lose
mentality. Additionally, we seek leaders that are allgned with the Company’s strategies of disciplined
execution and efficiently managing a lean organization and each of our executive officers has
demonstrated these characteristics over the course of their career.

In order to achleve our goals, we continue to leverage extraordinary talent within a diverse and inclusive
workplace, consisting of high-performing teams of employees fram all backgrounds. We have processes
to ldentify, promote and invest in talented individuals of all backgrounds throughout the organization and
this is factored into the declsion-making process for the selection of the Company’s leaders.



APPENDIX E

Set forth a description of the corporation’s policles and practices for promoting diverslty, equity and
Inclusion among the board of directors and executive officers.

Conagra conducts business in a global environment reflecting the diversity of its employees and the
cornmunities in which they live and work. The company understands and appreclates the value that
diversity contributes to Conagra. Integrity, expressed through mutual respect among employees, Is a core
value of Conagra, and every employee and associate has a responsibllity to act accordingly. The company’s
Code of Conduct is consistently reviewed and enforced to ensure that employees, no matter their
background or demographic, have the ability to thrive in a work environment that is conducive to thelr
success. Additionally, the company maintains a dedicated team who champlons a laser focus on the
company's commitment to diversity and inclusion.

With respect to the company’s Board of Directors {the “Board”), § of the 11 members of the Board are
female or ethnically diverse. Although the Board does not have a specific diversity policy, the Nominating,
Governance and Public Affalrs Committee (the “Committee”) assesses whether the Board, coliectively,
represents diverse views, backgrounds and experiences that will enhance the Board’s and the company’s
effectiveness. The Committee seeks directors who have qualities to achleve the goal of a well-rounded,
diverse Board as a whole, including through the consideratlon of diversity in professional experience,
skilis, board tenure, race, ethnicity, gender and age.
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PART I

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21 E ol the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those projected in
the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of risks, uncerainties, and other factors. For a discussion of important factors that could cause our
results, performance, or achievements to difter mateniatly from any future resubts, performance, or achicvements expressed or implied by our forward-looking
statements, please refer to ltem | A, Risk Factors and temn 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General Development of Business

Conagra Brands, Inc. {the "Company”, "Conagra Brands™, "we", "us”, or "our"), headquartered in Chicago, is one of North America’s leading branded food
companies. Guided by an entrepreneunal spinit, the Company combines a rich heritage of making greal food with a sharpened focus on innovation that
enables the Company ta evolve ils porfolio 1o salisfy people's changing food preferences. Its iconic brands such as Birds Eye® Marle Callender's®,
Banques®, Healthy Choice®, Slim Jim®, Reddi-wip®, and Vlasic®, a5 well as emerging brands, including dngie’s® BOOMCHICKAPOPE, Duke's®, Earth
Balance®, Gardein®, and Fronrerg®, offer choices for every oceasion.

We began as a Midwestem flour-milling company and entered other commadity-based businesses throughout our history. We were initially incomorated
as a Nebraska comporation in 1919 and reincorporated as a Delaware corporation in January 1976. Over time, we transformed into the branded, pure-play
consumer packaged poods food company we are today. We achieved this through various acquisitions, including consumer food brands such as Banguer?,
Chef Bovardee®, Maric Callenders®, Alexta®, Blake's®, Frontera®, Duke's¥, BIGS®, Birds Eye®, Vlusic®, and divestitures. We have divested our Lamb
Westlon business, Private Brands business, Spicelec Flavors & Seasonings business, JM Swank business, Wesson® oil business, [alian-based fozen pasla
business, milling business, dehydrated and fresh vegelable operations, and a tading and merchandising business, among others, Growing our food businesses
has alsg been ficled by innovation, organic growth of our brands, and cxpansion into adjacent catcgories. We are focused on delivering sustainable,
profitable growth with strong and improving retums on ourinvested capital.

On QOctober 26, 2018, we completed our acquisition of Pinnacle Foods Inc. ("Finnacle™). As a result of the acquisition, Pinnacle became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

On November 9, 2016, we completed the spinoffof Lamb Weston 1Toldings, Inc. ("Lamb Weston™) through a distribution of 100% of ourinteresl in Lamb
Weston to holders, as of November 1, 2016, of outstanding shares of our common stack (the "Spinoff™). The transaction effecting this change was structured
a5 a tax-free spinofl.

In January 2013, we acquired Ralcorp Holdings, Inc. ("Ralcorp™), a manufacturer of privote branded food. Since the acquisition of Ralcarp, we focused on
addressing exccutional shonfulls and customer service issues intended 10 improve operating performance for our Private Brands business. However, afler
further eview of the Private Brands business, we changed our strategic dircction and divested the Private Brands business in the third quarter of fiscal 2016.

Narrative Description of Business
We compete throughout the food industry and focus on adding value for our customers who operate in the retail food and foodservice channels.

Curopemtions, including our reporting scgments, are described below. Our locations, including manufacturing facilities, within each reporting segment,
are described in ltem 2, Properties.




Reporting Segments
Qur reporting segments are as follows:
Grocery & Snacks
The Grocery & Snacks reporting segment principally includes branded, shelf stable food products sold in various rctail channels in the United States.
Refrigeraied & Frozen

The Refrigerled & Frozen reporting segment principally includes branded, temperaturecontrolled food products sold in various retail channels in the
United Stotes.

International

The Intemational rparting segment principally in¢ludes branded food products, in various tempemture states, sold in various retail and foodservice
channels outside of the United States.

Feaodservice

The Foodscrvice reporting segment includes branded and customized food products, including meals, entrecs, szuces, and a2 varety of custom-
manufactured culinary products packaged forsale to restaurants and other foodservice establishments primarily in the United States.

Pinnacle Foods

The Pinnacle Foods reporting scgment includes branded and private-label food products, in varous temperature states, sold in various retail and
foodservice channels in the United States and Canada. Results of the Pinnacle Foods segment reflect activity beginning on Oclober 26, 2018, the closing
date of the acquisition.

Commercial Foods

We previously had a Commercial reporting segment that inctuded commercially brunded and private label food and ingredients, which were sold
primarily o commercial, restaurant, foodservice, food manufacturing, and industral customers. The segment's primary food items included a variety of
vegetable, spice, and frozen bakery goods, which were sold under brands such as Spicerec Flavors & Seasonings®. In the first quarier of fiscal 2017, we sold
our Spicetecc and JM Swank businesses. These businesses comprised the entire Commerciol segment following the prescntation of Lamb Weston as
discontinued operations.

Unconsolidated Equity Investments

We have lwo unconsolidated equity investmenis. Our most signilicant equity method invesiment is a milling business.
Acquisitions

On October 26, 2018, we completed the acquisition of Pinnacle. As a result of the acquisttion, Pinnacle became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 26, 2018 (the "Merger Agreement”), among Conagra Brands, Pinnacle, and Patriot
Merger Sub Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Conagra Brands that ceased lo exist at the effective time of the merger, each share of Pinnacle common stock
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the merger was converled into the right to reecive (i) $43.11 per share in cash and (ii)
0.6494 shares of common stock, par value $5.00 per share, of the Company {"Company Shares™) (together, the "Merger Consideration"), with cash payable in
licu of (ractional shares of Company Shares. The total amount of consideration paid in connection with the acquisition was npproximately $8.03 billion and
consisted oft (1) cash of $5.17 billion (55.12 billion, net of cash acquired); (2) 77.5 million Company Shares, with an approximate value of $2.82 billion,
issucd out of the Company's treasury to former holders of Pinnacle stock; and (3) replacement awards issucd to former Pinnacle cmployces representing the
fair value attributable to pre<ombination service of §51.1 million. Approximately $7.02 billion of the purchase price has been allocated to poodwiil,
pending determination of the final purchase price allocation. Approximately $3.52 biltion has been allocated to brands, trademarks and other intangibles, Of
the total goodwill, $236.7 million is deductible for tax purposes. Amomizable brands, tmdemarks and other intangibles totaled $668.7 miliion, Indefinite
lived brands, irademarks and other intangibles totaled $2.85 billion. This business is reflected in the Pinnacle Foods segment,
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In February 2018, we acquired the Sandwich Bras. of Wisconsin® business, maker of frozen breakfast and entree flatbread pocket sandwiches. This
business is included in the Reffgerated & Frozen segment.

In Octoher 2017, we acquired Angie's Artisan Treats, LLC, maker of Angre's® BOOMCHICKAPOP® ready-to-cat popcom. This business is primarly
included in the Grocery & Snacks segment.

In April 2017, we acquired protein-based snacking businesses Thanasi Foods LLC, maker of Duke 's® meat snacks, and BIGS LLC, maker of BIGS® seeds.
These businesses are primarily included in the Grocery & Snacks segment.

In September 2016, we acquired the operating assets of Frontera Foeds, Inc. and Red Fork LLC, including the Fronatera®, Red Fork®, and Salpica¥
brands (the "Frontera acquisition). These businesses make authentic, gourmet Mexican food products and contemporury American cooking sauces. These
businesses are included primarily in the Grocery & Snacks and Refigerated & Frozen segments, and to a lesser extenl within the [nternational segment.

Divestitures

On May 24, 2019, we compleied the sale of our ltalian-bascd frozen pasia business, Gelit, for procceds nct of cash divested of $77.5 million, subject 1o
final working capital adjustments. The business results were previously reported in our Refriperated & Frozen segment. The asscts and liabilities of this
business have been reclassified as assets and liabilities held for sale within our Consolidated Balance Sheets for all periods presented prior to the divestiture,

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we completed (he sale of our Hesson® oil business lor net proceeds of $171.8 million, subject to final working
capital adjustments, The business results were previously reporied primarily in our Grocery & Snacks segment, end to a lesser extent within the Foodservice
and Intemational segments. The assets of this business have been reclassilied as assets held for sale within our Consolidated Balance Sheets [or all periods
presented prior o the divestiwure,

During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, we completed the sale of aur Def Mante® processed fruit and vegetable business in Canada for combined proceeds
0f$32.2 million. The results of operations of the divested Del Monte® business are included in our Intemational segment for the periods preceding the
completion of the transaction. The assets of this business have been reclassified as assets held for sale within our Consolidated Balance Shecets for all periods
presented prior to the divestiture,

On November 9, 2016, we completed the SpinodT of our Lamb Weslon business. As of such date, we did not beneficially own any equity interest in Lamb
Weslon and na longer consolidated Lamb Weston into our financial results. We reflecied the results of this business as discontinued operations for all periods
presented.

In the first quarner of fiscal 2017, we completed the sales of our Spicetec Flavors & Seasonings business ("Spicetec”) and our JM Swank business for
combined proceeds of $489.0 million, The resuits of operations of Spicetec and JM Swank are included in the Commercial segment.

General
The following comments pertain to afl of our reporting segments.

Conagra Brands is a branded consumer packaged goods food company that operates in many sectors of the food industry, with a significant focus on the
sale of branded, private branded, and value-added consumer food, as well as foodservice items and ingredients. We use many different mw materials, the bulk
of which are commodities. The prices paid for raw materials used in making our food generally reflect factors such as weather, commodity market
[Tuctuations, currency fluctuations, tanlls, and the effects of govenmental agricultural programs. Although the prices of raw materials can be expecied Lo
fluctuate as a resull of these factors, we believe such raw materials to be in adequate supply and gencrally available from numerous sources. From time to
time, we have faced increased costs for many of our significant raw materials, packaging, and cnergy inputs. We seck to mitigate higher input costs through
productivity and pricing initiatives, and the use vf derivative instrumenis to economically hedge a portion of forecasted future consumption.

We experience intense competition for sales of our food items in our major markets. Our food items compete with widely advertised, well-known,
branded food, as well as private branded and eustomized food items. Some of our competitors are larger and have grealer resources than we have. We compete
primarily on the basis ol quality, value, customer service, brand recognition, and brand loyalty.

Demand for certain ot our food items may be influenced by holidays, changes in seasons, or other annual events.
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We manufacture, primarily for stock and fill, our customer orders from finished goods inventories. While at any given time there may be some backlog of
arders, such backlog is not matenal in respect to annual net sales, and the changes of backlog orders from time (o timee are not significant,

Qur trademarks are of material importance to our business and arc protected by registration or other means in the United States and most other markets
where Lhe related food items are sold. Somc of our food items are sold under brands that have been licensed from others. We niso actively develop and
maintain a portfolio of patents, altheugh no single patent is considered material to the business as a whole, We have proprietary trade secrets, technology.
know-how, processes, and other intellectual property rights that arc not registered.

Many of our facililies and products we make are subject 10 various laws and regulations administered by the Uniled States Department of Agriculture, the
Federal Food and Prug Administration, (he Occupationai Safety and Health Administration, and other federal, state, local, and foreign governmental agencies
relating to the food safety and quality, sanritation, safety and health matters, and environmental control. We believe thal we comply with such laws and
repulations in all material respeets and that continued compliance with such regulations will not have a matenial effect upon capital cxpenditurcs, camings.
or our competitive position.

Our largest customer, Walman., Inc. and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 24% of consolidated net sales for each of fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017,

As of May 26,2019, Conagra Brands and its subsidiaries had approximately 18,000 employees, primarily in the United States. Approximately 51% of
our employces are partics to collective bargaining agreements. Of the employees subject (o collective bargaining agreements, approximately 23% are parlies
1o collective bargaining agrecments scheduled to expire during fiscal 2020, We believe our relationships with employees and their representative
organizations arc good.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AS OF JULY 19,2019

Year First
Appointed an

Execulive
Name Title & Capacity Age Officer
Sean M. Connolly President and Chief Executive Officer 53 2015
David 5. Marberger Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 54 2016
Colleen R. Batcheler Execulive Vice President, Generul Counsel and Corporate Secretary 45 2008
David B. Bicgger Executive Vice President, Chiel"Supply Chain Officer 60 2015
Charisse Brock Executive Viee President, Chiet Human Resources Officer 57 2015
Thomas M. McGough Executive Vice President and Co-Chief Operating Officer 54 2013
Daren C. Sermao Executive Vice Presidcnt and Co-Chief Operating Officer 33 2015
Robernt G. Wise Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller sl 2012

Sean M. Connolly has served as our President and Chiefl Executive Officer and a member of the Board since Apnl 6, 2015. Prior 10 thal, he served as
Prestdent and Chief Execulive Officer and a director of The Hillshire Brands Company (s brandcd food products company) from June 2012 to August 2014,
Exccutive Vice President of Sara Lee Corporation {the predecessor to Hillshire), and Chief Executive Officer, Sara Lee North American Retail and
Foodservice, from January 2012 10 June 2012, Prior 1o joining Hillshire. Mr. Connolly served as President of Campbell North America, the largest division of
Campbell Soup Company (a branded food products company), from Qctober 2010 1o December 201 |, President, Campbell USA from 2008 (o 2010, and
President, North American Foodservice for Campbell from 2007 to 2008. Before joining Campbell in 2002, he served in various marketing and brand
management roles at The Procter & Gamble Company {a consumer packaged goods company).

David S. Marberger has served as Executive Vice President and Chiel Financial Officer since August 2016, Prior to joining Conagra Brands, he served as
ChicfFinancial Officer of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. {a provider of overdhe-counter heaitheare products) from October 2015 until July 2016. Prior (o that,
Mr. Marberger served as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Godiva Chocolatier, Ine. (2 global manufacturer and suppiier of premium
chocolates) from 2008 until October 2015. Prior to that, Mr Marberger served Tasty Baking Company as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
OMicer from 2006 to 2008 ond as Senior Vice President and Chicl Financial Officer from 2003 1o 2006. From 1993 until 2003,
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he served in various roles at Campbell Soup Company, where lie last held the position of Vice President, Finance, Food and Beverage Division.

Collecn R. Batcheler has served as Exccutive Vice President, General Counsel and Comporate Sccretary since September 2009 and served as Senior Vice
President. General Counsel and Corporate Secretary from February 2008 uniil September 2009. Ms. Batcheler joined Conagra Brands in June 2006 as Vice
President, Chief Securitics Counscel and Assistant Corporate Secretary. [n September 2006, she was named Corporate Secretary. From 2003 untl joining
Conagra Brands, Ms. Batcheler served as Vice President and Corporate Sceretary of Albertson's, Ine. (a retail food and drug chain). Prior to that, she served as
Associate Counsel with The Cleveland Clinic Foundation (a non-profit academic medical center) and an assoctate with Jones Day (a law (irm).

David B. Bicgger has served as Executive Vice President and Chiet Supply Chain Otficer sinee October 2015, Prior 1o joining Conagra Brands, Mr
Biegger spent ncarly 11 years at the Campbell Soup Company, where he served as Senior Vice President, Global Supply Chain from February 2014 until
October 2015 and was responsible for the global supply chain of that company, including manufacturing, quality, safety, engineering. procurement, logistics,
cnvironmental sustainability and customer service. Prior to joining Campbell Soup Company. he spent 24 years in supply chain roles at Procter & Gamble
Co. (a consumer poods corporation).

Charisse Brock has served as Executive Vice President and Chiel Human Resources Officer since November 2015 and as Sentor Vice President and
[nterim Chief Human Resources Officer from August 2015 until November 2015. Prior 1o serving in these roles, Ms. Brock served as Vice President of Human
Resources for the Consumer Foods scgment of Conagra Brands from September 2010 until August 2015, Ms. Brock joined Conagra Brands in 2004 as
Director of Human Resources, supporting the Refrigerated Foods Group. Prior o joining Conagra Brands, she served for |5 years at The Quaker Oats
Company (which was acquired by PepsiCo during her tenure) in its Consumer Foods Division.

Thomas M. McGough has served as Executive Vice President and Co-Chief Opemting Officer since October 2018. Prior to that, he scrved as the
Company's President, Operating Segments from May 20E7 until Octeber 2018 and as the Company's President of Consumer Foods from May 2013 until May
2017. Mr. McGough also served as President, Grocery Products from 2011 untii May 2013 and as Vice President in the Company's Consumer Foods
organization from 2007 1o 201 1. Priorto joining the Company, Mr. McGough served in various roles at HLJ, Heinz, where he began his carcerin [990.

Darren C. Serrao has served as Executive Vice President and Co-Chietf Operating Officer since October 2018. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice
President, Chiet” Growth Oflicer from August 2015 to October 2618, Prior to jeining the Company, Mr. Semao served as Senior Vice President, Chief
Marketing and Commercial Officer at Campbell Soup Company lrom February 2015 until Augusl 2015 and as Senior Vice President of Innovation and
Business Development for Campbell North Amerca from July 20t 1 until February 2015. Mr. Sermao has also held several profil and loss and marketing
positions during his career, including roles with PepsiCo and Unilever.

Robert G. Wise has served as Senior Vice President, Corporate Controlier since December 2012, Mr. Wise joined Conagra Brands in March 2003 and has
held varous positions of increasing responsibility with Conagra Brands, including Vice President, Assistant Corporate Controller from March 2006 unul
January 2012 and Vice President, Corporate Contreller from January 2012 until December 201 2. Prior to joining Conagm Brands, Mr. Wise served in various
roles at KPMG LLP (an accounting firm) from October 1995 until March 2003,

Forelgn Operations

Foreign operations information is sct forth in Note 21 “Business Segments and Related luformation® to the consolidated financial statements contained
1n this repon.




Available Informadon

We make available, free of charge through the "Investors—Financial Repons & Filings" link on our Intemet website at hitp://www.conagrabmnds.com,
our annual report en Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, cumrent reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those repots filed or fumished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 1 5{d} of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
fumished to the Securitics and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). We use our Intemnet website, through the "Investors® link, as a channel for routine distibution
of imponant information, including news reicases, analysi presentations, and financial information. The information on our website is not, and will not be
deemed to be, a part of this annual report on Ferm 10-K or incorporated into any of our other filings with the SEC.

We have also posted on our website our (1) Corporate Gevemance Principles, (2) Code of Conduct, {3} Code of Ethics for Senior Corporate Officers, and
(4) Charters for the AudivFinance Committee. Nominating, Govemance and Public Affairs Committec, and Human Resources Commitice. Sharcholders may
also obtain copics of these items at no charge by writing to: Coiporate Secretary, Conagra Brands, Inc., 222 Merchandise Mant Plaza, Suite 1300, Chicago, IL,
60654,

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subjecl to various risks and uncertainties. Any of the risks and uncenaintics described below could matcrially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations and should be considered in evaluating us. While we belicve we have identified and discussed below
the key risk factors affecting our business, there may be additional risks and uncentainties that are not presently known or that arc not currently belicved to be
significant that may adversely affect our business, performance, or financial condition in the furure,

Rilsks Relating to our Business

Deterioration of general economic conditions could harnt our business and results of operations.

Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in national or global economic conditions, including inflation, interest
rutes, availability of capilal markets, consumer spending rates, energy availability and costs (including fuel surcharges), and the effects of govemmental
initiatives lo manage economic conditions.

\blatility in financial markets and deterioration of national and global ecanomic conditions could impact our business and operations in a variely of
ways, including as follows:

+  consumers may shift purchases (o more generic, lowerpriced, or other value offerings, or may forego centain purchases altogether during economic
downtums, which could result in a reduction io sales of higher margin products or a shift in our product mix to lower margin olferings adverscly
affccting the results of our operations;

= decrcased demand in the restaurant business, particularly casual and fine dining, may adversely afiect our Foodservice operations;

«  volatility in commedity and other input costs could substantially impact our tesult of operations;

= volatility in the equity markets or intercst rates could substantialty impact our pension costs and required pension contributions; and

* it may become more costly or difficult to oblain debt or equity financing to fund operations or invesument opportunities, orto refinance our debt in
the luturc, in ¢ach case on terms and within a time period acceptable to us.

Our existing and fiture debr may limit cash flow available to invest in the ongoing needs of our business and could prevent us from fulfilling our debt
obligations,

As of May 26, 2019, we had total debt of approximately 510.68 billion, including approximatcly $9.96 billien gggregate principal amount of senior
notes. Tolal debt increased $6.86 billion since May 27, 2018, and reflects, in part, indebtedness incuned to complete the Pinnacle acquisition. We have the
ability under our existing revolving credit facility to incur substantial additional debt. OQur ability (10 make payments on our debt, fund our other liquidity
needs, and make planned capital expenditres will depend on cur ability to generate cash in the fuwre. Qur historical financial results have been, and we
anticipate that our luture financial results will be, subject to Auctuations. Qur ability to generate cash, to a certain extent, is subject to general
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economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot guarantee thal our business will generate
sufTicient cash flow from our operations or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to make payments of our debt,
fund ather liquidity needs, and make planned capital expenditurcs.

Our level of debt could have important consequences for shareholders. For example, it could:

. make it mare difticult for us to satisfy our debt service obligations;

. restrict us rom making strategic acquisitions or taking advantage of favorable business opportunities;
. restrict us from repurchasing shares of cur common stock;

= limit flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in the businesses and industries in which we operate, which may adversely affect our operating
results and ability to mect our debt service obligations;

. limit ourability to reftnance ourindebtedness or increase the cost of such indebtedness;

+  require us to dedicate a substantial ponion of our cash flow from operations to the payment ol debt service, reducing the availability of our cash flow
to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, dividends, and other general carporate purposes;

. increase our vulnerability 1o adverse economic or industry conditions, including changes in inlerest mies;

»  limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future to fund our working capital requireients, capital expenditures, acquisitions, investment,
debt service obligations, and other general opemting requirements or to enable us to react to changes in our business: or

. place us at & competitive disadvantage compared to businesses in our industry that have less debt,

Additionally, any failure 10 meet required payments on our debt, or failure 1o comply with any covenants in the instruments goveming our debt, could
result in an event of default under the terms of those instruments and a downgrade 10 our credit ratings. A downgrade in our eredii ratings would increase our
bomrowing eosts and could afect our ability Lo issuc commercial paper. In the event ofa default, the holders of our debi could elect to declare all the amounts
outslanding under such instruments to be due and payablec. Any default under the agreements goveming our debt and the remedies sought by the hotders of
such debt could render us unable to pay principal and interest on our debt.

A significant portion of our operations are conducted through our subsidiaries. As a result, our ability to generate sufficient cash flow for our nceds is
dependent to some cxtent on the camings of our subsidiaries and the payment of those eamings te us in the form of dividends, loans, or advances and
through repayment of loans or advances from us. Qur subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal cntities. Our subsidiaries have no obligation 1o pay any
amounts due on our debt to providc us with [znds 10 meet our cash [low needs, whether in the form of dividends, distributions, loans, or ether payments. In
addition, any payment of dividends, loans, or advances by our subsidianies could be subject to statutory or contractual restrictions. Payments to us by our
subsidiaries will also be contingent upon our subsidiaries’ carnings and business considerations. Our right to receive any assels of any of our subsidiaries
upon their liquidation or reorganization will be effectively subordinaled 10 the cluims of that subsidiary's creditars, including trade creditors, Tn addition,
even if we are a credilor of any of our subsidianes, our rights as a creditor would be subordinate to any security interest in the assets of our subsidiaries and
any indebtedness of our subsidiaries scnior to that held by us. Finally, changes in the laws of foreign jurisdictions in which we operate may adverscly affect
the ability of some of our foreign subsidiaries 1o repatriate funds to us.

Increased competition may result in reduced sales or profits.

The food industry is highly competitive, and further consolidation in the industry would likely increase competition. Our principal competitors have
substantial financial, marketing, and other resources. Increased competition can reduce our sales duc 10 foss of market share or the need to reduce prices o
respond Lo competitive and customer pressures. Competitive pressures also may restrict our ability 1o increase prices, including in response 1o commodity and
other cost increases. We sell branded, private brand, and customized food products, as well as commercially branded foods. Our branded products have an
advantage over privaie brand producis primarily due to advenising and name recogniuion, although private brand products typically sell au a discount 1o
those of branded competitors. In addition, when branded competitors focus on price and promotion, the environmeni for private brand producers becomes
more challenging because the price difference between private brand products and brended products may become less significant. In most product categorics,
we compcete not only with other widely advertised branded products, but also with other private label and store brand products that are generally sold at lower
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prices. A strong competilive response from one or more of our competitors to our marketplace effonts, or a consumer shift towards more genene, lower-priced,
orother value offerings, could result in us redueing pricing, increasing marketing or other expenditures, or losing market share. Our margins and profits could
decrease ifa reduction in prices or increased costs are not counterbalanced with increased sales volume.

In addition, substantial growth in ¢-comnerce has encouraged the entry of new compeltitors and business models, intensitying competition by
simplifying distribution and lowering barmriers ta entry. The cxpanding presence of c-commerce retailers has impacied, and may continue to impact, consumer
preferences and market dynamics, which in turn may negatively affect our sales or profits.

Increases in commodity cosis may have a negative impact on profits.

We use many different commoditics such as wheat, com, oats, soybceans, beef, pork, poultry, sieel, aluminum, and encrgy. Comumodities are subject Lo
price volatility caused by commodity market Mluctuations, supply and demand, currency fluctuations, external conditions such as weather, and changes in
govemmental agricultural and energy pelicies and regulations. In addition, recent world events have increased the risks poscd by intematiconal trade
disputes, tanffs, and sanctions. We procure a wide spectrum of commodities globally and could potentially face increased prices for commeodities sourced
from nations that could be impacted by trade disputes, lanifls, or sanctions, Commodity price increases will result in increases in raw matenial, packaging, and
cnergy costs and operating costs. We may not be able to increase our product prices and achicve cosl savings that fully oflset these increased costs; and
in¢reasing prices may result in reduced sales volume, reduced margins, and profitability, We have experience in hedging against commodity price increases;
however, these practices and experience reduce, but do not eliminate, the nsk of negative profit impacts from commodity price increases. We do not fully
hedge against clianges in comunodity prices. and the risk management procedures that we use may not always work ay we intend.

Volatility in the market value of derivatives we use to manage exposures to fluctuations in commodity prices will cause volatliity in our gross margins and
net earnings,

We utilize derivatives to manage price sk for saome of our principal ingredients and energy costs, including grmins (wheat, com, and oals), oils, beef,
pork, poultry, and energy. Changes in the values of these derivatives are gencrally recorded in camings currently, resulting in volatilily in both gross margin
and net eantings. These gains and losses are reported in cost of goods sold in our Consolidated Swstements of Operations and in unalloceted general corporate
CXPENscs in our segment operating results until we utilize the underlying input in our manufacturing process, at which time the gains and losses arc
reclassified 10 segment operating profit. We may expenence volatile camings as a result of these accounting treatments.

Ifwe do not achieve the appropriate cost structure in the highly competitive food industry, our profitability could decrease.

Our future success and eamings growth depend in part on our abilily o achieve Lhe approprate cost structure and operate efficiently in the highly
competitive food industry, panticulatly in an cnvironment of volatile input cosls. We continuc to implement profit-enhancing initiatives thal impact our
supply chain and general and adminisimative functions. These initiatives are focused on cost-saving opportunities in procurement, manu facluning, logistics,
and customer service, as well as general and administrative overhead levels. Gaining additional efficiencies may become more difiicull over time. Our failure
1o reduce costs through productivity gains or by eliminating redundant costs resulting from acquisitions could adversely affect our profitability and weaken
our competitive position. If we do not continue to cffectively manage costs and achicve additional cfliciencies, our competitiveness and our profitability
could decrease.

We may not realize the benefits that we expect from our restructuring plans, including the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan.

In fiscal 2019, we announced a restructunng and integration plan related to the ongoing integration of the recently acquired operations of Pinnacle (the
"Pinnacle Iniepration Restructuring Plan®) for the purposc of achieving significant cost synergies between the companies. We expect to incur materal
charges for exit and disposal activities under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
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The successful design and implementation of the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan presents significant organizational design and infrastructure
chatlenges. [n many cases, it will require successful negotiations with third parties, including labor organizations, supplicrs, business panners, and other
stakeholders. In addition, the Pinnacle [ntegration Restructuring Plan may not advance our business stralegy as expecled. Evenis and circumstances, such as
financial or strategic difficultics, delays, and unexpecled costs may occur that could resull in aur not realizing all or any of the anticipated benefits or our not
realizing the anticipated benefits on our expected timetable. If we are unable (o realize the anticipated savings and cost synergies of the Pinnacle Integration
Restructuring Plan, our ability to fund other initiatives may be adversely affected. Any failure to implement the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan in
accordance with our cxpectations could adversely affect our [inancial condition, resulis of operations, and cash flows,

ln addition, the complexity of the Pinnacle Inlegration Restructuring Plan will require a substantial amount of management and operational resources.
Our management team must successfully implement administrative and opeiational changes necessary to achicve the anticipated benefits of the Pinnacle
Integration Restructuning Plan. These and related demands on our resources may divert the organization's attention from existing core businesses, integrating
financial ar other sysiems, have adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers, and impact employce morale. As a result, our
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be adversely affected.

We may be subject to product liability claims and product recalls, which could negatively impact our profitability.

We sell food products for human consumption, which involves risks such as product contamination or spoilage, product tampering, other adulieration of
food products, mislabeling, and misbranding. We may be subject to lizbility if the consumption of any of our products causes injury, illness, or death. In
addition, we will voluntanly recall products in the event of contamination or damage. We have issued recalls and have from time to time been and currently
are involved in lawsuils relating to our food products. A significant product lizbility judgment or a widespread product recall may negatively impact our
sales and prolitability for a period of time depending on the costs of the recall, the destruction of product invenlory, product availability, competitive
reaclion, customer reaction, and consumer attitudes. Even if a product liability claim is unsuccessful or is not fully pursued, the negative publicity
surrounding any assertion that our products caused illness or injury could adversely aifect our reputation with existing and potential cusiomers and our
corporate and brand image.

Additionally, as 2 manufaciurer ond marketer of food products, we are subject to extensive regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and
other federal, state, and local government agencies. The Food. Drug & Cosmetic Act, (the "FDCA"), and the Food Safety Modemization Act and their
respective regulations povem, among other things, the manufacturing, composition and ingredicnts, packaging, and safety of food products. Some aspects of
these laws use a strict liability standard for imposing sanctiors on corporate behavior: meaning that no intent is required to be established. If we fail 1o
comply with applicable laws and regulalions, we may be subject to civil remedics, including fines, injunciions, recalis, ar scizures, as well as criminal
sanctions, any of which could have a material adverse cflect on our business, {inancial condition, or results of operations.

We must identify changing consumer preferences and develop and offer food products to meet their preferences.

Consumer preferences evolve over time and the success of our food products depends on our ability to identify the tastes and dietary habits of consumers
and lo offer products that appeal to their preferences, including concems of consumners regarding health and wellness, obesity, preduct autributes, and
ingredients, Introduction of new products and product extensions requires significant development and marketing investinent. If our products fail to meet
consumer preferences, or we [ail 1o introduce new and improved products on a timely basis, then the retum on that investiment will be less than anticipated
and our strategy to grow sales and profits with investinents in acquisitions, marketing, and innovation will be less successful. Similady, demand for our
products could be affected by consumer concemns or pereeptions regarding the health effzets of ingredients such as sodium, trans fats, sugar, processed wheal,
or other product ingredicnts or attnbutes.

Changes in our relationships with significant custormers or suppliers could adversely affect us.

During fiscal 2019, our largest cusiomer, Walmart, Inc. and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 24% of our consoclidated net sales. There ean be no
assurance that Walmart, Inc. and other significant customaers will continuc to purchase our products in the same quantitics or on the same terms as in the past,
particularly as increasingly powerful reailers continuc to demand lower pricing. The loss of a significant customer or a material reduction in sales to a
significant customer could materially and adversely aMect our product sales, financial condition, and results of operations,
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The sophistication and buying power of our customers could have a negative impact an profits.

Our customers, such as supcrmarkets, warchouse clubs, and food distributors, have continued 10 consolidate, resulting in fewer customers on which we
can rely for business. These consolidations, the growth of supercenters, and the growth of e-commerce customers have produced large, sophisticated
customers with increased buying power and negotiating strength who are more capable of resisting price increases and can demand lower pricing, increased
promolional programs, or specialty tailored products. In addition, larger refailers have the scale Lo develop supply chains that permit them to operate with
reduced inventories orto develop and market their own retailer brands. These customers may also in the future use more of their shelf space, currently used for
our products, for their store brand products. We continuc 1o implement initiatives to countemct these pressures. However, if the larger size of these customers
results in additional negotinting strength and/or increased private label or store brand competition, our profitability could decline,

Consolidation also increases the risk that adverse changes in our customers' business operations or financial performance will have a cotresponding
material adverse effect on us. For cxample, if our custiomers cannot access sufficient funds or financing, then they may delay, decrease, or cancel purchases of
our products, or delay or fil to pay us for previous purchases,

Ifwe are unable ro complete proposed acquisitions or integrate acquired businesses, our financial results could be marerially and adversely affected.

From time to time, we evaluate acquisition candidates that may strategically fil our business objectives. [l we are unable 1o complete acquisitions or Lo
successfully integrate and develop acquired businesses, our financial results could be materially and adversely aifected. Moreover, we may incur assel
impairment charges related to acquisitions that reduce our profitability.

Our acquisition activities may present financial, managerial, and operational risks. Those risks include diversion of management attention from existing
businesses, difficulties integrating personnel and tinancial and other systems, cifective and immediate implementation of control environment processes
across our employcce population, adverse effects on existing business relationships with supplicrs and customers, inaccurate cstimates of fair value made in
the accounting for acquisitions and ameortization ol acquired intangible assets which would reduce future reponted eamings, potential toss of customers or
key employces of acquired businesses, and indemnities and potential dispules with the sellers. Any of these faclors could affect our product sales, financial
condition, and results of operations.

In fiscal 2019, we completed the acquisition of Pinnacle for consideration ol approximately $8.03 billion, which consisted of: (1) cash of $5.17 billion
{$5.12 billion, net of cash acquired); (2) 77.5 million Company Shares, with an approximate value of $2.82 billion, issued out of the Company's treasury 1o
former holders of Pinnacle stock; and (3) replacement awards issucd to former Pinnacle employces representing the fair value attributable to precombivation
scrvice of $51.1 million, See “-We may not realize the growth opportunitics and cost synergies that are anticipated from the acquisition of Pinnacle” below
for more intornation.

Ifwe are unable to complete our proposed divestitures, our financial results could be materially and adversely affected.

From time to time, we may divest businesses that do not mect our strategic objectives or do not mect our growth or profitability targets. We may not be
able 10 complele desired or proposed divestilures on terms favorable 10 us. Gains or losses on the sales of, or lost operating incame from, those businessas may
aftect our profitability and margins. Morcover, we may incur asset impairment charges related 1o divestitures that reduce our profitability.

Qur divestiture aetivities may present financial, managerial, and apemtional risks, Those risks include diversion of management atiention from exisling
businesses, difliculties separating personnel and financial and other systems, possible need for providing transition services lo buyers, adverse effects on
existing business relationships with suppliers and customers and indemnitics and patential disputes with the buyers. Any of these factors could adversely
affect our product sales, financial condition. and results of operations.
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Disruption of our supply chain could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Qur ability to make, move, and sell our products is critical 10 our success. Damage or disruption to our supply chain. including third-party manufacturing
or iransportation and distiibulion capabilities, due te weather, including any potential effects of cliniate change. natural disaster, fire or explosion, terrorism,
pandemics. strikes, govemment action, or olher reasons beyond our control or the control of our suppliers and business parners, could impair our ability 10
manufacture or sell our products, Failure 1o 1ake adequate steps to miligale the likelthood or potential impact of such events, or 1o efTectively manage such
eveuts if they accur, panicularly when a product is sourced from a single supplier or location, could adversely affect our business or linancial resulis. 1n
addition, disputes with signilicant suppliers, including disputes regarding pricing or performance, could adversely allect our ability 10 supply products o our
customers and could materially and adversely affect our producl sales, financial coadition, and results of opemtions.

Any damage 1o our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and resulis of operations.

Maintaining a goed reputation globally is critical (o selling our products. Product contamination or tampening, the failure to meintain high standards for
product gualily, safety, and integrity, including with respect to raw materials and ingredien!s obtained froni suppliers. or allegations of product quality issues,
mislabeling. or contamination, even if untrue, may reduce demand for our products or ¢ause production and delivery disruptions. Our reputation could also
be adversely impacted by any ofthe fallowing, or by adverse publicity (whether or nat valid) relating thereto: the failure to maintain high ethical, social, and
environmental standards for all of cur operations and activities; the failure to achicve any slated goals with respect to the nutritional profile of our products;
our research and development ¢fforts; or our environmental impact, including use of agricultural matedals, packaging. energy use, and wastec manageinent,
Moreover, the growing use of social and digital media by consumers has greatly incrcased the speed and cxtent that information or misinformation and
opinions can be shared, Failure Lo comply with tocal laws und regulations, to maintain an effective system of intemal controls ar 10 provide accurate and
timely financial informatien could also hurt our reputation. Damage Lo our reputation or loss of consumer confidence in our products for any of these or other
reasens could result in decreased demand for our products and could have a matenal adverse 2ffect on our business, financial conditian, and results of
operations, as well as require additional resources to rebuild our reputation.

If we fail to comply with the many laws applicable to our business, we may face lawsuits or incur significant fines and penaliiev. In addition, changes in
such laws may lead to increased costs.

Our business is subject 1o a variety of governmental laws and regulations, including food and drug laws, environmental laws, laws related 1o adverising
and marketing practices, accounting standards, taxation requirements, competition laws, employment laws, data privacy laws, and anticorruption laws,
among others, in and outside of the United States. Our facilities and products are subject to many laws and regulations administered by the United States
Department of Agriculture, the Federal Food and Drug Administration, the Oceupatianal Safety and Health Administration, and other federal, state, Tocal, and
foreign governmental agencies telating 1o the processing, packaging, stornge, distribution, advertising, labeling, quality, and safely of food products, the
health and safety of our employcees, and the protection of the environment, Our [ailure 10 comply with applicable laws and regulations could suhject us 10
lawsuits, administrative penalties, and civil remedies, including lines, injunctions, and recalis of our products. In addition, changes in applicable laws and
regulations, including changes in 1axation requirements and new or inereased Laniffs on products imported from cenain countries, may lead 1o increased costs
and could ncgatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of vperations.

Qur opcrations are also subject to extensive and increasingly stringent regulations administered by the Environmenial Protection Agency, which pertain
10 the discharge of materials into the envirenment and the handling and disposition of wastes. Failure 10 comply with these regulations can have serious
consequences, including civil and administralive penalties and negative publicity. Changes in applicable laws or regulations or cvolving inlerpretations
thereof, in¢luding increased government regulations 1o limit carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gas emissions as a resuit of concem over climate change,
may result in increased compliance costs, capital expenditures, and other financiai obligalions for us, which could affect our profitability or impede the
production or distribution of our products, and affect ournel operating revenues.
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We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and potential disruption, cyberaitacks, security problems, and expanding social media vehicles
present new risks.

We rely on information technology networks and systenss, including the Intemet, to process, transmit, and store electronic and financial information, to
manage and support a variety of business processes and activities, and to comply with regulatory, legal, and tax requirements. Our information technology
systems, some of which are dependent on scrvices provided by third partics. may be vulnerable to damage, interruption, or shutdewn due 1o any number of
causes outside ol our control such as catastrophic evenls, natural disasters, lires, power outages, sysiems failures, telecommunications failures, employec enor
or malfeasance, security breaches, computer viruses or other malicious codes, mnsomware, unauthonized access attempls, denial of service attacks, phishing,
hacking, and other cyberatiacks. Increased cybersecurity threats pose a potcntial risk to the security and viability of our information technology systems, as
well as the canfidentiality, integrity, and availability of the data stored on thosc systems. [f we do not allocate and ctfectively manage the resources necessary
to build and sustain the preper technology infrastructure and to maintain and protect the related automated and manual control processes, we could be
subject to billing and collection crrors, business disruptions, or damage resulting from security breaches. IF any of our significant information technology
systemns sefTer severe damage, disruplion, or shutdown, and our business continuity plans do not effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, our product
sales, financial condition, and resulis of operations may be materially und adversely affected, and we could experience delays in reponing our financial
results, In pddition, there is a risk of business interruption, violation of data privacy laws and regulations, litigation, and reputational damage from Icakage of
confidential information. Any interruption of our information technology sysiems could have opcrational, reputational, legal, and financial impacts that may
have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, the inappropriatc usc of certain medin vehicles could cause brand damage or information leakage. Negative posts or cormunents about the
Company on any social networking web site could serously damage its reputation. In addition, the disclosure of non-pubiic companry sensitive information
through ¢xtemal media channels could lead to information loss. ldentifying new points of entry as social media continues to expand presents new challenges.
Any business interruptions or damage to our reputation could negatively impact our financial conditian, results of operalions, and the market price of our
common stock.

Additionally, we regularly meve data across national borders 1o conduct our operalions and, consequently, are subject Lo a variety of laws and
regulations in the United States and other jurisdictions regarding privacy, daia protection, and data security, including thosc related to the collection,
storage, handling, use, disclosure, transfer, and security of personal data. There is significant uncertainty with respect to compliance with such privacy and
data protection laws and regulations. including the European Union General Data Protection Regulation {the "GDPR™) (which imposes additional obligations
on companies regarding the handling of personal data and provides cenain individual privacy rights 1o persons whose data is stored), because they are
continuously evolving and developing and may be interpreted and applicd differently from country te country and may create inconsistent or conflicting
requirements. Qur efforts 10 comply with privacy and data protection laws, including the GDPR, may impose significant costs and challenges that are likely
10 Increase over time.

We rely on our management tcam and other key personnel.

We depend on the skills, working relationships, and continued services of key personnel, including our experienced management team. In addition, our
ability to achicve our operating poals depends on our ability to identify, hire. train, and retain qualified individuals. We competc with other companies both
within and outside ol our industry for talented personnel, and we may losc key personnel or fail to attract, train, and retain other talented personnel. Any such
loss or failure could adversely affect our product sales, financial condition, and operating resulis.

[o panicular, our continued success will depend in part on our abilily to retain the talents and dedication of key emplayees. If key employees terminate
their employment, arifan insuflicient number of'employces is retained Lo maintain effeclive operations, our business activilies may be adversely affected and
our management team's attention may be diveried, In addilion, we may not be able to locate suitable replacements for any key employecs who leave, or offer
employment to potential replacements on reasonable terms, a1l of which could ndversely affect our product sales, financial condition, and eperating resullts.
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Impairment in the carrying value of goedwill or other intangibles couid result in the Incurrence of impairment charges and negatively impact onr net
Worh,

As of May 26, 2019, we had goodwill of $11.50 billion and other intangibles of $4.66 billion. The net camying value of goodwill represents the fair
value of acquired businesses in excess of identifiable assels and liabilities as of the acquisition daie (or subsequent impainnent date, il applicable). The net
camrying value of other intangibles represents the fair value of trademarks, customer relationships, and other acquired intangibles as of the acquisition date (or
subsequent impairment date, il applicable}, net of accumulated amortization. Goodwill and other acquired intangibles expected to conribuie indefinitely Lo
our cash flows arc not amortized, but must be evaluated by management al least annually for impairment. Amortized intangible assets are evaluated for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amounts of these assels may not be recoverable. Impairments 10 goodwill
and other intangible asscis may be caused by factors outside our control, such as the inability to quickly replace lost co-manufacturing business. increasing
competitive pricing pressures, lower than expected revenue and profit growth rates, changes in industry EBITDA (camings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization) multiples, changes in discount rates based on changes in cost of capital {interest rates, ete.), or the bankruptey of a significant customer and
could result in the incurrence of impairment charges and negatively impact our net warth,

Our results could be adversely impacted as a result of increased pension, labor, and people-related expenses.

Inflationary pressures and any shortages in the labor market could increase labor costs, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our operting
results or financial condition. Qur labor costs include the cost of providing employee benefits in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions, including pension, health
and welfare, and severance benefits. Changes in interest ratey, mortality rates, health care costs, early retirement rates, investment returns, and the market
value of plan asscts can affect the funded status of our defined benefit plans and cause volatility in the future funding requirements ofthe plans. A significant
increase in our obligations or future funding requirements could have a negative impact on our results of operations and cash flows from operations.
Additionally, the annua! costs of benefits vary with increased caosts of health care and the outcome of collectively-bargained wage and benefit agreements.

Climate change, or legal, regulatory, or market measures to address climate change, may negatively affect our business and operations,

There is growing concem that carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the aimosphere may have an adverse impact on global temperatures, weather
patiemns, and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and natural disasters. In the event that such climate change has a negative effect on agricultural
productivity, we may be subjcct to decreased availability or less favorable pricing for certain commodities that are necessary for our products, such as com,
wheat, and potatoes. Adverse weather conditions and natural disasters can reduce crop size and crop quality, which in tum could reduce our supplics of mw
materials, lower recoveries of usable raw materials, increase the prices of our mw materals, increase our cost of tmnsporting and storing raw malerials, or
disrupt our praduction schedules.

We may alsa be subjected to decreased availability or less favomble pricing for waler as a result of such change, which could impact our menufacturing
and distibution opemtions. In addition, natural disasters and extreme weather conditions may disrupt the preductivity of our facilities or the operation of our
supply chain. The increasing concem over ¢limate change also may result in more regional, federal, and/or global legal and regulatory requirements Lo reduce
or mitigate the effects of greenhouse pases, In the event that such regulution is enacted and is more aggressive than the sustainability measures that we are
currently undenaking 1o monitar our emissions and improve our energy efficiency, we may cxperience significant increases in our costs of operation and
delivery. In particular, increasing regulation of fuel emissions could substantially increase the distibution and supply chain costs assecioted with our
products. As a result, climate change could negatively affect our business and operations.

Due 1o the seasonulity of the business, our revenue and operating results may vary from quarter ip quarier,

QOur sales and cash flows are affected by scasonal cyclicality. Sales of frozen foods, including frozen vegetables and frozen complete bagged meals, tend
to be marginally higher during the winter months, Scafood sales peak during Lent, in advance of the Easter holiday. Since many of the mw materials we
pracess are agticulural crops, production of these products is predominantly seasonal, occurring during and immediately following the purchase of such
crops. For these reasons, sequential quartery comparisons arc not a good indication of our performance or how we may perfonm in the future. IT we are unable
10 obtain access (o working capital or if scasonal {luctuations are greater than anticipated, there coutd be a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.
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The termination or expiration of current co-manufacturing arrangements could reduce our sales volume and adversely affect our results of operations.

Qur busincsses periodically cnter into co-manulacturing arrangements with manu(acturers of products. The terms of these agreements vary but are
generally for relatively short periods of time. Volumes produced under cach of these agreements can fluctuate significantly based upon the product's life
cycle, product promotions, altemative production capacity, and other factors, none of which are under our direct control. Our future ability 1o enter inta co-
manuthctunieg amangements is nol guaranteed, and a decrease in current co-manutacturing levels could have a significant negative impact en sales volume.

Ardent Mitls may not achieve the benefils that are anticipated from the joint venture.

The benefits that are expected to result from our Ardent Mills joint venture will depend. in part. on our ability to realize the anticipated cost synergies in
the wransaction, Ardent Mills ability to successfully integrate the ConAgn Mills and Horizon Milling businesses and its ability to successfully manage the
joint venlure on a going-forward hasis. It is not cenain that we will realize these benefits at all, and if we do, it is not centain how [ong it will take to achieve
these benefits. If, for example, we are unable to achieve the anticipated cost savings, or il there are unloreseen integration casts, or if Ardent Mills is unable 1o
aperate the joint venture smoothly in the [uture, the financial performance of the joint venture may be negatively affected.

As we outsource certaln functions, we become nore dependent on the third parties performing those functions.

As part of a concerted cffort to achieve cost savings and efficiencies, we have entered into agrcements with third-panty service providers under which we
have outsourced cerlain information systems, sales, linance, accounting, and other functions, and we may cnler into managed services agreements with
respect Lo other functions in the future. 1M any of'these third-pany service providers do not perform according to the terms of Lthe agreements, or if we fail o
adequately monitor their performance, we may not be able to achieve the expected cost savings or we may have to incur additional costs to comrect errors
made by such service providers, and our reputation could be hamed. Depending on the function involved, such emors may also lead to business interruption,
damage or disruption of information Lechnology systems, processing incfficicncies, the loss of or damage 1o intellectual property or non-public company
sensitive information through security breaches or otherwise, effects on financial reporting, litipation or remediation costs, or damage Lo our repulation, any
of which could have a matenial adverse cffect on our business. In addition, if we transition functions to onc or more ncw, or among ¢xisting. external service
providers, we may experience challenges that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Cur intellectual propenty rights, including our trademarks, licensing agreements, trade secrets, patents, and copyrights, are a significant and valuable
aspect of our business. We attempl to protect our intellectual propeny rights by pursuing remedies available to us under trademark, copynght, trmde secret,
and patent laws, as well as cntering into licensing. third-party nondisclosute and assignment agreements and policing of third-party misuses of our
intellectual property. If we fail 1o adequaiely proteci the intellectual property rights we have now or may acquire in the future, or if there occurs any change in
law or otherwise that serves to reduce or mmove the current legal protections of our intellectual property, then our financial results could be materially and
adversely affected.

Cenain of our intelleciual property rights, including the P.F. Chang's}, Bertolli¥, and Libby's¥ irndemarks, are owned by third parties and licensed to us,
and others, such as Alexia®, are owned by us and licensed to third parties. While many of these licensing amangements are perpetual in natuse, others must be
periodically renegotiated or renewed pursuant to the terms of such licensing armangement. Ifin the fulure we are unable 10 renew such a licensing amangement
pursuant to its terms and conditions, or if we fail to rencgotiale such a licensing arangement, then our financial resutis could be materially and adversely
affected.

There is also a risk that other parties may have intcllectual property rights covering some of our brands, products, or technofogy. If any third partics bring
a cleim of intellectual property infringement against us, we may be subject 10 costly and time<onsuming litigation, diveniing the attention of management
and our employces. If we are unsuccessful in defending against such claims, we may be subject to, among other things, significant damages, injunctions
against development and sale of certain products, or we may be requined (o enter into costly licensing agreemenis, any of which could have an adverse impact
on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.




Our stock price may be subject to significant volatility, and you may not be able 1o resell shares of onr common stock al or above the price you paid or at
all, and you could lose all or part of your investment as a resull.

The market price of our comman stock could fluctuate significantly for many reasons, including reasons not specifically related 1o our performance, such
as industry or market trends, repors by industry analysts and other third parties, investor perceptions, aclions by credit rating agencies, negative
announcements by our cuslomers or competitors regarding their own performance or actions {aken by our compelitors, as well as general economic and
industey conditions. Qur common stock price is also aflecled by announcements we make aboul our business, market data that is available to subseribers.
analysl reports relaled Lo our Company, changes in financial estimates by analysts, whether or not we meet the financial estimates of analysts who follaw our
Company. rating ageiey announcemcnts about our business, variations in our quancrly 1esults of operations and these of our competitors, general economic
and stock market conditions, future salcs of our cammon stock, perceptions of the investiment oppartunity associated with aur camman stock relative to other
investment allemnatives, the publie's reaction Lo our public announcements and filings with the SEC, actual or anticipated growth rates relative 1o our
competitors, and speculation by the investment community regarding our business, among other factors.

As a result o these factors, investars in our cotrumon stock may not be able to resell their shares at or above the price at which they purchase our common
steck. [n addition, the slock market in general has cxperienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproponionatc to
the operating performance of companics like us. These broad market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our common stock,
repardless of our operating performance. In addition, in the past, same companies that have had velatile market prices for their securities have been subject to
class action or derivative lawsuits. The filing of a lawsuil against us, regardless of the outcome, could have a negative cffect on our business, financial
condition and resulis of operations, as it could result in substantial iegal costs and a diversion of management's altention and rescurces.

We may net realize the growth opportunities and cosi synergies thar are anticipated from rhe acquisition of Pinnacle.

The benedits that are expected to result from the acquisition will depend, in parn, on our ability to realize the anticipated growth opportunities and cost
synergics as the result of the acquisition. Our suecess in realizing these growth apponunities and cost synergies, and the timing of this realization, depends
on the suecessful integration of Pinnacle. There is a significant degrec of difficulty and management distmction inherent in the process of integrating a
company as sizablc as Pinnaclc. The process of integrating operations could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, our activities. Members of our
senior management mmay be required to devote considerable amounts of time 1o this integration process, which will decrease the time they will have 1o
manage Lhe Company, service exisling customers. atlracl new cusiomers, and develop new products or sirategies. [f senior management is nol able to
eflectively manage the integration process, or if any significant business activities are interrupted as a result of the integration process, our business could
suffer. There can be no assurance thal we will successfitlly or cost-effectively integrate Pinnacle. The failure 10 do so could have a material adverse effcet on
our business, financial condition, and resulls ol eperations.

Cven if we are able to integrate Pinnacle successfilly, this inlegration may not result in the realization of the full benetits that are currently expected
from this acquisition, and there can be no guarantee that these benefits will be achieved within the anticipated time frames orar all. For example. we may not
be able to eliminate duplicative costs. Morcover. we may incur substantial expenses in connection with the integration of Pinnaclc. While it is anticipated
that cerlain expenses will be incurred to achicve cost synerpies, such expenses are difficult to estimate accurately, and may exceed current estimates.
Accordingly, the benefits [ror the acquisition may be offset by costs incurred Lo, or delays in, integrating the business,

We may be exposed to claims and liabilities or incur eperational difficultics as a result of the Spinoff.

The Spinoff continues to involve a number of risks, including. among other things, certain indemnification risks and risk associated with the provision of
transitional services. In connection with the Spinofl, we entered inlo a separation and distribution agreement and various other agreements (including a
trnsition services agreement, a tax matters agreement, an employee matlers agreement, and a trademark license agreement), whech we refer (o as the Lamb
Weston agreements, The Lamb Weston agreements gavern the Spinoffand the refalionship between the two companies going lorward. They also provide for
the performance of services by each company for the benefit of' the other for a period of lime.

The Lamb Weston agreeruents provide for indemnificalion obligations designed to make Lamb Westen financially responsible for certain liabilitics that
may exist relating 1o its business activities. whether incurred prior to or after the distribution, including any pending or future litigation. It is possible thar a
court would disregard the allocation agreed lo
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between us and Lamb Weston and require us to assume responsibility for obligations allocated to Lamb Weston. Third parties could also seek lo hold us
responsible for any of these liabilities or obligations. and the indemnity rights we have under the separation and distribution agreement may not be sufficient
to fully cover all of these liabilities and obligations. Even if we arc successful in obtaining indemnification, we may have {0 bear costs temporarily. In
addition, our indemnity obligations fo Lamb Weston may be significant. These risks could negatively affeet our business, financial condition, or results of
operations.

Tn addition, certain of the Lamb Wesion agreements provide [or the performance of services by each company for the benefit of the other fora period of
time. As such, there is contlinued risk that management's and our employees' attention will be significantly diverted by the provision of Lransitional services.
The Lamb Weslon agreements could also lead to dispules over rights 1o centain shared property and rights and over the allocation of costs and revenues for
products and cperations. If Lamb Weston is unable 1o satisfy its obligations under these agreements, including its indemnification obligations, we could
incur losscs. Our inability to effectively manage separation activities and related events could adversely affect our business, financial condition. or results of
opcmllons.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquaners are located in Chieago, Nlinois. Other generat offices, shared service centers, and product development facilities are [ocated in
Colorado, Nebraska, New Jersey, and the District of Columbia. We also lease a limiled number of domesiic sales offices. Intemational general offices nre
located in Canada, China, Colombia, Mexico, Panama, and the Philippines.

We maintain a number of stand-alone distribution facilities. In addition, there are warehouses at most of our manufacturing facilities.

Utilization of manufacturing capacity varics by manufacturing plant based upon the type of products assigned and the level of demand for those
praducts. Management believes that our manufacturing and proccssing plants are well maintained and are penerally adequate 10 support the current
opemtions of the business.

As of July 19, 2019, we had forty-seven domestic manufacturing facilities located in Arkansas, Califomia, Colorado, Georpgia, Illinois, Indiana, lowa,
Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, New 1lampshire, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessec, Washinglon, and Wisconsin. We
also have international mzanufacturing facilitics in Canada and Mexico, and inierests in ownership of intemational manufactunng facilities in [ndia and
Mexico.

We own most of our manufacturing facilities. However, a limited number of plants and parcels of land with the relaled manufacturing equipment are
lcased. Substantially all of our transportation equipment and forward-positioned distnbution centers containing finished goods are leased or operated by
third parties.

The majonity of our manufacturing assets are shared across multiple reporting segments. Output from these facilities used by cach reporting scgment can
change over time. Therefore, it is impracticable to disclose them by segment.

ITEM 3, LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Litigation Matiers

We are a party to certain litigation matters relating to our acquisition of Beatrice Company ("Beatrice") in fiscal 1991, including litigation proccedings
refated 1o businesses divested by Beatrice pror 10 our acquisition of the company. These proceedings include suits against a number of lead paint and
pigment manufacturers, including ConAgra Grocery Products Company, LLC, a whally owned subsidiary of the Company ("CanAgra Grocery Produets™ as
alleged successorto W. P. Fuller & Co., a Icad paint and pigment manufacturer awned and operated by a predccessor lo Beatrice from 1962 uniil 1967, These
lawsuils generally seek damages for personal injury, property damage, economic loss, and governmental expenditures allegedly caused by the use of lead-
based paint, and/or injunclive relief for inspection and abatenent. Although decisions favorable to us have been rendered in Rhode Island, New Jersey,
Wisconsin, and Ohio, we remain a defendant in active suits in llineis and Califomia. ConAgm Grocery Products has denied liability in both suits, both en
the merits of the claims and
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on the basis that we do nol belicve it to be the successor 1o any lability aitributable to W, P, Fuller & Co, The Califomia suit is discussed in the following
parageaph. The Hllinois suit secks class-wide relief for reimbursement of costs associated with the testing of lcad levels in bloed. We do not believe it is
probable that we have incurred any liability with respect to the llinois case, noris it possible to estimaic any potential exposure.

In California, a number of cities and counties joined in a consolidated action seeking abatement of an alleged public nuisance in the form of lcad-based
paint potentially present en the intenor of residences, regardless of its condition. On Seplember 23, 2013, a trial of the California case concluded in the
Superior Court of Califomnie for the County of Santa Clara, and on January 27, 2014, the courn enterced a judgment (the "Judgment") against ConAgra Grocery
Products and two other defendants ordering the creation of a California abatement fund 1o the amount of 51,15 billion, Liability is joint and several. The
Company appealed the Judgment, and on November 14, 2017 the Calilornia Coun of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District reversed in pan, holding that the
defendants were not liable to pay for abatement of homes built after 1950, but affirmed the Judgment as o homes built before 1951, Tlie Count of Appeal
remanded the casc to the tial court with directions to recalculate the amount of the abatement fund estimated to be necessary to cover the cost of remediating
pre-1951 homes, and 1o hold an evidentiary hearing regarding appointment of a suitable receiver. ConAgra Grocery Products and the other defendants
petitioned the California Supreme Court far review of the decision, which we believe 10 be an unprecedented expansion of cument Califomia law. On
February 14, 2018, the California Supreme Court denied the petition and declined o review the merits of the case, and the cose was remanded to the tral
court for further procecdings. ConAgm Grocery Products and the other defendants sought further review of certain issues from the Supreme Court of the
United States, but on October |5, 2018, the Supreme Courl declined to review the case. On Sepiember 4, 2018, the trial court recaleulated its estimate of the
sinount needed to remediate pre-1951 homes in the plaintifl jurisdictions to be $409.0 million. As of July 10, 2019, the pantics reached an agrecment in
principle to resolve this matter, which agreement emains subject to approval by the trial court. Once approved. the action against ConAgra Grocery Products
will be dismissed with prejudice. Pursuant 1o the settlement, ConAgra Grocery Products will pay a total of $101.7 million in seven installinents to be paid
annually from fiscal 2020 through fiscal 2026. ConAgra Grocery Preducts will further provide a guarantee of up to $15.0 million in the event co-defendant,
NL. Industries, Inc., defaulis on its payment obligations.

We have accrued $25.3 million and $74.1 million, within other accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities, respectively, for this matter as of
May 26, 2019. The extent of insurance coverage is uncertain and the Company's cammiers are on notice; however, any possible insurance recovery has not
been considered for purposes of determining our liability. We cannot assure that the final resolution of these matters will not have 2 materiat adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of opceations, or liquidity,

We are party to a number of putative class action lawsuits challenging various product claims made tn the Company's product labeling. These matters
include Briseno v ConAgra Foods, luc.. in which it is alleged that the labeling for Wesson® oils as 100% natural is false and wmisleading because 1he oils
contain genetically modified plants and organisms. In February 2015, the U.S, District Coun forthe Central District of Califomia granted class cenification 1o
permil plaintiffs 1o pursue state law claims. The Company appealed to the United Siates Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which affirmed class
certification in January 2017, The Supreme Court of the Uniled States declined to review the decision and 1he case has been remanded Lo the trial court for
further proceedings. On Apnil 4, 2019, the trial court granted preliminary approval of a settlement in this matter.

We are pany to matters challenging the Company’s wage and hour practices. These matters include a number of class actions consolidated under the
caption Negrete v. Condgra Foods, Inc., ¢t al, pending in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California, in which the plaintiffs atlege a pattemn
of violations of California and/or federal law at several curmrent and former Company manufacturing facilities across the State of Califomia. While we cannot
predict with cenainty the results of this or any other legal proceeding, we do not expect this matter 1o have a matedal adverse effect on our financial
condition, results af operations, or business,

We are party o a number of matters asserting product liability claims against the Company related 1o certain Pan® and other cooking spray products,
These lawsuits generlly seek damapes for persanal injuries allegedly caused by defects in the design, manufacture, or safety wamings of the cooking spray
products. We have put the Company's insurmnce carmiers on notice. While we cannot predict with certainty the results of these or any other legal proceedings,
we do not expect these matters 1o have a malerial adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or business.

The Company, its directors, and several of its executive officers are defendants in several class actions alleging violations of federal securities laws. The
lawsuits asscrt that the Company's officers made materinl misstatements and omissions that caused the market to have an unrealistically positive assessment
of the Company's financial prospects in light of the acquisition of Pinnacle. thus causing the Company's securitics to be overvalued prior to the release of the
Company's consalidated financial
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results on December 20, 2018 for the second quarter of fiscal 2019. The first of these lawsuits, captioned West Palin Beach Firefighters' Pension Fund v
Conagra Brands, Inc., et al., with which subscquent lawsuils alleging similar facts have been consolidated, was filed February 22, 2019 in the U.S. District
Coun for the Northern District of [llinois, In addition, on May 9, 2019, a sharcho!der filed a derivative aclion on behall of the Company against the
Company's directors captioned Klein v. Arora, et gl. in the US. District Coud for the Northern District of Illinois. The shareholder derivative lawsuil asserts
harm to the Company due to alleged breaches of fiduciary duty and mismanagement in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition. On July 9, 2019, the
Company received a stockholder demand under Delaware law 10 inspect the Company’s books and recards related to the Board of Directors’ review of the
Pinnacle business, acquisition, and the Company's public statements related to them. While we cannot predict with cenainty the resulis of these or any other
legal procecdings, we do not cxpect these maiters1o have a material adverse efieet on our financial condition, resulis of operations, ar business,

Envirgnmenral Matters

We arc a parly to certain environmental proceedings relating to our acquisition of Beatrice in fiscal 1991. Such proceedings include proceedings related
10 businesses divested by Beatrice prior to our acquisition of Beatriee. The current environmental proceedings associated with Beatrice include litigation and
adminisiralive proceedings involving Beatrice's possible stalus as a potentially responsible party at approximately 40 Supcrfund, propesed Superfund, or
state-equivalent sites (the “Beatrice siies"). These siles involve locations previously owned or operated by predeeessors of Beatrice that used or produced
petroleurm, pesticides, fenilizers, dyes, inks, solvents, PCBs, acids, tead, sulfur, wannery wastes, and/or other conlaminants. Reserves for these Beatrice
environmental procecdings have been established based on our best estimate of the undiscounted remediation liabilities, which estimates include evaluation
of investigatory studies, extent of required eleart-up, the known volumetric contribution of Beatriee and other potentially responsible paries, and its
cxperience in remediating sites. The acerual for Beatrice-related environmental matters totaled $52.8 million as of May 26, 2019, a majority of which relates
1o the Superfund and state-cquivalent sites referenced above. During the third quarter of fiscal 2017, a final Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Srudy was
submitted tor the Southwest Propertics portion of the Wells G&H Superfund site, which is one of the Beatrice sites. The U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (the "EPA™) issued a Record of Decision (the "ROD") for the Southwesi Properties portion of the sile on September 29, 2017 and has entered into
negotiations with potentially responsible panies (o determine linal responsibility for implementing the ROD.

Creneral

Alfter taking into account liabilities recognized for all of the foregoing matters, management believes the ullimate reselution of such matters should not
have a material adverse effect on our (inancial condition, resulis of operatiens, or liquidity; however, it is reasonably possible that a change ot the estimates
of any of the foregoing matters may occur in the future and. as noted. the lead paint matter could result in a materal final judgment which could have a
matenal adverse effect on our tinancial condition, resulis of operations, or liquidity.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Qur comman stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, where it trades under the ticker symbol: CAG. AtJune 23, 2019, there were approximately
16,148 shareholders of record.

Purchases of Equity Securitles by the Issuer and Affillated Purchasers

No shares of commen stock were purchased during the fourth quaner of fiscal 2019,




ITEM 6, SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the Fiscal Years Ended May 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Dollars In millions, except per share zmounts
Net sales () s 9,5384 § 79383 % 78269 S 8.6641 § 9,034.0
Income from continuing aperations (1) 3 6803 % 7975 % 5460 § 1285 3% 4513
Net income (loss) autributable to Conagra Brands, Ing, (21 S 6783 8§ 8084 § 6393 S (6770) 3 (252.6)
Basic camings pershare:

Income lrom centinuing operations atributable to

Conagra Brands, Inc. commen stockholdersth s 153 § 197 § 126 § 029 § 1.05

Nel income (loss) attributable ta Conuagra Brands, Inc.

commoan stockholders () 3 153 3§ 200 S 148 § {1.57y § (0.60)
Diluted camings per share:

income from continuing operations attributable o

Conagra Brands, [n¢. common stockholders (1 8 1.53 8 185 % 125 8§ 029 3§ 1.04

Net income (loss) attributable to Conagra Brands, Inc.

commaon stockholders ¢} S 152 § 198 § 146 § (1.56) S {0.59)
Cash dividends declared per share of commen stock S 085 § 085 S 050 § 100 S 1.00
At Year-End
Total assets 5 222138 § 10.38%5 3 100963 8§ 13,3906 S 174378
Scaior long-term debt (noncurrent) (1 A 104598 § 30356 § 25733 § 46855 % 6,676.0
Subordinated long-term debt {(nencument) 3 1958 % 1959 % 1959 § 1859 % 1959

(' Amounts exclude the impact of discontinued operations of the ConAgra Mills operations, the Private Brands operations, and the Lamb Weslon

operations,

3 Amounts include aggregate pre-lax goodwill and certain long-lived asscl impairment charges in discontinued operations of $1.92 billion and $1.56

billion for fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively.




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis is intended to provide a summary of significant factors relevant to our financial performance and condition. The
discussion and analysis should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes in Ilem B, Financial Statements and
Supplementary Datoa. Results for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be attained in the future.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The information contained in this report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federa) securities laws. Examples of' forward-
looking statements inelude statements regarding our cxpected future financial perfonmance or position, results of operations, business strategy, plans and
objectives of management for future operations, and other statements that are not histerical facts. You can identify forward-looking statements by their use of

forward-looking words, such as "may", "will", "anticipate", "expect”, "believe™. "estimate”, "intend”. "plan”, "should", "seck”, or comparable tenmns.

Readers of this report should understand that these forward-looking statements are not guarantees af performance or results. Forward-looking stalements
pravide our current cxpectations and beliels conceming future events and are subjecl to risks, uncerainties, and factors relating to our business and
operations, all of which are difficult to predict and could cause our actual results to difter materially from the expectations expressed in or implied by such
forward-looking statements. These risks, uncertainties, and lactors include, among other things: the dsk that the cost savings and any other synergies from the
acquisition of Pinnacle Foods Inc. (the "Pinnacle acquisition™ may not be fully realized or may take longer to realize than expected; the risk that the
Pinnacle acquisition may not be accretive within the expected timeframe or to the extent anticipated; the risks that the Pinnacle acquisition and rclated
integration will create disruption to the Company and its management and impede the achievement of business plans; the nisk that the Pinnacle acquisition
will negatively impact the ability to retain and hire key personnel and maintain relationships with customers, supplicrs, and other thind parties; risks rclated
to our ability to successfully address Pinnacle's business challenges; risks related to our ability to achieve the intended benefits of other recent and pending
acquisitions and divestitures, ineluding the divestiture of our Wesson® oil business in February 2019; risks associated with general ccanomic and industry
conditions; risks associaled with our ability 1o successfully execute i1s long-tenn value creation strategies, including those in place for specific brands at
Pinnacle before the Pinnacle acquisition; risks related to our ability to deleverage on cumrently anticipated timelines, and to continue (o access capital on
acceplable terms or ar all; risks related to our ability to execute operating and restructuring plans and achieve targeted operating cfficiencies from cost-saving
initiatives, related to the Pinnacle acquisition and otherwise, and to benefit from trade optimization programs. related to the Pinnacle acquisition and
otherwise; risks related to the effectiveness of our hedging activities ond ability to respond 10 volatility in commadities; risks related to the Company's
competitive environment and related market conditions; risks related to our ability to respond to changing consumer preflerences and the success of its
innovation and marketing investments; risks related to the ultimate impact of any product recalls and litigation, including litigation related to the lead paint
and pigment matters, as well as any securities litigation, including sccuntics class action lawsuits; risk associated with actions of governments and regulatory
bodies that affect our businesses, including the ultimate inipact of new or revised regutalions or interpretations; risks related to the availability and prices of
mw materials, including any negative effects caused by inflation ar weather conditions; risks and uncertainties associated with intangible assets. including
any future goodwill or intangible assets impairment charges, related to the Pinnacle acquisition or otherwise; the costs, disruption, and diversion of
management's attenlion due to the integration of the Pinnacie acquisition: and other risks described in our reports filed from time to time with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (thc "SEC*). We caution readers not to place unduc rcliance on any forward-looking statements included in this report, which
specak anly as of the date of this repont. We undenake no responsibility to update these statements, excepl as required by law.

The discussion that follows should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained in this report. Resulis for
fiscat 2019 are not necessarily indicative of resulis that may be attziaed in the future.
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Conagra Brands, Inc. {the "Company", "we", "us", or "our™, headquanered in Chicayo, is one of North America's leading branded food companies.
Guided by an entreprencurial spint, the Company combines a rich hertage of making great Jood with a shampened focus on innovation (hat enables the
Company to evolve its ponfolio to satisfy pcople's changing lood preferences. Its iconic brands such as Birds Eve®, Marie Callender's®, Banguer®, Healthy
Choice®, Stim Jim®*, Reddi-wip®, and Vlasic®, as well as emerging brands, including Angie's® BOOMCHICKAPOP?, Duke's®. Eurth Balance®, Gurdein®, and
Frontera®, ofter choices for every occasion.

Fiscal 2019 Pinnacle Acquisition

COn Octoher 26, 2018, we completed our acquisition ol Pinnacle Foods Inc ("Pinnacle), a branded packaged foods company specializing in shelf-siable
and frozen foods {the "Pinnacle acquisition"). As a tesult of the acquisilion, Pinnacle became a wholly-owned subsidiary of'the Company. The lolal amount
of consideration paid in connection with the acquisition was approxinately S8.03 billion, consisting of cash and shares al our stock, as deseribed in more
detail in the scction entitled "Acquisitions" below.

In connection with the Pinnacle acquisition, we incurred approximatcly S8.33 billion of long-tenn debt and received cash proceeds of $575.0 million
{$555.7 million net of related fees) from the issuance of common stock in an underwritien public offering. We used such proceeds tor the payment of'the cash
portion of the Merger Consideration (as delined below), the repayment of Pinnacle debt acquired, the refirancing of cenain Conagra Brands debl, and the
paymenl ol related lees and expenses.

The integration of Pinnacle is continuing and on-track. We expect to achieve cost synergies of 8285 miltion per year when the integration is concluded.

Fiscal 2019 Results

Fiscal 2019 performance compared to fiscal 2018 reflected an incrense in net sales, including the impact of recent acquisitions, with organic {cxcludes
the impact of foreign exchange and divested businesses, as well as acquisitions until the anniversary daie of the acquisilion) increases in our Refrigerated &
Frozen and Intemational eperating segmenls, in eack case compared to {iscal 2018. Overall gross margin increased as the addition of Pinnacle's gross profit,
along with supply chain realized productivity and improved pricing, more than offset higher tronsponation costs, inflation, and increased invesiments in
relailer marketing. Overall segmnent operating profit increased primarily due 1o the Pinnacle acquisition. Corporie expenses were primarily flat due to items
imapactling cornparability, as discussed below, as well as increased costs in conneclion with the Pinnacle acquisition. We experienced a decrease in equity
method investment eamings and increases in both interest expense and income tax expense, in cach case compared to fiscal 2018,

Diluted camings per share in fiscal 2019 were $1.52, including camings of $1.53 per diluted sharc from continuing operations and a loss 0f$0.0G1 per
diluted share from discontinued operations. Diluted eamings per share in fiscal 2018 were $1.98, including camings of$1.95 per diluted share from
conlinuing operations and $0.03 per diluted share from discontinued operations. Several significant items affect the comparability of year-over-year results of
conlinuing operalions (sce “frems Impacting Comparability " below).

On December 22,2017, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act {the "Tax Act") was signed into law. The Tax Act reduced tax rates and modified cedain policies,
credits, and deductions and has cenain intemational 1ax consequences. The Tas Act reduced the federal comporate tax rate trom a maximum of 35% to a (lat
21% rate. The Tax Act's corporate rate reduction beeame etfective January |, 2018, in the middle of our third quarter of fiscal 2018. Given our ol-~calendar
fiscal year-end, our fiscal 2018 fedeml statutory 1ax rate was a blended mic, Cur federal slatutory rate was 21% in fiscal 2019,

Ttemx Impacting Comparability
Items of note impacting comparability of results from continuing operations for fiscal 2019 included the following:
= charges totaling $180.8 million (5138.9 million after-1ax) in connection with our resiructuring plans,
= chargestotaling $118.1 million ($94.8 million after-tax) associated with costs incurred for acquisilions and divestitures,

21




charges totaling $89.6 million (866.9 million after4ax and net ol non-contrelling interest) related to the impainnent of ather intangible assets,

gains of $69.4 million ($35.1 million after-tax) from the sales of the Del AMonre®* Canada business, the Wesson® oil business, and the Gelit pasta
business,

incremental cost of goods sold of $53.0 million (839.5 millton after-tax) duc to the fair value adjusiment to inventory resulting from acquisition
accounting forthe Pinnacle acquisition.

a gain 0f $3%.1 million (329.1 million afler-tax) related 1o legal matters,

an income tax benefit of $32.4 million associated with o change in o valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset due to the divestitures of the
Wesson® oil business and the Gelit pasia business,

a gain of $27.3 million ($27.3 million after-tax) related to the novation ol a legacy guarantee,

a gain of $15.1 million (512.2 million after1ax) related to the fair value adjusiment of cash seitieable equity awards issued in connection with, and
included in the acquisition consideratian of, the Pinnacle acquisition,

again of $15.1 million ($11.6 million after4ax) related to the sale of an asset within the Ardent Mills joint venture,
an income tax charge of S10.4 million associated with unusunal tax items primarily related to legel entity restructuring netivity,
charges totaling $8.9 million ($6.6 million aftertax) associated with costs incurred for integration activities related to the Pinnaele acquisition, and

charges totaling 54.3 million {§3.2 million after-tux) related to pension plan tump-sum setilements and a remeasurement of our salaried and non-
qualified pension plan liability.

liems of note impacting comparability of results from continuing operations for fiscal 2018 included the following:

an income lax benefit of$233.3 million related to the enactment of the Tax Act,
chargestataling §151.0 million ($113.3 million afler-tax) relaled Lo certain litigation matters,

an income tax cxpense of $78.6 million associated with a change in a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset due to the termination of the initial
agreement for the proposed sale of our Wesson® oil busincess,

an income tax charge of 542.1 million associated with unusual tax items refated to the repatnation of cash during the second quanter from forcign
subsidianics, the tax expense related 1o the eamings of foreign subsidiaries previously deemed to be permanently invested, a pension contribution,
and the effect of a law chanpe in Mexico requiring deconsolidation for lax reporting purposcs,

charges totaling $34.9 mitlion ($25.6 million after-tax) related to the cardy termination of an unfavorable lease contract by purchasing the property
subject to the lease,

charges totaling 538.0 million ($27.0 million after-tax) in conncction with our SCAE Plan (as defined below),
charges towaling 515.7 million (§10.9 million after-tax) associated with costs incurred for acquisitions and divestitures,

charges totaling $5.4 million (53.7 million aflertax) related to pension plan lump-sum scttlements and a remeasurement of our salaried and non-
qualified pension plan liability,

charges totaling $4.8 million ($3.7 million afler-tax) related 1o the impairment of gther intangible assets, and

a benefit of $4.3 million (82.9 million afler-tax) related (e the substantial liquidation of an intemational joint venturc {rccorded in equity method
investment camings).

Segment presentation of gains and losses [fom derivatives used for economic hedging ol anticipaled commodity input costs and cconomic hedging of
foreign currency exchange rale risks of anticipated transactions are discussed in the segment review belaw.
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Acquisitions

On October 26, 2018, we completed the Pinnacle acquisition. As a result of the Pinnacle acquisition, Pinnacle became a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 26, 2018 (the "Merger Agreement™), among the Company, Pinnacle, and Patriot
Merger Sub Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that ceased to exist at the effective time ol the merger, each outstanding share of Pinnacle
conunon stock was converled into the right to receive $43.11 per share in cash and 0.6494 shares of common stock, par value $5.00 per share. of the
Company (“Company Shares") (together, the "Merger Consideration™}, with cash payable in licu of fractional shares of Company Shares. The total amount of
consideration paid in connection with the acquisition was approxintately $8.03 billion and consisted of: () cash of $5.17 billion (85.12 billion, net of cash
acguired); (2) 77.5 million Company Shares, with an approximate valuc of $2.82 billion, issued out of the Company's treasury 10 former holders of Pinnacle
stock; and (3) replacement awards issucd Lo former Pinnacle employees representing the fair value autributabie o precombination service of $51.1 million.
Approximately $7.02 billion of the purchase price has been allocated to goodwill, pending determination of the final purchase price allocation.
Approximately $3.52 billion has been allocated to brands, trademarks and other intangibles. Of the total goodwill, $236.7 million is deductible for tax
purposes, Amortizable brands, trademarks and other intangibles totaled 5668.7 million. Indefinite lived bmnds, irademarks and other intangibles to1aled
$2.85 billion. This business is reficcied in the Pinnacle Foods segment.

In February 2018, we acquired the Sandwich Brus. of Wisconsin®business, maker of frozen breakfast and entree flatbread pocket sandwiches, for a cash
purchase price of $87.3 million, net of cash acquired. Approximately $57.8 million has been classified as goodwill, and $9.7 million and $7.1 million have
been classified as non-amortizing and amortizing intangible assets, respectively. The amount of goodwill allocated is deductible for tax purposes. The
business is inctuded in the Refrigeraied & Frozen segment.

in Octaber 2017, we acquired Angie's Artisan Treats, LI.C, maker of Angie's® BOONMCHICKAPOP® ready-to-eat popcom, tor a cash purchase price of
$249.8 million, net of cash acquired. Approximately $156.7 million has been classified as goodwill, of which $95.4 million is deductible tor income tax
purposcs. Approximately $73.8 million and $10.3 million of the purchase price have been allocated 10 non-amortizing and amorizing intangible assets,
respectively. The business is primarily included in the Grocery & Snacks segment, and to a lesser extent in the Intemational segment.

In April 2017, we acquired protein-based snacking businesses Thanasi Foods LLC, maker of Duke s¥ meat snacks, and BIGS LLC, maker of BIGS® sceds,
for $217.6 million in cash, nct of cash acquired {the "Thanasi acquisition"}. Approximately $133.3 million has been classified as goodwill, of which $70.5
million is deductible for income tax purposes. Approximately $65.1 million and $16.1 million of the purchase price have been allocated to non-amortizing
and amortizing intangible assets, respectively. These businesses are primarily included in the Grocery & Snacks segment.

In September 2016, we acquired the operating assets of Frontera Foods, Inc. and Red Fork LL.C, including the Fronlera®, Red Fork®, and Salpica¥
brands (the "Frontera acquisition”). These businesses make authentic, gourmet Mexican food products and contemporary Amenican cooking sauces. We
acquired the businesses for $108.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired. Approximately 539.5 million has been classified as goodwill and $59.5 mullion and
$£7.2 million have been classificd as non-amonizing and amodizing intangible assets, respectively. The amount allocated 1o goodwill is deductible for tax
purposes. These businesses are included primarily in the Grocery & Snacks and the Refrigerated & Frozen segments, and to a lesser extent within the
Intemnational segment.

Divestitures

On May 24, 2019, we completed the sale of our ltalian-based rozen pasta business, Gelit, for proceeds net of cash divested of$77.5 million, subject 10
final working capital adjustments. The resulls of operations of the divested Gelit business are primarily included in our Refnigeraied & Frozen segment for the
periods preceding the completion of the tmnsaction.

During the fourth quarter of fiscai 2019, we also completed the sale of our Wesson® oil business for net proceeds of $171.8 million, subject to final
working capital adjustments. The results of operations of the divested Wesson® oil business are primarily included in our Grocery & Snacks segment, and lo a
lesser extent within the Foodservice and International segments, forthe periods preceding the completion of the transaction.

During the first quarier of fiscal 2019, we completed the sale of our Del Monte® processed fruil and vegerable business in Canada for combined proceeds

of $32.2 million. The results of operations of the divested Del Afonze® business are included in our Intemational segment for the perods preceding the
completion afthe transaction.
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On November 9, 2016, we completed the spinoff {the "Spinoff”) of Lamb Weston Holdings, Inc. ("Lamb Weston™). The results of operations of the Lamb
Weston business have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented.

In the first quanter of fiscal 200 7. we completed the sales of our Spicetec Flavors & Seasonings business ("Spicetec”) and our JM Swank business for
combined proceeds of $489.0 million. The resulis of operations of Spicetec and JM Swank are included in the Commercial sepment.

Restructuring Plans

In December 2018, our Board of Directors (the "Board™) npproved a restructuring and integration plan related to the ongoing integration of the recently
acquired opcrations of Pinnacle (the "Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan) for the purpose of achieving significant cost synerpics between the
companies, as a result of which we expect to incur material charges for exit and disposal activities under U.S. gencrally accepted accounting principles ("U.S.
GAAP"). We expect to incur up to $360.0 million (5285.0 million of cash charges and $75.0 million of non-<ash charges) in connection with operational
expenditures under the Pinnacle Integrution Restructuring Plan.

Although we remain unable to make good faith estimates relating to the entire Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan, we are reporting on actions
initiated through the end of fiscal 2019, including the estimated amounts or unge of amounts for cach major type of cost expected to be incumed, and the
charpes that have resulied or will result in cash outflows. We have incurred or expect 10 incur approximately $260.1 million of charges ($254.0 million of
cash charges and S6.1 million of non-cash charges) for actions identificd 1o date under the Pinnacle Inegration Restructuring Plan. In fiscal 2019, we
recopnized charges of $168.2 million, which were primarily cash charges.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2019, management initiated a new restructuring plan {the "Conagra Restructuring Plan®) for costs in connection with actions
taken to improve selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") cxpense effectiveness and efficiencies and te optimize our supply chain network. We have
incurred or expect to incur 4.3 million of charges (82.4 million of cash charzes and 51.9 million of non-cash charges) for actions identified to date under the
Conagra Restructuring Plan, We are not able to quantify the scope al'the entire Conagra Restrueturing Plan at this time. In fiscal 2019, we recognized charges
0f$2.2 million (S 1.4 million of cash charges and $0.8 miilion in non-cash charges) in connection with the Conagra Restructuring Plan.

As of May 26, 2019, we had substantially completed our restructuring activities related to the Supply Chain and Adminisirative Efliciency Plan (the
"SCAE Plan™). We recognized charges of $9.6 million, $38.0 million, and 363.6 miilion in connection with the SCAE Plan related to our continuing
opcrations in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. OQur total pre-tax cxpenses for the SCAE Plan related to our continuing opcrations arc expected to be
$471.0 million (3321.0 million of cash charges and §150.0 million ofnon-cash charges).

SEGMENT REVIEW

We reflect our results of operations in the following reporting segments: Grocery & Snacks, Refrigerated & Frozen, Intemational, Foodservice, Pinnacle
Foods, and Commercial.

Grocery & Snacks
The Grocery & Snacks reporting segment principally includes branded, shelf stable food products sold in various retail channeis in the United States.

Refrigerated & Frozen

The Refrigerated & Frozen reponting segment principally includes branded, temperaturc-controlled food produets sold in various retail channels in the
United States.

Tnternational

The Inemational reporting segment principally includes branded food products, in various temperalure states, sold in varous rewail and foodservice
channels outside ofthe United States.
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Foodservice

The Foodservice reporiing segment includes branded and customized food products, including meals, entrecs, sauces, and a variely of cusiem-
manufactured culinary products, that are packaged for sale to restaurants and other foodservice establishments primarily in the United Srates.

Pinnacle Foods

The Pinnacle Foods reporting scgment includes branded and private-labeled food products, in various lemperalure states, sold in various retail and
foodscrvice channels in the United States and Canada. Results of the Pinnacle Foods segment reflect activity beginning on October 26, 2018, the date of the
Pinnacle acquisilion.

Commercial

The Commercial reporting segment included commercially branded and private label food and ingredients, which were sold primarily to commercial,
restaurant, foodservice, food manufociuring, and industrial customers. The segment's primary food items included o variety of vegetable, spice, and frozen
bakery goods, which were sold under brands such as Spicetec Flavors & Seasonings®. The Spicetec and JM Swank businesses were sold in the first quarter of
fiscal 2017. These businesses comprised the entire Commercial scgment following the presentation of Lamb Weston as discontinued operations.

Presenration of Perivative Gains (Losses) from Economic Hedges of Forecasted Cash Flows in Segment Resulis

Derivatives used (o manage commodily pnce risk and foreign cumeney risk are not designated for hedge accounting treatment, We believe these
denivatives provide economic hedges of certain forecasted transactions. As such, these derivatives are generally recognized at fair market value with realized
and unrealized gains and losses recognized in general corperate expenses, The gains and losses are subsequently recognized in the operating resulis of the
reporting secgments in the period in which the underlying transaction being economically hedged is inciuded in eamings. in the event that management
determines a particular derivative entered into as an cconomic hedge of a fuorecasted commodity purchase has ceased to function as an cconomic hedge, we
cease tecognizing further gaing and losses an such derivatives in corporate expense and begin recognizing such gains and [osses within segment operating
resulls, immedinely.

The foilowing table presents the net derivalive gains (losses) from ecoromic hedges of forecasied conurodity consumption and the foreign cumency risk
of certain forecasted transactions associated with continuing operations, under this methodology:

Fiscal Years Ended

May 26, May 27, May 28,
(S in milllons) 2019 2018 2017
Net derivative gains {losses} incurred $ (36} S 09y S 0.6
Less: Net derivative gains (losses) ablocated to reporting segiments (1.8) .0 5.
Net derivative gains (losses) recognized in general comomle expenses $ (1.8) 8§ 62 8 (5.1}
Net derivative gaios (losscs) allocated to Grocery & Snacks S (21) § 02 s 34
Net derivative gains (losscs) allocated to Refrigermted & Frozen (1.1) 0.3) 038
Net derivative gains (losses) atlocated o Intemational Foods 28 (6.9) 1.6
Net derivative losses allocated to Foodservice (0.6) {0.1) —_
Net derivative losses allocated to Pinnacle Faods (0.8) — —
Net derivative losses allocated 1o Commereial — — {0.1)
Net derivative gains (losses) included in segment operating profit ) (18 s (71) 8 57

As of May 26,2019, the cumulative amnount of net derivative gains from cconomic hedges that had been recognized in gencral corporate expenses and
not yet allocated to reporting segments was 51.4 million. This emount reflected net gains of $1.0 million incurred during the fiscal year ended May 26, 2019,
as well as net gains of $0.4 million incurred prior to fiscal 2019. Based on our forecasts of the timing of recognition of the underlying hedged items, we
expect to reclassify to segment operating results pains of $0.9 million in tiscal 2020 and $0.5 million in fiscal 2021 and thereafier,
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Fiscal 2019 compared 16 Fiscal 2018

Net Sales
($ in millions) Fiseal 2019 Net  Fiseal 2018 Net % Ine
Reporting Segment Sales Sales {Dec)
Grocery & Snacks 3 32792 § 32870 —%
Refrigerated & Frozen 2.804.0 27830 2%
International 79314 8435 (6)%
Foodservice 934.2 1,054.8 {11 %4
Pinnacle Foods 1,727.6 —— 100 %
Total s 95384 S 79383 20 %

Overell, our net sales were $9.54 billion in fiscal 2019, an increase of 20% compared to fiscal 2018.

Grocery & Snacks net sales for fiscal 2019 were $3.28 billion, a deercase of $7.8 million compared to fiscal 2018, Volume, excluding the impact of
acquisitions and divestitures, was flat in fiscal 2019 compared to the prior-ycar period. This result reflected merchandising changes and price clasticity-
related declines in certain brands, as well as isolated production challenges, partially offsct by the continued benefit from momentum and innovation
successes in the snacks businesscs. Price/mix was flat compared 10 the prior year as unfavorable mix. coupled with increases in brand building investments
with relailers were offset by the impact of higher pricing. The acquisition of Angic's Artisan Treats, LLC, which was completed in October 2017, contributed
$4§.3 million to Grocery & Snacks net sales during fiscal 2019, through the ane-ycar anniversary of the acquisition. Fiseal 2019 results tncluded $115.9
million of net sales related Lo our Yesson® oil businecss, which was sold in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019. Fiscal 2018 results included S156.4 million of net
sales related 10 this divested business.

Refrigerated & Frozen net sales for fiscal 2019 were $2.80 billion, an increase of $51.0 million, or 2%, compared 1o {iscal 2018, Results for fiscal 2019
reflected a 196 increase in volume compared to fiscal 2018, excluding the impact of acquisitions. The increasc in sales volumes was a result of innovation
across multiple brands, which was partially offsct by the effects of reduced erchandising spend and the impact of a recali during the fourth quarer.
Price/mix was Mlat compared (o liscal 2018, as continued delivery of top-line accretive innovation in several brands was partially offset by brand building
investments with retailers. The acquisition of the Sandwich Bros. of Wisconsin® business, which was completed in February 2018, contributed $25.7 million
to Refrigerated & Frozen's net sales duning fiscal 2019, through the one-year anniversary ofthe acquisition.

[ntemational net sales for fiscal 2019 were $793.4 million, a deercase of $30.1 million, or 6%, compared to fiscal 2018. Results for fiscal 2019 reflected a
2% increase in volume, excluding the impact of acquisitions and divestitures, a 4% decrease due to foreign exchange rates, and a 2% increase in price/mix, in
cach case compared to fiscal 2018. The volume and price/mix increases for fiscal 2019 were driven by growth in the Canadian snacks and frozen businesses.
The acquisition of Angie's Artisan Treats, LLC contributed $3.7 million to Intemational net sales for fiscal 2019, through the one-year anniversary of the
acquisition. Fiscal 2019 included 34.1 million of net sales related Lo our Del Afonie® processed fruit and vegetable business in Canada, which was sold in the
first quarter al fiscal 2019. Fiscal 2018 results included 548.9 million of net sales related to this divested business. In addition, fiscai 2019 and 2018 results
inciuded $17.1 miilion and $24.5 million, respectively, retated 1o our divested Wesson® oil business.

Foodservice net sales for fiscal 2019 were $934.2 million, a decrease of $120.6 million, or 11 %. compared to fiscal 2018, Results (or fiscal 2019 reflected
a 4% decrease in volume, excluding divestitures. The decline in volume rellected the continued execution of Lhe segment's value-over-volume strategy and
the sale of our Trenton, Missouri production facility in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Price/mix increased 5% in fiscal 2019 compared 1o fiscal 2018, The
increase in price/mix for fiscal 2019 retlected faverable product and customer mix, the impact of inflation-driven increases in pricing, and the exceution of
the sepment's valuc-over-volume strategy. Fiscal 2019 included $34.2 million of net sales related to our Wesson® oil business, which was sold in the fourth
quarter ol fiscal 2019. Fiscal 2018 results included $53.4 million of net sales related (o this divested business, Net sales declined by approximately 7% in
fiscal 2019 due to the sale of our Trenton, Missouri production facility.

Pinnacle Foods net sales [or fiscal 2019 (reflecting 213 days of Conagra Brands ownership) were $1.73 billion. Results reflected expected consumption
declines as the Company exccutes i11s value-over-volume sirategy within the Pinnacle portfolio.
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SG&A Expenses (Includes general corporale expenses)

SG&A cxpenses totaled $1.47 billion for fiscal 2019, an increase of $75.0 million compared 1o fiscal 2018. SG&A expenses (or fiscal 2019 reflected the
following:

It i il mparahili mings

+  cxpenses of $170.3 million in connection with our restrucluring plans,

«  expenscs of $106.2 million associated with costs incurred lor acquisitions and divestuitures,
= expenses of $89.6 million related 1o intangible impairmeats,

+  gains of $69.4 million related to the divestitures of businesses,

«  pbenefit of $39.1 million related 1o lepal matters,

« abencfit of $27.3 million related to the novation of a legacy guaraniee,

« 2 benefit of §15.1 million related to the fair value adjustment of cash seitleable equity awards issued in conneetion with, and included in the
consideration for the Pinnacle acquisition. and

«  cxpenscs of $8.9 million related to costs associated with the integration of Pinnacte.
] £ i1 i r 5

+ an increase of $81.9 million related to Pinnacle SG&A expenses not included in other items noted herein, representing such costs incurred from
October 26, 2018 through May 26, 2019,

» adecrease in advertising and promotion expense of $25.2 million, including $34.0 million of expense attributable to Pinnacle,
*  anincrease in salary and wage expense of $61.6 million, incleding $60.2 million attributable to Pinnacle,

= adecrease in share-based payment and defemed compensation expense ol $13.1 million due to lower share price and market declings, including S1.0
million ol expense attributable to Pinnacle,

= adccrease in pension and postretirement service expense of §9.6 million,

= anincrease in defined contribution plan expense ol $6.9 million, includinp $2.4 million attributable to Pinnacle,
= adecrease in charitable contributions of $5.4 million,

= adecrease in incentive compensation cxpense of 34.3 million, including $6.4 millien attributable to Pinnacle,
= anincrease in self-insured workers' compensation and product liability expensc of $3.3 million, and

+ adccreasce in transaction services agreement income of $2.9 million.

SG&A expenses for fiscal 2018 included the following items impacting the comparability of eamings:

+ charges totaling $151.0 million related 1o certain litigation matters.

= acharge 0of $34.9 million related to the early tennination of an unfavorable lease contract,

= cxpenses of $30.2 million in connection with our SCAE Plan,

»  expenses o $15.1 million assaciated wilh costs incumred for acquisitions and divestitures, and

»  charges totaling $4.8 million related lo Lthe impaimment ol other intangiblc asscts.
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Segment Operating Profit (Earnings before gencral corporate cxpenses, pension and postretirement non=service Income, interest expense, net, income
taxes, and equity method investment carnings)

Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018
(S in milllons) Operating Operating % Inc
Beporting Segment, Profit Profit {Dec)
Grocery & Snacks £ 68952 8 7248 (5%
Refrigeraled & Frozen 5022 4794 5%
[ntemational 94.5 86.5 9%
Foodservice 117.7 121.8 &)
Pinnacle Foods 238.2 - 100 %

Grocery & Snacks operating profit for fiscal 2019 was $689.2 million, a decrease of $35.6 million, or 5%, compared to fiscal 2018. Gross profits were
$55.8 million lower in fiscal 2019 than in fiscal 2018. The lower gross protit was driven by higher input costs, transportation inflation, and a reduction in
profit associated with the divestilure of 1he Wesson® oil business. partially oflsct by profit contribution of acquisitions and supply chain realized
productivity. The acquisition of Angie's Artisan Treats, LLC contributed $12.6 million to Grocery & Snacks gross profit in fiscal 2019, through the ane-year
anniversary of the acquisition. Advenising and promolion expenses for fiscal 2019 decreased by $31.3 million compared to fiscal 2018, Operating prohit of
the Grocery & Snacks segment was impacted by charges totaling $76.5 million in fiscal 2019 for the impairment ol our Chef BoyardecV and Red Fork® brand
assets and $4.0 million in fiscal 2018 for the impaiment of our HX Andersan®, Red Fork®, and Salpica® brand asscts. Grocery & Snacks also recognized a
£33.1 million gain on the sale of our Hesson® oil business in fiscal 2019. Operating profit of' the Grocery & Snacks segment included $1.0 miflion and S11.4
million of cxpenses in fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to acquisitions and divestitures and charges of $4.6 million and $14.1 million in
connection with our restructuring plans in fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Refrigerated & Frozen operating profit for fiscal 2019 was $502.2 million, an increase of $22.8 million, or 5%, compared 1o fiscal 2018. Gross profits
were $19.6 million lower in fiscal 2019 than in fiscal 2018, drven by incrcased input costs and transpottation inflation, partialiy offset by supply chain
realized produciivity. Adverlising and promotion expenscs for liscal 2019 decreased by $24.6 million compared to fiscal 2018, Opemting profit of the
Refrigerated & Frozen segment included a gain of $23.1 million in fiscal 2019 related (o the sale ol our halian-based fiozen pasta business, Gelit.

Intemational gpemting profit for liscal 2019 was $94.5 million, an increase of $8.0 million, or 9%, compared to fiscal 2018. Gross profits werc flat in
fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 201 8. Included in the Intemational segment fiscal 2019 operating profit was a gain of $13.2 million rclated to the sale of our
Del Monte® processed fruit and vegetable business in Canada, charges of $13.1 miilion for the impaimment of our {yimer® and Sundrop® brand assets. and
charges of $2.9 millian rclated to divestitures. In addition, operating profit was impacted by charges of $1.9 million and 51.5 million in conncetion with our
restructuring plans. in fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Foodservice operating profit for fiscal 2019 was 5117.7 million, a decrease of $4.1 million, or 3%, compared 1o fiscal 2018, Gross profits were $8.5
million lower in fiscal 2019 than in fiscal 2018, due 1o lower volume (including the sale of our Trenton, Missoun production facility) and higher input costs,
partially offset by supply chain realized productivity.

Pinnacle Foods operting profit for fiscal 2009 {reflecting 213 days of Conagra Brands ownership} was $238.2 million. Operating profit for Pinnaele
Foods during fiscal 2019 included incremental cost of goods sold of $53.0 million due to the impact of writing inventory to fair valuc as part of our
acquisition accounting and the subsequent sale of that inventory, as well as charges o$5.9 million related to restructuring aclivities.

Intercst Expense, Net

In fiscal 2019, net interest expense was $391 .4 million, an increase 0£5232.7 million, or 147%, from fiscal 2018. The increase reflected the lollowing:

= theissuance of §7.025 billion aggregate principal amount of unsecuted senior notes and borrowings of $1.30 billion under our new unsecured term
loan agreement with a syndicate of financial institutions providing for a $650.0 million tranche of three-year tenn loans and a $650.0 million
tranche of five-year term loans to the Company (the "Term Loan Agreement™, in cach case in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition,
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the repayment of a total of $900.0 millien of our borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement in the third and founth quarters of fiscal 2019,

the borrowing of $300.0 million under our prior tenn loan agreement during the fourth quarer of fiscal 2018, which borrewing was subsequently
repaid in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition,

the issuance of $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes duc 2020 during the second quarter of iscal 2013,
the repayment of $70.0 million aggregate principal amount of outstanding senior notes in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, and

the repayment of $119.6 million aggregate principal amount ol outstanding notes in the third quarter of fiscal 2018.

In addition, fiscal 2019 included $11.9 million related o the amonization of costs incumed to secure fully committed bridge financing in ¢onnection
with the then-pending Pinnacle acquisition. The bridge financing was subsequently terminated in connection with our incurrence of permanent financing 1o
fund the Pinnacle acquisition, and we recognized the remaining unamortized financing costs of $33.8 million within SG&A expenses.

Income Taxes

Qur income (ax expense was $218.8 million and $174.6 million in fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively. The eftective tax rate {calculated as the ratio of
income lax cxpensc 10 pre-tax income from continuing operations, inclusive of equity method investment camings) was approximately 24% and 18% Jor
fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.

As a result of our offcalendar fiscal year end, the lower ULS. statutory fedeml income tax rate resulted in a blended U.S. federal statutory rate of 29.3% for
the fiscal year ended May 27. 2018,

The cffective 1ax rate in fiscal 2019 reflects the following:

the impact of legal entity recorganization resulting in a benefit related to undistributed foreign eamings for which the indefinite reinvesiment
assertion is no longer made.

additional 1ax expense on the repatnation of certain foreign eamings,

an adjustment of valuation allowance associated with the expected capital gains from the divestiture of the Wesson® oil and Gelit businesses,
addilional tax expense on non-deductible facilitative costs associated with the Pinnacle acquisition,

a bencfit recopnized duc to the non-taxability of the novation of a legacy guaraniee,

a benefit recognized duce to a reduction in the fair value of equily awards subject to limitations on deductibility that were issued to Pinnacle
execuiives as replacement awards at the time of the acquisition,

an incrense to the deemed repatriation tax liability,
additional tax expense due 1o forcign and domestic restructuring, and

a state tax benefit from integration of the Pinnacle business.

The effective tax rate in fiscal 2018 reflects the following:

the impact of the Tax Act,

an adjustment of valuation allowance associated with the terminalion ol the agreement for the proposed divestilure of our Wesson® oil business,
an indirect cost of the pension contribution made on February 26,2018,

additional expense related to the settlement of an audit of the impact of a law change in Mexico,

an tncome tax benefit allowed upon the vesting/exercise of employee stock compensation awards by our ecmployces, beyond that which is
attributable to the original fair value of the awards upon the date of grant, and

additional expense related to undistributed foreign eamings for which the indefinite reinvestment assertion is no longer made.
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We expect our effective tax rate in fiscal 2020, exclusive of any unusual {ransactions or tax events, Lo be approximately 24%-25%.

Equlty Methad Investment Earnings

We include our share of the ecamings of certain affiliates based on our economic ownership interesi in the affiliates. Qur most significant afliliate is the
Ardent Mills joint venture. Qur share of eamnings from our equity method investment camings were $75.8 million and $97.3 million tor fiscal 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Results for fiscal 2019 included o gain of $15.1 million from the sale of an asset by the Ardent Mills joint venuure. In addition, Ardent Mills
carnings for fiscal 2019 reflecled lower conunodity margins and the timing of cenain custoner contracts that nepatively impacted performance. A benefit of
$4.3 million was included in the camings of fiscal 2018 in connection with a gain on the substantint liquidation of an intcmational joint venture.

Results of Discontinued Operations

QOur discontinued operations generated an after-lox loss o' $1.9 million and a gain of $14.3 million in fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively. During fiscal

20iR, a $14.5 million income tax benelit was recorded due to an adjustment of the estimated deductibility of the costs incurred associaled with cffecting, the
Spinoffof Lamb Weston.

Earnings Per Share

Diluted eamings per share in fiscal 2019 were $1.52, including camings of $1.53 per diluted share lrom continuing operations and a loss ofS0.01 per
diluled sharc from discontinued operations. Diluted earnings per share in fiscat 2018 werc $1.98, including camings of §1.95 per diluted share from
continuing operations and $06.03 per diluted share from discontinued operations. Sec "lrems Impacting Comparahility™ above as several significant ilems
affected the comparability of year-over-year results ofoperations.

Fiscal 2018 conpared to Fiscal 2017

Net Sales
(S in millions} Fiscal 2018 Net  Fiscal 2017 Net % Inc
Reporting Segment Sales Sales (Dec)
Grocery & Snacks $ 32870 % 3,208.8 2%
Refrigerated & Frozen 2,733.0 2.652.7 4%
International 8435 8160 3%
Foodservice 1,054.8 1,078.3 {21%
Commercial — 711 (100Y%
Total b 79383 % 78269 | %

Overall, our net sales were $7.94 billion in fiscal 2018, an increase of' 1% compared 10 fiscal 2017,

Grocery & Snacks net sales for fiscal 2018 were $3.29 billion, an increase of $78.2 million, or 2%, compared to fiscal 2017. Results reflected a decrease
in volumes of approximately 2% in fiscal 2018 compared 10 the prior-year period, excluding the impact of acquisitions. The decrease in sales volumes
reflected a reduction in promotional intensity, planned discontinuation of certain lower-performing products, retailer inventory reductions, which were
higher than anticipated. and deliberate actions to oplimize distribution on certain lower-margin products, consistent with the Company's valuc over volume
strategy. Price/mix was flat compared 1o the prior-ycar period as fuvorable mix improvements from recent innovation and higher net pricing necarly offsct
centinued investments in retailer marketing to drive brand saliency, enhanced distnbunion, and consumer {rial. The acquisition of Angie's Arnisan Trents,
LLC contributed $68.1 million to Grocery & Snacks net sales during fiscal 2018, The Frontera acquisition contributed S8.6 million and the Thanasi
acquisition contributed $66.5 million 1o Grocery & Snacks net sales during tiscal 2018 through the one-year anniversaries of the acquisitions. The Frontera
and Thanasi acquisitions occurred in Scptember 2016 and April 201 7. respectively.

Refrigemted & Frozen net sales tor fiscal 2018 were $2.75 billion. an increase of $100.3 million, or 4%, compared to fiscal 2017, Resulis for fiscal 2018
reflected a 3% increasc in volume compared to fiscal 2017, excluding the impact of
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acquisitions. The increase in sales volumes was a resull of brand renovation and innovation launches. Price/mix was flat compared to fiscal 2017, as
favorability in both net pricing and mix offset continued investment in retailer marketing 1o drive brand salicncy, enhanced distribution, and consumer trial.
The acquisition of the Sundwich Bres. of Wisconsin® business contributed $2 13 million 1o Refrigerated & Frozen's net sales during fiscal 2018. The Frontera
acquisition, which occurmed in Sepiember 2016, and subsequent innovation in the Frontera® brand contributed 54.4 million during fiscal 2018 through the
one-year anniversary of the acquisition.

Intemational net sales for fiscal 2018 were $843.5 million, an increasc of $27.5 million. or 3%, compared to fiscal 2017. Results for fiscal 2018 reflected
a 3% decrease in volume, a 3% increase due (o foreign exchange rates, and a 3% increase in price/mix, in cach case compared to fiscal 2017, The volume
decrease for fiscal 2018 was driven by strategic decisions to climinate lower margin products and to reduce promotional intensity. The increase in price/mix
compared to the prior-year period was driven by improvements in pricing and trade productivity.

Foodservice net sales for fiscal 2018 were $1.05 billion, a decrcase of $23.5 mitlion, or 2%. compared to fiscal 2017. Results for fiscal 2018 reflected an
1 1% decrease in volume, partially offset by a 9% increase in price/mix compared to fiscal 20§ 7. The decrease in volumes compared to the prior year primarily
reflected the impact of exiting a non-core business, the planned discontinuation of certain lower-performing businesses, and softness in certain calegorics.
The increase in price/mix for fiscal 2018 reflecied favorable product and customer mix, the impact of inflation-driven increases in pricing, and the execution
of the segment's value over volume stralegy.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2017, we divested our Spicetec and JM Swank businesses. These businesses comprise the entire Commercial segment

following the presentation of Lamb Weston as discontinued operations. Accordingly, there were no net sales in the Commercial segment after the first quaner
of fiscal 201 7. These businesses had net sales of $71.1 million in fiscal 2017 priorto the completion of the divestitures.

SG&A Expenses (Includes general corporate expenses)

SG&A expenses totated $1.40 billion for fiseal 2018, o decrcase of $75.6 million compared 1o fiscal 2017, SG&A expenses for fiscal 2018 rellected the
following:

Items § ting com Ih i

* chargestotaling $151.0 million related 1o certain litigation matters,

+ acharge 0f$34.9 million related to the carly termination of an unlavorable lease contract,
«  expenses of $30.2 million in conneetion with our SCAE Plan,

+  cxpenses of $15.1 million associnted with costs incurred for acquisitions and divestitures, and
= charges totaling $34.8 million rclated to the impaiment ol other intangible asscis.

Other changey in expenses compared 1o fiscal 2017

» adecrease in advertising and promotion expense of $49.7 million.

* adecreasc in transaclion services agreement income of $18.3 million,

« adecrease in incentive compensation expense of $14.6 million,

« adecrease in stock-bascd compensation expense of S19.4 million,

= adecrease in contract services af $9.4 million,

« adccrease in chartable contributions of $6.7,

» adecrease in pension and postretirement service expense of $4.2 million.

»  anincrease in salaries expense of $19.4 million, and

* an increase in self-insured workers' compensation and product liability expense of $7.0 million.
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SG&A expenses for fiscal 2017 inciuded the following items impacting the comparability of camings:

» charges totaling $237.1 million related 1o the impainuent of goodwill and other intangible assets, primarily in the Intemational segment,
«  gainstotaling $197.4 mitlion, from the divestiture of the Spicciec and JM Swank businesscs,

+  charges totaling $93.3 million related to the carly retirement of debt,

= acharge of S67.1 million related 1o the impairment of the Chef Boyardee® brand intangible,

+  cxpenses of $46.4 million in connecetion with cur SCAE Plan,

+  charges of 830.9 million related Lo the planned divestiture of our Wesson™ oil business, including an impaimment charge of $27.6 million related to
the production assets of the business that were not initially included in the assels held for sale, and

+ abcnefiLof $5.7 million in connection with a legal matcr.

Segment Opcrating Profit (Earnings before general corporaie expenses, pension and postretirement non-service incame, interest expense, net, income
taxes, and equity method investment earnings)

Fiscal 2017

{5 In milllons) Fiscal 2018 Operating % Inc
Repotting Segment Operating Profit Profit {Dec)
Grocery & Snacks 3 7248 % 655.4 Il %
Refrigerated & Frozen 479.4 4458 8%
intemational 86.5 {168.9) NIA
Foodservice 121.8 105.1 16%
Conunercial — 202.6 (100%

Grocery & Snacks operuting profit for fiscal 2018 was $724.8 million, an increase of $69.4 million, or | 1%, compared Lo fiscal 2017, Gross profits were
$21.9 million lower in fiscal 2018 than in fiscal 2017, The lower gross profit was driven by investments with reailers (i.e., tade spending reflected as a
reduction of net sales), as well as higher input costs and wmnsportation expenses, partially oftset by supply chain realized productivity. The Frontera
acquisition, Thanasi acquisition, and the acquisition of Angie's Artisan Treats, LLC, which occurred in September 2016, April 2017, and October 2017,
respectively, contributed $47.4 million to Grocery & Snacks pross profit during fiscal 2018 through the one-year anniversaries of the acquisitions (if
reached). Advertising and promotion expenses for fiscal 2018 decreased by $19.5 million compared to fiscal 2017. Opemting profit of the Grocery & Snacks
scgment was impacted by charges totaling S4.0 millton in fiscal 2018 for the impaimment of our HX Anderson®, Red Fork®, and Sulpica® brand assets and
5£68.3 miflion in fiscal 2017 primarily for the impairment of our Chef Boyardee® brand assel. Grocery & Snacks also incurred $11.4 million of expenses in
fiscal 2018 related to acquisitions and divestitures, charges o $31.4 million in fiscal 2017 related to the pending divestiture of the Wesson® oil business, and
charges or§14.1 million and $23.6 million in connection with our restructuring plans in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Refmgerated & Frozen opermting proft for fiscal 2018 was $479.4 million, an increase of $33.6 million, or 8%, compared to fiscal 2017, Gross prolits
wcere $3.6 million lowerin {iscal 2018 than in fiscal 2017, driven by continuing increases i input costs and transponation inflation as well as investments to
drive distibution, cnhanced shelf presenee, and 1ral, pantially oftsct by increased sales volumes and supply chain realized productivity. The acquisition of
the Sundwich Bros. of Wisconsin® business contnbuted $4.6 million to gross profit in the segment duning fiscal 2018. Advertising and promotion expenses
for fiscal 2018 decreased by $23.4 million compared to fiscal 200 7. Operating profit of the Refrigerated & Frozen segiment was impacted by charges totaling
approximalely $7.7 million in fiscal 2017 related (o a product recall, as weli as charges of $0.1 million and $6.2 million in connection with our restructurng
plans in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively.

International operating profit for fiscal 2018 was $86.5 million, cempared to an operating loss of $168.9 million for fiscal 2017. The operating loss in
fiscal 2017 includes charpes totaling $235.9 million for the impairment of goodwill and an intangible brand asset in our Canadian and Mexican eperations.
Gross profits were $18.6 million higher in fiscal 2018 than in fiscal 2017, as a result of improved price/mix, the favomble impact of foreign exchange, and the
planncd discontinuations of certain
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lower-performing preducts, Operating profit of the Intemational segment was impacted by charges of $1.5 million and $0.9 million in connection with our
restructuring plans, in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Foodscrvice operating profit for fiscal 2018 was $121.8 million, an increase of $16.7 million, or 16%. compared to fiscal 2017. Gross profits were $13.9
million higher in fiscal 2018 than in fiscal 2017, pnmanly reflecting the impact of inflation-driven increases in pricing and supply chain realized
productivity, partially offset by lower sales volumes and inereased input costs. Operating profit of the Foodservice segment was impacted by charges o[ $1.8
million in fiscal 2017 in connection with our restructuring plans.

Cammercial operating profit was $202.6 million in fiscal 2017. The Company sold the Spicetec and JM Swank businesses in the first quarter of fiscal
2017, recognizing pre-tax gains tofaling $197.4 million. The Spicctec and JM Swank businesses comprise the entire Commercial segment following the
presentation of Lamb Weston as discontinued operations. There are no further eperations in the Commercial segment,

Interest Expense, Net

In fiscal 2018, net interest expense was 3158.7 million, a decreasc of $36.8 million, or 19%, from fiscal 2017. The decrease reflects the repayment of
$550.0 millzon aggregate principal amount of outsianding scnior notes in the first quaner of fiscal 2017, $473.0 million aggregate principal amount of
outstandieg senior notes in the third quarter of fiscal 2017, $119.6 millicn aggregate principal amount of cutstanding senior notes in the third quarter of
fiscal 2018, 570.0 million aggregalc principal amount of outstanding senior notes in the fourth quarer of fiscal 2018, as welt as the exchange ol $1.44 billion
of debt in connection with the Spinoff of Lamb Weston during the sccond quarter of 2017, This was partially offset by the issuance of $500.0 million
aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes due 2020 during the second quarter of fiscal 2018 and the bommowing of $300.0 million under our term loan
agreement during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, For more information about the debl exchange, see Note 4 "Long-Term Debi* 10 the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report.

Income Taxes

QOur income 1ax expense was $174.6 million and $254.7 million in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively. The effective tax rate (calculated as the ratio of
income lax expense to pre-ax income from continuing operations, inclusive of equity method investmenl eamings) was approximately | 8% for fiscal 2018
and 32% for fiscal 2017.

The Tax Act was enacted into law on December 22, 2017. The changes to U.S. 1ax law include, but arc not limited to:
= reducing the federal statutory inceme tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1. 2018;

+  climinating the deduction for domestic manufacturing activities, which began impacting us in fiscal 2019;

- requiring companies to pay a one-time transition tax on certain unrepatriated camings of foreign subsidiaries;

+ repealing the exception for deductibility of performance-based compensation to covered employces, along with expanding the number of covered
eraployees;

. allowing immediate expensing of machinery and equipment contracted for purchase after September 27, 2017, and

+ changing taxation of multinational companizs, including a new minitium tax on Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, a new Basc Erosion Anti-
Abuse Tax, and a new U.S. cemporate deduction for Forcign-Derived Intangible Income, all of which became effcetive for us bepinning in 2019,

As a rosult of our offcalendar fiscal year-end, the lower US, statutory federal incomie tax mite resulied in a blended U.S. federal stawtory mte of 29.3% for
the fiscal year ended May 27, 2018. Our federal statutory rate was 21% in fiscal 2019.

The effective tax rate in fiscal 2018 reflects the following:
*  the impact ot U.S. 1ax reform, as noted above,
» an adjustment of valuation allewance associated with the termination of the agreement for the propased sale of our Wessan¥ oil business,

= anindirect cost of the pension contribuiion made on February 26, 2018,
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» additional expense related to the settlement of an audit ofthe impact of a law change in Mexico,

* on income tax benefit allowed upon the vesting/exercise of employee stock compensation awards by our employees, beyond that which is
attributable to the original fair valuc of the awards upon the date of grant, and

+ additional expense related to undistributed foteign eamings for which the indefinite reinvestment assention is no longer made,
The cffective 1ax rate in fiscat 2017 refleets the following:
« additional tax expense associated with non-deductible goodwill sold in cennection wilh the divestitures of the Spicetec and JM Swank businesses,

« additional tax cxpense associated with non-deductible goodwill in our Mexican and Canadian businesses, for which an impairment charge was
recognized,

= anincome tax benefit for the adjustment of a valuation allowance associated with the planned divestiture of the Hesson® oil business,

*  an income tax benefit for excess tax benelits allowed upon the vesting/exercise of employee stock compensation awards by our employees, beyond
that which is attributable 1o the original fair value of the awards upon the date of' grant, and

« anincome tax benefit associated with a lax planning sirategy that allowed us to utilize certain state Lax atributes and centain foreipn incentives.
Equity Method Investment Earnings

We include our sharc of the camings of certain afliliates based on our economic ownership interest in the effiliates. Cur most significant atTiliate is the
Ardent Mills joint venture, Our share of camings from our equity method investment camings were $97.3 million and $71.2 million for fiscal 2018 and 2017,
respectively, Abencfit of $4.3 million was included in the camings of fiscal 2018 in connection with a gain on the substantial tiquidation of an intemational
joint venture. In addition, Ardent Milis camings werc higher than they were in the prior-year periods due 10 more faverable market conditions and continued
improvement in operating cffectiveness.

Results of Mscontinued Operations

Our discontinued aperations gencrated nfler-tax inceme ol $14.3 million and $102.0 million in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively. During fiscal 2018, a
$14.5 million income tax benefit was recorded due to an adjustment of the cstimated deductibility of the costs incurmed associated with effecting the Spinoft
ol Lamb Weston. The prior-year period results reflected the operations of Lamb Weston through the date of its Spinofl in November 2016, We incumred
significant costs associated with cffecting the Spinoff of Lamb Weston. Thesc costs arc included in results of discontinued opcrations.

Earnings Per Share

Diluted camings per share in fiscal 2018 were 51.98, including camings of$1.95 per diluted share from continuing operations and $0.03 per diluted
share from discontinued operations. Diluled camings per share in liscal 2017 were $1.46, including carnings of 51.25 per diluted share from continuing
operations and $0.21 per diluted share from discontinued operations. Sec "lrems Inpacring Comparability” above as several significant items affected the
comparability of ycar-over-year results of operations.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Sources of Liquldity and Capital

The primary objective of our financing stmtegy is to maintain a prudent capital structure that provides us flexibility to pursue our growth objectives, [f
necessary, we usce shont-term debt principally to finance ongoing operations, including our scasonal requirements for working capital {accounts reccivable,
prepaid expenses and other current assels, and inventories, less accounts payable, accrued payroll, and other accrued liabilities), and a combination of equity
and long-term debt to finance both curbase working capital needs and our non-current assets. We are committed to maintaining an invesiment grade credit
rating.

At Moy 26,2019, we had a revolving credit facilily (the "Revolving Credit Facility") with a syndicate of financial institutions providing {or a maximum
aggregate principal amount outstanding at any one time of $1.6 billion (subject Lo increase to a maximum aggregate principal amount of $2.1 billion with
the consent of the lenders). We have historically used a credit facility principally as a back-up for our commercial paper progeam. As of May 26, 2019, there
were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility,

At May 26, 2019, we had no amounts outstanding under our commercial paper propram. The highest level of borrowings during fiscal 2019 was $408.7
million. As of May 27, 2018, we had §277.0 million outstanding under our commercial paper program.

On October 22, 2018, in connection wilh the Pinnacle acquisition, we issucd senior unsecured notes in the aggregate principal amount of §7.025 billion.
These rotes were issucd in seven tranches: floating rate senior notes due October 22, 2020 in an aggregate principal amount of $525.0 million with an
interest equal to three-month LIBOR plus 0.75%; 3.8% senior noles due October 22, 2021 in an aggregate principal amount of $1.2 billion; 4.3% senior
notes due May 1, 2024 in an aggrepate principal amount of $1.0 billion; 4.6% scnicr notes due November 1, 2025 in an appregale principal amount of S1.0
billion; 4.85% scnior notes duc November 1, 2028 in an sggregate principal amount of $1.3 billion; 5.3% scnior notes due November 1, 2038 in an
aggrepgatc principal amount of §1.0 billion; and 5.4% senior notes due November |, 2048 in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion.

On October 26, 2018, in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition, we bormowed 51.3 billion under our Term Loan Agreement. The three-year tranche
loans mature on October 26, 2021, and the five-year tranche loans mature on October 26, 2023. The term loans bear interest at, at the Company's election,
either (a) LIBOR plus a percentage spread (ranging [rom 1% {o 1.625% for three-year tranche loans and 1.125% to 1.75% lor five-year tranche loans) based
on the Company's senior unsccured loog-term indebtedness ratings or (b) the altenate base rate, descibed in the Term Loan Agreement as the greatest of (i)
Bark of Amertca's pnme mte, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and {iii) on¢-manth LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus a pereentage spread (ranging from 0% to
0.625% for three-year tranche loans and 0.125% 10 0.75% for five-year tranche loans) based on the Company's senior unsecured long-term indebtedness
ratings.

The Company may voluniarly prepay lerm loans under Lhe Term Loan Agreement, in whole or in part, without penalty, subject to cerain conditions.
During fiseal 2019, we repaid $900.0 million of our borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement, which consisted of $450.0 million of the three-year tranche
loans and $450.0 million of the five-year tranche loans. Subsequent 1o fiscal 2019, we repaid an additional $100.0 million of the three-year tranche loans and
$100.0 millien of the five-year tmnche loans.

The Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Agreement generally require that our ratio of EBITDA (eamings before interest, laxes, depreciation,
and amortization) 1o interest expense not be tess than 3.0 to 1.0 and our ratio of funded debt 10 EBTTDA not exceed certain decreasing specified levels,
ranging from 5.875 through the first quarter of fiscal 2020 to 3.73 from the second quarner of fiscal 2023 and thereaficr. Each ratio is 1o be calculated on a
rolling four-quarter basis. As of May 26, 2019, we were in compliance with these {inancial covenants.

As of the end of liscal 2019, our senior long-term debt mtings were all investment grade. A significant downgrade in our credit ratings would not affect
our ability to borrow amounts under the Revolving Credit Facility, although borrowing costs would increase. A downgnade of our shert-term credit ratings
would impact our ability 10 borrow under our commercial paper program by negatively impacting bomowing costs and causing shoner durations, as well as
making access to commercial paper more difficult, or impossible,
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On October 12, 2018, we issued approximately 16.3 million shares of our common stock in an underwriticn public offering for proceeds of $555.7
million, net of related fees.

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and common stock in the second quarter of fiscal 2019 were used for the paymient of the cash portion of the
Merper Consideration, the repayment of Pinnacle debt acquired, the refinancing of certain Conagra Brands debl, and the payment of related fees and
expenses.

We repurchase shares of our commeon stock [rom time Lo time after considering market conditions and in accordance with repurchase limits authorized by
our Board. Under the share nepurchase authorization, we may repurchase our shares periodically over several years, depending on market conditions and other
factors, and may do so in open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions. The share repurchasc authonzation has no expiration date. The
Compaay plans to repurchase shares under its authorized progmm only at times and in amounls as are consistent with the prioritization of achieving its
leverage targets. The Company's total remaining share repurchase authorization as of May 26,2019, was $1.41 billion.

On April 16, 2019, we announced that our Board of Directors authenzed a quartedy dividend payment of 30.2125 per share, which was paid on May 31,
2019 o shareholders of record as of the close of business on April 30, 2019, Subject to market and other conditions and the approval of our Board of
Directors, we intend to maintain our quarterly dividend at the current annual mic 0$0.85 per share during fiscal 2020.

We have access to our Revelving Credit Facility, our commercial paper program, and the capital markets. We believe we also have access to additional
bank loan facilities, if nceded,

We expect Lo maintain or have access to suflicient liquidity to retire or refinance long-term debt upon maturity, as market condilions wamant, from
operating cash flaws, our commercial paper program, proceeds from any divestitures and other disposition transactions, access to capital markets, and our
Revolving Credit Facility.

Cash Flaws

In fiscal 2019, we generated $108.6 million of cash, which was the net result o §1.13 billion generated fom operating activities, $5.17 billion used in
investing activitics, 34.15 billion generated from financing activities, and a decrease of $0.7 million duc to the effects of changes in forcign currency
exchange rates.

Cash genemted from operating activities of continuing operations totaled S1.11 billion in fiscal 2019, as compared to $319.7 million generated in fiscal
2018. The increase in operating cash flows was primarily the net result of decreased pension plan payments, additional cash penerated from Pinnacle
operations since the Pinnacle acquisition, proceeds from the seitlemeni of interest rate swaps in fiscal 2019, reduced tax payments, and changes in working
capital, partially offset by increased interest payiments and costs associated with the Pinnacle acquisition. Pension plan payments in fiscal 2018 included a
voluntary contribution totaling $300.0 million. Net income tax payment reductions totaling $30.3 million were impacted by corporate 1ax rate reductions
resulting from the Tax Act signed into law during the third quarter of fiscal 2018, Interest payments increased by $211.1 million resulting from debt issued in
connection with the Pinnacle acquisition and the repayment of amounts acerued by Pinnacle prior to the acquisition.

Cash used in investing activiiies of continuing operations totaled $5.17 billion in fiscal 2019 compared to $576.2 million in fiscal 2018. Investing
activities of continuing operations of fiscal 2019 consisted primarily of the purchase of Pinnacle [or 85.12 billion, net of cash acquired, capital expenditures
of$353.1 million, and proceeds from the divestiture of our Def Monte® processed fruit and vegetable business, our Wessoa® oil business, and our ltalian-
based frozen pasta business. Gelit, for combined proceeds of $281.5 million, net of cash divested. Investing activities in fiscal 2018 consisted mainly of the
purchases of the Sandwich Bros. of Wisconsin® business and Angie's Antisan Treas, LLC for a to1al of $337.1 million, net of cash acquired, and capital
expenditures tolaling $251.6 million,

Cash generated from financing activitics of cantinuing operations totaled $4.15 billion in fiscal 2019 compared to $506.9 million used ir financing
activities of continuing operations in fiscal 2018. Dunng fiscal 2019, in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition, we issucd long-term debt that generated
$8.31 billion in gross proceeds and issued common stock for net proceeds of $555.7 nullion. This was reduced by debi issuance costs and bridge financing
fees totaling $95.2 million. We repaid $3.97 billion of long-term debt, reduced our short-lerm bonmowings mainly related Lo our commercial paper program by
$£277.3 million, and paid cash dividends of$356.2 million. Financing activities of continuing opertions in fiscal 2018 consisted principally of common
stock repurchases totaling $967.3 million. gross procceds from the issuance of long-temm debt totaling
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$800.0 million, cash dividends paid of $342.3 million, repayments of long-term debt 0f $242.3 million, and a net inerease in short-tenn borrowings of 5249 1
million.

The Company had cash and cash cquivalents of$236.6 million at May 26, 2019 and $128.0 million at May 27, 2018, of which $144.8 million at
May 26,2019, and $121.6 million at May 27, 2018, was held in foreign countries. We believe that our foreign subsidianies have invested or will invest any
undistributed eamings indefinitely, or that any undistributed camings will be remitled in a tax-neutral transaction, and, therefore, do not provide deferred
laxes on the cumulative undistributed camings of our toreign subsidiaries.

Our preliminary estimate of capital expenditures for fiscal 2020 is approximatcly $400 mitlion,

Management belicves that existing cash balances, cash flows from operations, existing credit facilities, and access to capital markets will provide
sufticient liquidity to miecet our repayment ol debt, including any repayment of debt or refinancing of debt, working capital needs, planned capital
expenditures, and payment of anticipated quanterly dividends for at least the next twelve months.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We use off-balance sheet arrangements {¢.g., lcases accounted lor as operating leases) where sound business principles warrant their use, We also
perodically enter into guarantees and other similer amangements as part of mansactions in the ordinary course of business. These are described further in
“Obligations and Commitmenis” below.

Variable Interest Entities Not Cansolldated

We lease or leased certain oftice buildings from entities that we have determined to be variable interest entities. The lease agreements with these entities
include fixed-price purchase options for the assets being leased. The lease agreements also contain contingent put options (the "lease put options") that allow
or allowed the lessors o require us to purchase the buildings at the greater of original construction cost, or [air market value, without a lease agreement in
place (the "put price™) in certain limited circumstances. As a result of substantial impairment charges related 10 our divesied Privatc Brands operatians, these
leasc put options became exercisable. We are amortizing the ditference between the pul price and the estimated fair value (without a lease agreement in place)
ol the propery over the remaining lease term within SG&A expenses. Duning fiscal 2018, we purchased 1wo buildings that were subject to lease put oplions
and recognized net losses totaling $48.2 million for the cardy cexit of unfavorable lease contmets. During fiscal 2017, one of these lease agreements expired,
and we reversed the applicable accrual and recognized a benefit o $6.7 million in SG&A expenses.

As of May 26,2019 and May 27, 2018, there was onc remaining [eased building subject to a lcase put option for which the put oprion price excecded the
cstimated fair value of the propeny by $8.2 million, of which we had accrued $1.6 million and $1.2 mllion, respectively. This lease is accounted for as an
operating lease, and accordingly, there are no matenal assets and liabilities, other than the accrued portian of the put price, associated with this entity
included in the Consolidated Balance Shects. We have determined that we do not have the power Lo direct the activities that most significantly impact the
economic performance of this entity. In making this determination, we have considered, among other items, the terms of the lecase agreement, the expected
remaining useful life of the asset leased, and the capital structure of the lessor entity.

OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

As pant of our ongoing opcrations, we cnter into arrangements that obligate us to make future payments under contracts such as leasc agreements, debt
agrecments, and unconditional purchase obligations {i.e., obligations to transfer funds in the future for fixed or minimum quantities of goods or services at
fixed or minimum prices, such as "take-or-pay” contracts). The unconditional purchase obligation arrangements are entered into in our nermal course of
business in order o ensure adequate levels of spurced product are available. Of these items, debt, notes payable, and capital lease obligations, which totaled
$10.72 billion as ofMay 26, 2019, were recognized as liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Operating lcase obligations and unconditional
purchase obligations, which totaled §1.75 billion as ol May 26, 2019, were oot recognized as liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, in accordance
wilh U8, GAAP.
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A summary of our contraciunl obligations as of May 26, 2019, was as follows:

Payments Due by Perlod
(in millions)

Less than Afier 5

ont li Tatal 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years
Long-term debt S 10,5566 8 -—  § 27476 S 22870 S 55220
Capital lease obligations 1654 206 410 294 74.4
Operating leasc obligations 312.6 52.1 BG4 59.7 114.4
Purchase obligations! and other contracts 1,483.5 1,195.3 2234 53.2 11.6
Notes payable 1.0 1.0 — — —
Total b 12.519.1 S 1,2696 § 30984 § 24293 § 57224

I Amount includes open purchase arders and agreements, some of which are not legally hinding and/or may be cancellable. Such agreements are generally seileable in the ordinary
course of business in less than one year,

We are also contractually obiigated to pay interest on our long-term debt and capitul lease obligations. The weighted-avermge coupon interest rate of the
long-term debt obligations outstanding as of May 26, 2019, was approximately 4.7%.

As of May 26, 2019, we had aggregate untunded pension and postretirement benefit obligations totaling $131.7 million and $87.8 million, respectively.
These amounts are not included in the lable above as the unfunded obligalions arc remeasurcd each fiscal year thercby resulting in our inability to
accurately predict the ultimate amouni and timing ot'any fuwre required contributions to such plans. Based on cumeni statutory requirements, we arc not
obligated to fund any amount to our gualified pension plans during the next twelve months. We estimate that we will make payments olfapproximately $14.2
million and $10.8 million over the next twelve months to fund our pension and postretirement plans, respectively. Sec Note 19 " Pension and Postretirement
Benefits® to the consolidated financial statements and "Critical Accounting Estimuates - Eniployment Related Benefits" contained in this report for further
discussion of our pension obligations and factors that could affect estimates of this liability.

As pant of our onpgoing operations, we also enter into arangements that obligate us to makc future cash payments only upon the accurrence of a future
evenl (c.g., guarantecs of debt or lease payments of a third party should the thind party be unable to perform). In accordance with U.S. GAAP, such commercial
commitments are not recognized as liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of May 26, 2019, we had other commercial commitments totaling $5.3
miltion, of which $3.7 million expire in less than one year and $1.6 million expire in onc lo three years.

In addition to the other commergial commitments, as of May 26, 2019, we had $56.4 million of standby Icticrs of credit issued on our behalf. These
standby letters of credit are primarily related to our self-insured workers compensation programs and are not reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In certain limited siluntions, we will guarantec an obligation of an unconsolidated cntity, We guarantee certain [eases resulting fom the divestiture of
the JM Swank business completed in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. As of May 26, 2019, the remaining tens of these armangements did not cxceed four years
and the maximum amouni of future payments we have guaranteed was $1.2 million. In addition, we guarantee a leasc resulting from an exited facility. As of
May 26, 2019, the remaining term of this amangement did rot exceed cight years and the maximum amount of future payments we have guaraniced was
S19.1 million.

We also guarantee an obligation of the Lemb Weston business pursuant 1o a guarantee amangement that existed prior to the SpinofT and remained in
place iollowing completion of the Spinofl until such guarantee obligation is substituted for guarantees issued by Lamb Weston. Pursuant to the sepamtion
and distribution agreement, dated as of November &, 2016 {the "Sepamation Agreement"), between us and Lamb Weston, this guarantee arangement is deemed
a liability of Lamb Weston that was translerred to Lamb Weston as part of the Spinoff. Accordingly, in the event that we are required lo make any payments ag
a result of this guaranice amngement, Lamb Weston is obligated to indemnify us for any such liability, reduced by any insumnce proceeds received by us, in
accordance with the terms of the indemnification provisions under the Separation Agreement,

Lamb Weston is a party to an agricultural sublcase agreement with a third party for certain farmland through 2020 (subjcct, at Lamb Weston's option, to
exlension for two addilional five-year periods). Under the terms of the sublease agreement, Lamb
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Weslon is required to make certain rental payments to the sublessor. We have guaranteed Lamb Weston's performance and the payment of all amounts
{including indemnification obligations) owed by Lamb Weston under the sublease agreement, up to a maximum of $75.0 million, We believe the farmland
associaled with this sublease agreement is readily marketable for lease to other arca farming operators. As such, we believe that any firancial exposure 1o the
company, in Lthe event that we were required to pedform under the guaranty, would be largely mitigated.

The obligations and commitments 1ables above do not include any reserves for uncertainties in income taxes, as we are unable to reasonably estimate the
ultimate amount or liming of settlement of our reserves for income taxes. The liability for gross unrecognized tax benefits at May 26, 2019 was $44.1 million.
The net amount of unrecognized lax benefits at May 26, 2019, that, if recognized, would lavorably impact our elfective 1ax rate wos $37.3 million.
Recognition ol these tax benefils would have a avorable impact on our effective tax rate.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The process of preparing financial statements requires the usc of estimaics on the part of management. The estimates used by management are based on
our historical expenences combined with management's understanding of current facts and circumstances. Cenain of our accounting estimates are considered
critical as they are both imponant 1o the porrayal of our linancial condition and results and require significant or complex judgment on the pan of
management. The {ollowing is a summary of cenain accounting estimates considered eritical by management.

Qur Audit/Finance Cominiitce has reviewed management's development, selection, and disclosure of the crilieal accounting esiimates.

Marketing Cosrs—We offer various forms of trade premations which arc mostly recorded as a reduction in revenue. The methodologies for determining
these provisions are dependent on local custemer pricing and promotional praclices, which range ffom contractually fixed percentage price reductions to
pravisions based on actual occurrence or performance. Our promotional activities are conducted ¢ither through the retail trde or directly with consuniers and
include activities such as in-store displays and cvents, feature price discounts, consumer coupons, and loyally programs. The costs of these activitics are
recognized as a reduction of revenue at the time the related revenue is recorded, which nonmally precedes the actuai cash expenditure. The recognition ot
these costs, thercfore, requires management judgment regarding the volume of promotional offers that will be redeemed by either the retail trade or consumer.
These estimates arc made using various techniques including histerical data on performance of similar promotional progmms. Diflerences between estimated
expensc and actual redemptions are recognized as a change in management estimate in a subsequent period.

We have recognized irade promotion liabilities of $143.6 million as of May 26, 2019. Changes in the assumptions used in estimating the cost of any
individual customer marketing program would not result in a material change in our results of operations or cash flows.

Income Taxes—Our income tax expense is based on our income, statutory tax rates, and tax planning opportunities available in the varous jurisdictions
in which we operate. Tax laws arc complex and subjecct o different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental laxing authorilies.
Significant judgment is required in determining our income tax cxpense and in evalualing our tax positions. including evaluating uncerainties.
Management reviews tax positions at lcast quorter]ly and adjusts the balances az new information becomes available. Deferred income tax assets represent
amounts available 10 reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years. Such nssets arise because of temporary differences beiween the 1ax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carying amounts in our consolidated balance shects, as well as from nct operating loss and tax credit camyforwards.
Management evaluates the rccovenability of these future tax deductions by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sourges,
including reversal of taxable temporury differences, forecasted operating camings, and available tax planning strategies. These estimates of future taxable
income inherently require significant judgment. Management uses historical experience and shon and long-range business forecasts to develop such
estimates. Further, we employ varous prudent and feasible tax planning simtegies 1o facilitate the recoverability of future deductions. To the extent
macagement does not consider it morce likely than not that a deferred tax assel will be recovered, a valuation allowance is established.

Further information on income taxes is provided in Note 15 "Pre-tax Income and Income Taxes™ 10 the consolidated financial slatements contained in
this report.

Environmental Liabllities—Environmental liabilitics arc accrued when it is probable that obligations have been incurred and the associated amounts
can be reasonably estimated. Management works with independent third-panty specialists in order
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1o elfectively assess our environmental liabilities. Management estimates our environmental liabilities based on evaluation of investigatory swdies, extent of
required clean-up, our known volumetrie contribution, otlier potentially responsible parties. and our expericnce in remediating sites. Environmental liability
estimates may be affected by changing governmenial or other extemal determinations of what constitules an environmental liability oran acceptable level of
clean-up. Management's estimate as to our potential liability is independent ol any polential recovery of insuranee proceeds or indemnification
amngements. nsurance companies and other indemnitors are notified of any potential claims and periodically updated as to the general siatus of known
claims. We do not discount our environmental habilities as the timing of the anticipated cash payments is not fixed or readily determinable. To the extent
that there arc chaoges in the evaluation facioms identified above, management's estimate ol environmental liabilities may also chaoge.

We have recopgnized a reserve ol approximately 556.8 million for environmental liabilitics as of May 26, 2019, The rescrve for each sile is determined
based on an assessment of the most likely required remedy and a related estimate of the costs required o effect such remedy.

Employment-Related Benefiss—\We incur certain employment-related expenses associated with pensions, postretirement health care benefits. and
workers' compensation. in order to measure the annual expense associated with these employment-refated benefits, management must make a varety of
cstimates including, but not limited Lo, discount mtes used to measure the present value of cerlain liabilities, assumed rates of retutn on asse(s set aside o
fund these¢ cxpenses, compensalion increases, employee tumaver rales, anticipated morality rates, anlicipated health care costs, and employee accidents
incurred but not yct reported to us. The estimates used by management are based on our historical experience as well as current facts and circumstances. We
use third-party specialists lo assist management in appropdately measuring the expensc associaled wilth these employment-related benefits. Diflerent
eslimates used by management could result in us recognizing different amounts of expense over different periods of time.

Beginning in fiscal 2017, the Company has clected 1o usc a split discount mte (the "spot-rate approach"} for the U.S. plans and cenain forcign plans.
Historically, a single weighted-average discount rate was used in the calculation of service and interest costs, both of which are camponents of pension
benefit costs. The spot-rate approach applies separate discount rates for each projected benefit payment in the calculation of pension service and interest cost.
This change is considered a change in accounting estimate and has been applied prospectively. The pre-tax reduction in to1al pension benelit cosl associated
with this change in fiscal 2017 was approximately $27.0 mitlion.

We have recognized a pension liability of $192.9 million and $171.5 million, a postretirement liability of $90.6 million and $118.2 million, and a
workers' compensation liability of $61.1 million and $39.4 million, as of the end of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively. We also lave recognized o pension
asset of'$61.2 million and $i03.0 million as of the end of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively, as cenain individual plans of the Company had a positive
funded status.

We recognize cumulative changes in the fair value of pension plan asscis and net actuarial gains or losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the fair value
of plan assets or the plan's projected benefit obligation ("the comdor") in current period expense annually as of our measurement date, which is our fiscal
year-end, or when measurement is required otherwise under U.S. GAAP.

We recognized pension benefit, including activities of discontinued operations, from Company plans of $22.7 million, $56.1 million, and $12.9 million
in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Such amounts reflect the year-end write-ofT of actuarial losses in excess of 10% of our pension liability of $5.1
million, $3.4 million, and $1.2 million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. This also reflected expected relums on plan assets of $174.4 million,
$218.3 mullion, and 52074 million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. We conlributed § 14.7 million, $312.6 million, and $163.0 million to the
pension plans of our continuing operations in tiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. We anticipate contribuling approximately $ 14,2 million to our
pension plans in fiscal 2020.

One significant assumption for pension plan accounting is the discount rate. We use a spol-rate approach, discussed above. This approach focuses on
mcasuring the service cost and terest cosl components ol net periodic benefit cost by using individual spot mtes derived from a high-quality corporate
bond yicld curve and matched with separate cash flows for each future yearinsiead of'a single weighted-average discount rate approach,

Based on this information, the discount rute selecled by us for detemmination of pension expense was 4.15% for fiscal 2019, 3 90% for fiscal 2018, and
3.83% for fiscal 2017. We selected a weighted-avemge discount rate of 4.04% and 3.51% for determinalion of service and inlerest expense, respectively, for
fiscal 2020. A 25 basis point increase in our discount rate assumption as of the ¢nd of fiscal 2019 would have resulted in on increase of $4.0 million in our
pension expense for fiscal 2019. A 25 basis point decrease in our discount rate assumption as of the end of fiscal 2019 would have resulted in a decrease
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of $4.3 million in our pension expense for fiscal 2019. For our yearcnd pension obligation detcrmination, we selected discount rates of 3.88% and 4.14% for
fiscal years 2019 and 2018, respeetively.

Another significant assumption used to account for our pension plans is the expected long-term rate of retumn on plan assets. In developing the assumed
long+em rate of retum on plan assets for determining pension expense, we consider long-term historical retums (arithmetic average) of the plan's
investments, the asset allocation among typcs of investments, estimated lang-term retums by investment type from extemal sources, and the current
cconomic cnvironment. Based on this information, we sclected 5.17% for the weighted-average expected long-erm mie of retum on plan assets lor
determining our fiscal 2019 pension expense, A 25 basis peint increase/decrease in our weighted-average expected long-term rate of return assumption as of
the beginning of fiscal 2019 would decrease/increase annual pension expense for our pension plans by $8.2 million. We selecied o weighted-averape
cxpected rate of retum on plan assets 0f4.77% to be used 1o determine our pension expense for fiscal 2020. A 25 basis point increase/decrease in our
expected long-term rate of return assumption as of the beginning of fiscal 2020 would decrcase/increase annual pension expense for our pension plans by
$8.8 million.

During fiscal 2018, we approved an amendment of our salaried and nan-qualified pension plans. The amendment froze the compensation and service
periods used to calculate pension benefits for active employees who panticipate in those plans. As a resull of this amendment, we changed our salaried and
non-qualilied pension asset investmend strategy (o align our related pension plan asscts with our projected benefit obligation to reduce volatility.

In October 2016, The Sociely of Actuaries' Retirement Plan Expericnce Committee published updated monalily improvement scales and recommended
their use with base montality tables for the measurement of U.S. pension plan obligations. Wiih the assislance of our third-party actuary, in measudng our
pensicn obligations as of May 28, 2017, we incorpormed a revised improvement scale Lo be used with our curment basec mortality tables that generelly reflect
the monality improvement inherent in these new rables.

During 2018, we conducted a mortality cxperience study and, with the assistance of our third-party actuary, adopted new company-specific mortality
tables used in measuring our pension obligations as of May 27, 2018. In addition, we incorporated a revised monality improvement scale o be used with the
new company-specific mortality tables that reflects the meorlality improvement inherent in these tables.

We also provide cenain postretirement health care benefits. We recognized postretirement benefit expense (benefit) of S (1.3 million, §0.7 miltion, and
$(1.2) million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. We reilected liabilitics of $90.6 million and $118.2 million in our balance sheels as of May 26,
2019 and May 27, 2018, respectively. We anticipate contrbuting approximately $10.8 million to our postretirement health care plans in fiscal 2020.

The postretirement benefit expense and obligation are also dependent on our assumptions used for the actuarially determined amounts. These
assumptions include discount rates (discussed above), health care cost trend rates, inflation rates. retirement rates, mortality rates (alse discussed above), and
other factors. The health care cost trend assumptions are developed based on histerical cost data, the near-1erm outlook, and an assessment of likely long-termt
trends. Assumed inflation mtes are based on an evalvation of extemal market indicators. Retirement and mortality rales are based primarily on actual plan
experience, The discount rate we selecied for determination of postretirement expense was 3.81% for fiscal 2019, 3.33% for fiscal 2018, and 3.18% for fiscal
2017. We have sclected a weighted-average discount rate of 3.48% for determination of postretiement cxpense for fiscal 2020, A 25 basis point
increase/decrease in our discount rate assumption as of the beginning of fiscal 2018 would not have resulied in 2 material change (o postretirement expense
for our plans. We have assumed the initial year increase in cost of health care to be 7.20%, with the trend rate decreasing 10 4.5% by 2024, A one perecntoge
paint change in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have the following effects:

Onc Percent Onc Percent
{S In millions) Increase Decrease
Eftect on Lotal service and interest cost 1y 0.1 8 0.1
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 1.5 (13

We provide workers' compensation benefits 1o our employees. The measurement of the liability for our cost of providing these benefits is largely based
upon actuarial analysis of costs. One significant assumption we make is the discount mie used 1o calculate the present value of our obligation. The weighted-
average discount rafe used at May 26, 2019 was 2.48%. A 235 basis point increase/decrease in the discount rate assumption would not have a malerial impact
on workers' compensation expense or the liability.
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Business Combinations, Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (including property, plant and equipment), Ideniifiable Intangible Assers, and Goodwill—
We usc the acquisition methed in accounting for acquired businesses. Under the acquisition method, our financial statements reflect the operetions of an
acquired business starting from the closing of the acquisition. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective estimated Fair values
at the date of the acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Significant judgment is often required in estimating the fair value of ussets acquired, particulady intangible asscts. As a result, in the case of significant
acquisilions we nommally oblain the assistance of a third-parly valuation specialist in estimating tair values of tangible and intangible asscts. The fair value
estimates are based on available historical information and on expeciations and assumptions about the future, considering the perspeetive of marketplace
participants. While management believes those expectations and assumplions are reasonable, they are inherently uncenain. Unanticipated market or
macrocconomic events and circumstances may occur, which could affect the accuracy or validily of the estimates and assumptions.

We reduce the cammying ameunts of long-lived assets (including property, plant and equipment) to their fair values when their carrying amount is
determined to nol be recoverable. We generally compare undiscounted estimated future cash flows of an asset or asset group to the carmrying values of the
asset ot assct group, If the undiscounted estimated future cash flows excced the camying values of the asset or asset group, no impainment is recognized. I the
undiscounted estitnated future cash flows are less than the camying values of the nsset or asset group, we write-dovwn the asset or assets (o their estimated lair
values. The estimates of fair value are generally in the form of appraisal, or by discounting estimated future cash flows ofthe asset or assct group.

Determining the useful lives of intangible assets also requires management judgment. Certain brand inlangibles are expected to have indefinite lives
based on their history and our plans to continue to support and build the acquired brands, while otheracquired intangible assets {¢.g., customer relationships)
are expected to have detenminable usefil lives. Our estimates of the useful lives of definite-lived intangible assets are primanly bascd upon historical
experience, the compelitive and macroeconomic envirorment, and our operating plans. The costs ol definite-lived intangibles are amonized to expensc over
their estimated life.

We reduce the camrying amounts of indefinite-ived intangible asseis, and goodwill to their fair values when the fair value of such asscts is detemmincd o
be less than their carrying amounts {i.c., assets are deemed 1o be impaired). Fair value is typically estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis, which
requires us to estimale the future cash flows anticipnted 1o be generaled by the panticular asset being tested for impaimment as well as 1o select a discounl rate
to measure the present value of the anticipated cash flows. When determining future cash flow esiimates, we consider historical results adjusted 10 reflect
current and anticipated operating conditions. Estimating future cash flows requires stgniftcant judgment by management in such arcas as future economic
conditions, industry-specific conditions, product pricing, and necessary capital expenditures. The use of different assumptions or cstimates for future cash
flows could produce different impairment amounts {or nene at all) for long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets.

In assessing other intangible assets not subject to amortization for impainment, we have the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine
whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is mare likcly than not that the fair value of such an intangible asset is less
than its carrying amount. If we determine that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of such an intangible asset is less than ils carying amount, then
we are not required 1o perform any additional tests for assessing intangible assels for impairment. However, if we conclude otherwise or elect not Lo pedorm
the qualitative assessment, then we are required (o perform a quantitative impairment test that involves a comparison of the estimaied fair value of the
intangible asset with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impainnent loss is recognized in an amount
equal to that excess.

If we perform a quantitative impaiment test in evaluating impainment of our indefinite lived brands/trademarks. we utilize a "relief from royaly"
methadology. The methodology determines the fair value of each brand through use of a discounted cash flow model that incorporates an estimated "royalty
rate" we would be able 1o charge a third party for the use of the panticular brand. When determining the future cash flow estimatcs, we estimaie fulure net sales
and a fair market royally mte for cach applicable brand and an appropriate discount rate to measure Lthe present value of the anticipated cash flows. Estimating
future net sales requires significant judgment by management in such arcas as fulure economic conditions, producl pricing, and consumer irends. ln
determining an appropriate discount rate to apply to the estimated future cash flows, we consider the current interest mte environment and our estimated cost
of capital.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment of valuc and whenever cvents or changes in eircumstances indicate the camrying amount of the asset may be
impaired. A significant amount of judgment is invelved in determining if an indicator of impairment
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has occurred. Such indicators may include deteriorntion in general economic conditions, adverse changes in the markets in which an entity operates,
increases in input costs that have negative effects on eumings and cash flows, or a trend of negative or declining cash flows over mulliple periods, among
others. The (air value that could be realized in an actual transaction may differ from that used to cvaluate the impainnent of goodwili.

In testing goodwill for impairment, we have the option to first assess qualitative factars o detemmine whether the existence of cvents or circumstances
leads to a determination that it is more likely than not {more than 50%) that the estimated fair value ol a reporting unil is less than its cammying amount. [f we
elect ta perform a qualitative assessment and determine that an impainnent is more likely than not, we are then required to perform a quantitative impairment
test, otherwise no lurther analysis is required. We also may elecl not to perform the qualitative assessment and, instead, proceed directly to the quaatitative
impairment test.

Under the qualitative assessment, various events and circumstances that would affect the estimated tair value of a reperting unit are identified (similar to
impairment indicators abovc). Furthermore, management considers the resulis of the most recent two-step quantitative impaiment test completed for a
reporting unit and compares the weighted average cost of capital between the curment and prior years for each reporting unit.

Under the quantitative impainnent test. the evaluation involves comparing the cument fair value of each reporting unit to its canying value, including
goodwill. Fair value is typically cstimated using a discounted cash flow analysis, which requires us 10 cstimate the future cash flows anticipated to be
penerated by the reponting unit being tested for impairment as well as (o select a risk-adjusted discount rate to measure the present value of the anticipated
cash 1lows. When determining future cash flow estimaltes, we consider historical results adjusted 1o reflect current and anticipated operating conditions. We
cstimate cash ftows tor the reporting unit over a discrele period (Lypically four or five years) and the terminal perod (considering expected long lerm prowth
rates and trends). Estimating future cash flows requires significant judgment by management in such arcas as future cconomic conditions, industry-specific
counditions, product pricing. and nccessary capital cxpenditures. The use of diffierent assumptions or estimates for future cash flows or significant changes in
nsk-adjusted discount rates duc to changes in market conditions could produce substantially different estimates of the fair value of the reporting unit.

Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, 1f the carrying value of a reporting unil cxcceded its fair value, we completed a sccond step of the Lest o
determine the amount of goadwill impaimment loss, if any, to be recognized. In the second step, we estimated an implied fair value of the reporting unit's
goodwill by nllocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities other than goodwill (including any unrecognized intangible
assets). The impairment loss was equal to the cxcess of the camrying value of the goodwill over the implied fair value of thal goodwill. As a resull of adopling
Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2017-04, Simplifying the Tesi for Goodwill impairment, beginoing in the fourth quaner of liscal 2017, if the camrying
valuc of'a reporting unit cxceeds its fair value, we recognize an impainnent loss equal to the difference between the carrying value and estimated fair value of
the reporting unit.

As of May 26, 2019, we have goodwill of $11.50 billion, indefinite-lived intangibles of $3.68 billion. and definite-lived intangibles of $983.4
million. The amount of goodwill and intangibles increased significantly during fiscal 2019 as a result of the Pinnacle acquisition. During fiscal 2020, as pan
of our organizalional realignment and integration activities, we intend to allocale Pinnacle intangibles to the applicable Conagra repoiting units.
Historically, we have expericnced impairments in brand intangibles and goodwill as a result of declining sales and other economic conditions. For inslance,
in fiscal 2019 we recorded total intangibles impairments of $89.6 million, primarily related to our Chef Boyardee® brand intangible. With the addition of
Pinnacle intangibles, we have significant indefinite-lived brand intangibles such as Birds Eye®, Duncan Hines®, and Wishhone®, among others, that were
recorded at fair value in purchase accounting. Accordingly, we could be more susceptible to impaimment charges in the future if our long-term sales forecasts
and other assumptions change as a resull of lower than expecled performance or other economic conditions. We cumrently believe that the fair value of each
intangiblc asset equals or exceeds its camrying value.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") 1ssued ASU 2016-02, Leases, Topic 842, which requires lessees 1o reflect most
leases on their balance sheet as assets and obligations. The eftective date for the siandard is for fiscal years beginning afler December 15, 2018. Early
adoption is permitted. We arc cvaluating the efTect that this siandard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosurcs. We have
identified an accounting system to support the future state lease accounting process and continue (o develop Lthe future state process design as pant of the
overall system implementation. We have populated the accounting systemn with lease data and have validated the completeness and accuracy of such data.
We expect the adoption of this standard 1o result in an increase in total assets and liabilities related to operating
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leases that arc cunently not recorded on our consolidated balance sheet, however, we do nol expect there to be a material impact to our eamings or cash
flows. See Notc 16 "Leases™ to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report for the total amount of our noncancelable operating lcuse
commitments. The standard can be applied using the modified retrospective method or entitics may also eleet the optional transition method provided under
ASU 2018-11, Leases, Topic 842: Targeted Improvement, issucd in July 2018, allowing for application of the standard at the adoption date, with recogaition
of'a cumulative-cfect adjustment to the opening balance of retained carnings in the period of adoption. We will adopt this ASU on (he first day of our fiscal
year 2020 using the optional transition method and will elect cenain practical expedients permitied under the transition guidance, inciuding not reassessing
whether existing contracls contain leases and carrying forward the historical classification of leases.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No., 2018-15, fniungibles-Gondwill and Other-Intermal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting
for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arvangement That Is u Service Conrract, which aligns the requirements for capitalizing
implementation costs incurred in a hosting armangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incumed to
develop or obtain intemal-use software (and hosting amangements that include an intemal-use software license). The effective date for the standard is for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitled. The amendments in this ASU
should be applicd eilher retrospeclively or prospeclively 1o all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. We do not expect ASU 2018-15 10
have a material impact 1o our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

ITEM TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The principal market risks affecling us during fiscal 2019 and 2018 were exposures to price fluctuations of commmedity and energy inputs, interest rates,
and forcign currencics.,

Commodity Market Risk

We purchase commodity inpuis such as wheat, com, cats, soybean meal, soybean oil, meat, dairy products, nuts, sugag, natural gas, electricity, and
packaging marerals to be used in our operations. These commaditics are subject to price {luctuations that may create price nisk. We enler inlo commodity
hedges 1o manage this price risk using physical forward contracts or derivative instruments. We have policies govemning the hedging instruments our
businesscs may use. These policies inelude limiting the dollar sk exposure for cach of cur businesses, We also mionitor the amount of associzred eounter-
party credit risk for all non-cxchange-traded transactions.

Interest Rate Risk

We may use interesl rate swaps to manage the effect of interest rate changes on the fair value of our existing debt as well as the forecasted interest
payments for the anticipated issuance of debt.

As of May 26,2019 and May 27, 2018, the fair value of our long-erm debt (including current installments) was estimated at $11.24 billion and $3.76
billion. respectively, based on curment market rates. As of May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018, a 1% increase in interest rates would decrease the fair value of our
fixed rate debt by approximately $637.7 mmillion and $168.1 million, respectively, while a 1% decrease in interest rates would increase the fair value of our
fixed rate debt by approximately $724.7 million and $185.7 miliion, respectively.

Fereign Currency Risk

In order to reduce cxposures for our processing zctivities related 1o changes in foreign cumency exchange raes, we may cater into forward cxchange or
oplion contracts for transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency for certain of our operations. This activity primarily relates to
economically hedging against foreign currency nisk in purchasing inventory and capital equipment, sales of fintshed goods, and future settlement of foreign
denominated assets and liabilities.

Value-at-Risk (VaR)

We employ various Lools to monitor our derivative risk, including value-at-risk {"VaR") models. We perform simutations using historical data to estimate
potential losses in the fair value of current derivative positions. We use price and volatility information for the prior 90 days in the calculation of VaR that is
used to monitor our daily risk. The purposc of this mcasurement
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is 10 provide a single view of the potential risk of loss associated with derivative positions ai a given point in time based on recent changes in markel prices.
Our mode! uses a 95% confidence level. Accordingly, in any given one-day time period, losses greater than the amounts included in the table below are
expected to occur only 5% of the time. We include commodity swaps, futures. and options and forcign exchange forwards, swaps, and options in this
calculation. The lollowing table provides an overvicw of our average daily VaR for our erergy, agriculture, and foreign exchange positions for fiscal 2019

and 2018.

In Millions

Processing Activities
Energy commodities
Agricullure comumodities
Other commodities
Forcign exchange

Fair Value Impact

Average Average
During the Fiscal Year Ended May  Durlng the Fiscal Year Ended May
26, 2019 27, 2018
$ 04 $ 0.2
0.4 04
0.1 —
0.7 0.7
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Conagra Brands, 1oc. and Subsldiarles
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(o millions, except per share amounts)

Nel sales
Costs and cxpenses:
Cost of goods sold
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Pension and postretireinent non-service income
Interest expense, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity method investment
camings
Income lax expense
Equity method investment eamings
Incame from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations. net of tax
Net income
Less: Net incomie attibutable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to Conagra Brands, Inc.
Earnings per share — hasic

Income from continuing operations aitributable to Conagra Brands, Inc. common
stockholders

Income frem discontinued opcrations atiributable to Conagra Brnds, Inc. common
slockholders

Nct income attributable to Conagra Brands, Inc. common stockholders
Earnings per share —dlluted

Income from continuing operations attribulable to Conagr Brands, [nc. common
stockholders

Income (loss) from discontinued operations atinbutable to Conagra Brands, Inc. common
stockholders

Net income atlributable to Conagra Brands, Inc. common stockholders

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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For the Fiscal Years Ended May

2019 2017

s 95384 8 79383 7,826.9
6,885.4 55868 54831

1,473.4 1,398.4 1,474.0
(35.1) (80.4) (55.2)

391.4 158.7 195.5

823.3 874.8 729.5

218.8 174.6 254.7

758 973 712

680.3 797.5 546.0

(1.9) 143 102.0

$ 6784 S 211.8 648.0
0.l 34 8.7

s 6783 S 808.4 639.3
S 153§ 1.97 1.26
— 0.03 022

3 1.53 S 2.00 | 48
$ 153§ 195 1.25
{000 0.03 0.21

$ 152§ 1.98 P46




Conagra Brands, Inc. and Subsldiarics
Consolidated Statemenis of Comprehenslve Income
(in millions)

For the Flscal Years Eoded May

1019 2018 017
Tax Tox Tax
Pre-Tax (Expense)  After-Tax Pre-Tax {Expense)  Afler-Tax Pre-Tax {Expense)  Afler-Tax
Amount Benelit Anount Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefn Amount
Net wcome $ 9000 S (321.6) 5 6784 5 9723 5§ {160.5) S RILL.A § 6392 § (341.2) §  &48.0
Other comprehensive income:
Derivative adjustments:
Unrealized derivative adjustaents 455 (11.4) AR 29 0.9) 20 1.0 0.4 (0.6)
Reclassification for derivative adjustments
included in ner income (1.9 0.5 (1.4) 0.1 —_ 0.1 {0.2) 0.1 0N
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale sccuriies — — —_— 1.1 (0.3) 08 a.5 0. 0.3
Currency wranslatron adjusment:
Unrealized currency translation gains
(losses) {10.2) — (10.2) 0.8 (0.1 0.7 (13.6) 0.2 (13.4)
Reclassification for currency transiation
losses included in net income 10.4 — 10.4 — — — — — —

Pensien and post-employment benefit abhigotians:

Unrealized penston and post-employment
benefit obligations {43.8) 10.9 (32.9) 157.3 {45.0) 112.3 209.2 {R0.6) 128.6

Reclassification far pension and post-
cmployment benetit obligations included in

nel ingame (1.3) 04 (1.1) 0.9 (9.2) 0.7 10.4 {4.0) 6.4
Comprehensive income 898.5 (221.2) 6773 11354 (207.0) 928.4 1.194.5 {425.3) 769.2
Comprehensive income (boss) atributable o
rnoncontrolting interests (1.7 0.3 (1.4) 0.7 {1.2) (0.5) 12.6 (0.7 119
Comprehensive ineome attributable 1o Conapgra Brands,
In¢. $ %002 § (221.1) 8 6791 S 1,137 § (205.8) 8§ 9289 S LIRI9 § (424.6) 8 7573

The accompanying Notes are an integra! part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Canagra Brands, Inc. and Subsidlaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions, except share data)

May 16, May 27,
2019 2018
ASSETS
Current asscls
Cash and cash equivalents s 2366 8 128.0
Receivables, less allowonce for doubtful aceounts of $3.3 and 51.7 831.7 569.4
Inventorics 1.571.7 088.7
Prepaid expenses and other current assels 93.8 1849
Current assets held for sake — 67.9
Total current assels 27338 1,938.9
Property, plant and equipnent
Land and land improvements 144,1 107.1
Buildings. machinery and equipment 4,013.9 3,205.9
Furniture, fixtures, office equiproent and other 678.2 610.2
Consfruction in progress 1739 85.3
5,011 4.008.5
Less accunmulated depreciation (,614.8) (2,419.0)
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,395.3 1,589.5
Goodwill 11,495.6 44874
Brands, trademarks and other intangibles, net 4.661.4 1,282.8
Other psscts 915.5 906.3
Noncurrent asscts held tor sale 8.2 184.6
S 22,2138 § 10,389.5
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilitics
Notes payable Y 10 % 2773
Curvent installments of long-term debt 20.6 307.0
Accounts payable 1,255.3 905.3
Accrued payroll 174.1 161.7
Other accrued liabilities 691.6 671.0
Cumenl liabilities held for sale — 13.9
Total current liabilities 2,142.6 2,336.2
Senior long-term deby, excluding current inswallinents 10,459.8 30336
Subordinaied debt 195.9 195.9
Other nomcurrent linbilities 1.551.8 1,060.8
Noncurrent liabiliues held for sale — 4.4
Total liabilities 14,7501 6,632.9
Commitments and contingencics (Note [7)
Comnman stockholders' equity
Cammon stock of 35 par value, anthorized 1,200,000.000 shares; issucd 584,219,229 2,921.2 2,819.7
Additiona paid-in capital 2,286.0 1.180.0
Retained camings 5,0419 47449
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (110.3) (110.5)
Less treasury stock, at cost, 98,133,747 and 177,078,193 commeon shares (2,760.2) {2.977.9)
Total Conagra Brands, Inc. common stockholders’ equity 71846 16762
Noncontrolling interests 79.1 80.4
Total stockhobders” equity 74637 3,756.6
s 122138 S8 10,389.5

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the consolideted financial statements.
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Balance at May 29, 2016

Stock option and incentive plans
Adaption of ASU 2016-09

Spinoff of Lamb Weston

Currency translation adjustment. net
Repurchase of conunon shares
Unrealized gain on securities

Derivative adjustment. newof
reclassification adjusument

Activilies of noncontrolling
interests

Pension and postretirement
healthcare benefis

Dividends declared on common
stock; §0.90 per share

Net income atributable 1o Conagra
Brands, Inc,

Balance at May 18, 2017

Stock option and incenlive plans
Spinaff of Luinb Weston

Adaption of ASU 2018-02
Currency translation adjustment, net
Repurchase of commaon shares
Unrealized gain on securities

Derivative adjusiment, net of
reclassification adjustment

Activities of noncontrolling
interests

Pension and pastretirement
healthcare benefits

Nividends declared on commen
stock; $0.85 per share

Net income suributable to Canagra
Brands, [nc.

Rulance 21 May 17, 2018

Stock oplion and incensive plans
Adaption of ASU 2016-01
Adaplion of ASU 2014-09
Currency manslation adjustment, nef
[ssuance of reasury shares

Isquancc of common stack

Derivalive adjustment, net of’
reclassification adjustment

Activities ol noncoatralling
interests

Pension and posirelirement
healtheare benefis

Dividends declared on common
stock; $0.85 per share

Net income atinbutable to Canagra
Brands, Tne.

Balance at May 26, 1019

Conagra Brands, Inc. and Subsldiaries
Consolidated Statements of Common Stockholders' Equity

(in millions)

Conagra Brands, Inc. Stockholders' Equity

Accamulated
Additienal Cther

Common Commeon Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Nencontrolllng Taal

Shares Stock Capltal Earnings locame {Loss) Stock Interesta Equity
5679 § 28397 § 11363 S 32183 § (344.5)  3(3.1362) § 32§ 3,7948
A6.4 (1.3) 1.1 116.4
1% 39

7833 1.6 796.9
(16.6) 32 (13.4)
(1,000.0) (1.000.0)

0.3 0l
0.7 (0.7)

(3.8} 2.6 1.8

1350 135.0
{3387y (388.7)

639.3 639.3

567.9 2,839.7 1,171.9 4,247.0 (212.9) {4,054.9) 87.0 4,077.8
10.0 (0.8} 443 0.2 537

14.8 14.8

17.4 (17.4) —

1.6 {3.9) 0.7
{967.3) (967.0)

0.8 6.8

21 2.1
{1.9) (0.7} (2.9 {5.5)

113.0 113.0
(341.9) (311.9)

808.4 4084

567.9 2.339.7 1,180.0 4,7449 (110.5) (4,977.9) 80.4 3.756.6
67N 0. 196 01 331

0.6 {0.6) —

0.5 0.5

2.1 (1.9) 0.2

638.2 21781 2,816.3

16.5 815 474 2 555.7
327 a7

0.3 0.5 0.3
{34.0) 34.0)
(176.5) (376.5)

678.3 678.3

j#42 5 29212 § 2,2860 S 50479 % (110.3)y  $¢2,760.1) $ 79.1 S 74637

The accompanying Notes are an integral pan of the consolidated financial staiements.
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Conagra Brands, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolldated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)

Cash flows lrem opcrating aclivilics:

Net income

[ncame (loss) fram discontinued vperations

fncome from continuing operations

Cash

Cash

Adjustinenis to reconcile income from cantinuing operations wo net cash flows from operating activities:
Deprecialion and amartizalicn
Asset impairment churges
Gain on diveslitures
Lease cancellation expenss
Lusy on extinguithment of debt
Signifscant linigation aceruals
Proceeds from the scitleinent of interest rate swaps
Novation of a legacy guarantee
Earnings of affiliates in excess of distributions
Stack-seitled share-based payments expense
Contributions ta pension planx
Pension benefit
Other items

Change in aperating asscis and liahilities excluding cffects of business acquisitions and digpositions:

Receivables
inventarics
Deferred income taxes nnd income Laxes payable, net
Prepaid expenscs and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Other accrued liabilitics
Nel cash flows from operating activilies - conlinuing operations
Net cash flows from operating sctivilics = disconlinued operations
Nel cash Mows from operating activilies

flows (rom investing activitics:

Additions to property, plant and equipmeni

Sale of properry, plant and equipment

Purchase of business, net of cash acquired

Procceds from divestitures, nct of cash diveaed

Purchase of marketable securities

Sales ol marketable securitics

Other ilems
Net cash Mows from investng aclivilies - conlinuing operatons
Net cash flows {rom investing activities - discontinued operations
Nel cash flows from investing activitics

flows from financing aciivities:

Net shon-term bozrowings {repayments)

Issuance of tang-term debt

Repaymenl of long-term debt

Debl issuartce costs and bridge financing fees

Payment of intangibk assct {inancing arrangement

Izsuance of Conogra Rrands, Inc. common shares, net

Repurchasc of Conagra Bronds, lnc. common shares

Cash dividends paud

Excrcisc of stock oplions and issuance of othier stock awards, including x withholdings
Other items

Net cash flows from financing acuvities - conlinuing op<rations

Faor the Fiscal Years Ended May

2019 2018 2017
6784 § RILR 8 648.0
(L9 14.3 102.0
630.3 797.5 546.0
3310 257.0 268.0
93.3 14.7 3433
(69.4) — (197.4)
— 482 —
5.5 — 93.3
(39.3) i51.0 —
47.5 — —
27.3) — _
(20.8) (34.8) (3.0
137 178 36.1
(14.7 (312.6) {163.0%
(227 (56.1) (21.4)
123 {34.0) 146
(69.1} (A.7 104.7
18.0 (62.5) 123.3
83.7 10.5 523
{19.1) 32 15.0
38.2 14439 71.0
0.1 (8.0 (52.4)
(9.4) (32.2) (114.9)
1.114.3 919.7 11355
2 345 34.7
1,125.5 954.2 1.170.2
(353.13 (251.6) (242.1)
225 3.0 13.2
(5,119.2) (337.1 (325.7)
281.5 — 189.0
{61.0 — —
522 — —
1.1 a5 53
(5,166.0) (576.2) (60.3)
— — (2
(5.,166.0) (576.2) {184.0)
(277.3) 249.1 143
8.310.5 800.0 —
(3.572.7) (242.3) (1.06+.5)
195.2) %)) —
{14.0) (14.4) (14.9)
555.7 — —
— (967.3) {1,000.0)
(356.2) (342.3) (415.0)
(L.6) 14.9 738
0.6 (L6) (1.9
4,149.8 (506.9) (2.408.2)



[ Net cash flows from financing activities - discontinued operations —_ — 839.1 l
Net cash flows from financing activilics 4,149.8 (506.9) (1.569.1

iE(chl of exchange rawe changes on cosh and cath equivalents and restricted cosh (0.7 5.5 (0_2)J
Net change in cash and cash equivalents and resiricted cash 108.6 (123.4')\ fSS]I. 1)

I Add: Cash buolance included in assets held for sale and discontinued operations at beginning of period — — 36.4 ]
Less: Cash balance included in asses keld for sale and discortinued operations at end ol period — — —

:Ci].\h and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 129.0 } 2524 799.1 l
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of ycar’ 5 2316 S 129.0 252.4

“The accompanying Notes gre an integral part of the consolidated financial statements:
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Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements
Fiscal Ycars Ended May 26,2019, May 27,2018, and May 28,2017
(columnar dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fiscal Year — The fiscal year of Conagra Brands, Inc. ("Conagra Brands", "Company", "we", "us”, or “our") ends the last Sunday in May. The fiscal years
far the consolidated financial statements presented consist ol 52-week periods for fiscal years 2019, 2018, and 2017,

Basis of Conselidation — The consolidaled financial statements include the accounts of Cenagra Brands, Inc. and all majority-owned subsidianies. In
addition, the accounts of all variable interest entities for which we have been delermined 1o be the primary beneficiary are included in our consolidated
financial statements fram the date such determination is made. All significant intercompany investments, accounts, and transactions have been climinated.

On November 9, 2016, we completed the spinoff of Lamb Weslon Holdings, Ine. ("Lamb Weston") through a distribution of 100% of our interest in Lamb
Weslon to holders of shares of our common stack as of November |, 2016 (the "Spinoff"). In accordance with U.S. gencrally accepted accounting principles
("U.S. GAAP"), the results of operations of the Lamb Weston operations are presented as discontinued operations and, as such, have been cxcluded from
continuing operations and scgment results for all periods presented (see Note 6 for additional discussion).

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates — The investments in, and the operating results of, 30%-or-less-owned enlities nol required 10 be consolidated
are included in the consolidated financia! statements on the basis of the equity method of accounting or the cost method of accounting. depending on
specific facts and circumstances.

We review our investments in unconsolidated affiliates for rmpaitinent whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the canying
amaunt ol the investments may not be tully recoverable. Evidence of'a luss in value that is other than temporary includes, but is not limited to, the absence of
an ability to recaver the cammying amount of the investment, the inability of the investee to sustain an eamings capacity which would justify the camying
amount of the investment, or, where applicable, estimaled sales proceeds which are insufficient to recover the camying amount of the investment.
Management's asscssment as lo whether any decline in value is other than temporary is based on our ability and intent to hold the investment and whether
evidence indicaling the camrying value of the invesiment is recoverable within a reasonable perod of (ime outweiphs evidence 10 the contrary. Management
generally considers our investments in equity method investees to be strategic long-term invesiments, Theretore. management completes its assessments with
a long-term vicwpoint. If the fair value of the investment is determined to be less than the camrying value and the decling in value is considercd to be atlier
than temporary, an appropriate wrile-down is recorded based on the excess of the carrying value over the best estimate of fair value of the investment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents— Cash and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition,
in¢luding short-tenn time deposits and govemment agency and corporate obligations, are classified as cash and cash equivalents.

Receivables — Receivables from customers gencrally do not bear interest. Temms and colleciion vary by location and channel. The allowance for
doubtful accounts represents our estimate of probable non-payments and credit losses in our existing receivables, as determined based on a review of past due
balances and other specific account data. Account balances are wntien off against the allowance when we deem them uncollectible.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - {Continued)
Fiscal Years Ended May 26,2019, May 27,2018, and May 28,2017
(calumnar dollars in mlllions except per share amounts)

The foliowing table details the balances of our allowance for doubttul accounts and changes therein:

Additlons
Balance at Charped Dreductions Balaace at
Bepinning to Costs aod fram Close of
of Periad Fxpenses Other Reserves Period
Year ended May 26.2019 S 1.7 0.6 16 M 06 1§ 33
Yearended May 27,2018 s 29 08 — 20 & % 1.7
Yearended May 28,2017 5 30 1.0 — ARSI 29

Y Primarily relates 1o the acquisition of Pinnacle,
@ Bad debts charged off and adjustments to previous reserves, less recoveries.

Inventories — We use the lower of cost {determined using the first-in, first-out method) or market for valuing inventories.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Propeny, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation has been calculated using the straighi-line method
aver the estimated useful lives of the respective classes of assets as follows:

Land improvements | - 40 years
Buildings 15 -40 years
Machinery and equipment 3 -20years
Fumiture, fixtures, office equipment and other 5-15 years

We review propenty, plant and equipment for impairment whetever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount ofthe
assets may nol be fully recoverable. Recoverability of an assel considered "held-and-used" is determined by comparing the canying amount of the asset 10 the
undiscounted net cash flows cxpected to be gencrated from the use of the asset. [f the camying amount is greater than the undiscounted net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset, the asset's carmying amount is reduced 10 its estimated fair value. An asset considered "held-for-sale” is reporied at the
lower of the asset's carrying amount or lair value.

Goodwill and Other Identiflable Intangible Asseis — Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives (e.g.. brands or trdemarks)
are not amortized and are tested annually for impairment of value and whenever cvents or changes in circumstances indicate the camying amount of the asset
may be impaired. A signtficant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of iinpaitment has occurred. Such indicators may inciude
deterioration in general economic conditions, adverse changes in the markets in which an entity operates, increases in input costs that have negative cflects
on eamings and cash flows, or a trend of ncgative or deciining cash [lows aver multiple periods, amang others. The fair value that could be realized in an
actual transaction may differ frem that used to evatuate the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets.

In testing goodwill for impaimment, we have the oplion Lo first assess qualitative factors Lo determine whether the exisience of events or circumstances
leads to a determination that it is more likely than not (inore than 50%) that the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than its camying amount. If we
elect to perform a qualitative assessment and determine that an impaiment is more likely than not, we are then required to perform a quantitative impairment
test, otherwise no funther analysis is required. We also may clect not to perfonn the qualitative assessment and, instead, procced direcily to the quantitative
iimpairment test.

Under the goodwill qualitative assessmens, vanous events and circumstances that would affect the estimated fair value of a reporting unit are identified
(similar t0 impaiment indicators above). Futhermore, management considers the resulls of the most recent quantitative impainment tesi completed for a
reporting unit and campares the weighted average cost of capital between the current and prior years for each reponting unit.

Under the goodwill quantitative impaimment Lest, the evaluation ol impairment involves companng the current fair value of cach reporting unit to its

canying value, including goodwill. We estimate the fair valuc using level 3 inputs as defined by the fair value hierarchy. Reler to Note 20 for the definition
of the levels in the fair value hierarchy. The inputs used to calculate
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Nates to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)
Fiscal Years Ended May 26,2019, May 27,2018, and May 28,2017
(columnar dollars in millions except per share amounts)

the fair valuc include a number of subjective factors, such as eslimates of future cash fMlows, estimates of our future cost structure, discount rates for our
estimated cash tlows, required level of working capital, assumed terminal value, and time horizon of cash flow forecasts. Prior to the fourth quarer of fiscal
2017, ilthe carrying value ol'a reperting unit exceeded its fair value, we completed a second step of the test to determine the amount of goodwill impairment
loss, if any, 10 be recognized. In the second step, we estimated an implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill by allocating the fair value of the
reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities other than goodwill {(including any unrecognized intangible asseis). The impairment loss was equal to the
excess of the carrying value of the goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill. Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, if the carrying value
ofl a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we recognize an impairment loss equal 1o the difference betwecen the carying value and cstimated fair value of the
reporting unit,

In assessing other intangible assets nol subject to amonization for impaimment, we have the option to perform a qualitative assessment to detcrming
whether the cxistence ol events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of such an imangible assct is less
than its carrying amount. I we determine that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of such an intangible assct is less than s carrying amount, then
we are not required to perform any additional tests for assessing intangible asscts for impairment. However, if we conclude otherwise or clect not 1o perform
the qualitative asscasment, then we are required to perform a quantitative impairment test that invelves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the
intangible asset with its carrying value. If the canying value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount
equal to that excess.

In iscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 we clected Lo perform a quantitative impairment test for other intangible assets not subject 1o amortization. The estimates
of fair value of intangible assets not subjcct Lo amortization are determined using a "relicf om royalty™ methodology, which is used in cstimating the fair
value of our brands/trademarks. Discount rate assumptions are bascd on an assessment of the risk inherent in the projected future cash flows generated by the
respectlive intangible nssets. Also subject 1o judgment are assumplions sboul royeliy rates.

[dentifiable intangible assets with delinite lives (e.g., licensing amangements with contraclual lives or customer relationships) are amonized over their
estimated usefir] lives and tested for impainment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may be impaired.
Identifiable intangible asscts with definite lives are evaluated for impairment using a process similar to that used in evaluating clements of property, plant
and equipment. Il impaired, the asset is written down to its fair value.

Referto Note 9 for discussion of the impatrment charges related to goodwill and intangible asscts in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017.
Fair Values of Financial Instrumensts — Unless otherwise specified. we believe the carrying value of financial instruments approximates their fair valuc.

Envirommental Liabilities — Environmenta! liabilitics are accrued when it is probable thar obligations have been incurred and the associaled amaunis
can be reasonably estimated. We use third-party specialists to assist management in appropriately measuring the obligations associated with environmental
liabilities. Such liabilities are adjusted as new informalion devclops or circumstances change. We do not discount our environmental liabilities as the timing
of the anticipated cash payments is not fixed or readily determinable. Management's estimate of our poteatial liability is independent of any potential
recovery of insurance proceeds ot indemnification arrangements. We do not reduce our environmental liabilitics for potenual insurance recoveries.

Employment-Related Benefirs — Employment-related benefits associated with pensions, postretirement health care benefits. and workers' compensation
arc capenscd as such obligations are incurred. The recognition of expense 15 impacted by estimates made by management, such as discount rates used (o
value these liabilities, future health care costs, and employee accidents incumred bul net yet repored. We use third-parly specialists to assist management in
appropriately measuring the obligations associated with employment-relaied benefits.

We recognize changes in the fair value of pension plan assets and net actuarial gains or losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the markct-related value
of plan asscts ar the plan's projecied benefit obligation (the "corridor™) in current period expense annually as of our measurement date, which is our tiseal
year-end, or when measurement is required otherwise under U.S. GAAP.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)
Fiscal Years Ended May 26,2019, May 27,2018, and May 28,2017
(columnar dollars in millians except per share amounts)

Revenue Recognition — Our revenues primarily consist of the sale of food products that are sold to retailers and foodservice customers through direct
sales forces, broker, and distributor amngemenls, These revenue contracts generally have single performance obligations. Revenue, which includes shipping
and handling charges billed lo the customer, is reported net of vanable consideration and consideration payable (o our customers, including applicable
discounts, returns, allowances, trade promotion, consumer coupon redemption, unsaleable product, and other costs. Amounts billed and due from our
customers are ¢lassified as receivables and require payment on a shoriHenm basis and, therefore, we do not have any significant financing compenents.

We recognize revenuc when {or as) performance obligations arc satisfied by transfeming control of the goods to customers. Control is transferred upon
delivery of the goods to the customer. Shipping and/or handling costs that oceur befure the customer obtains control of the goods arc deemed to be
fulfillment activities and are accounted for as fulfillment cosis. We assess the goods and services promiged in our customers' purchase orders and identify a
performance obligation for cach promise to transfer a good or service {or bundle of goods or services) that is distinct.

We offer various forms of trade promotions and the methodologies for determining these provisions are dependent on local customer pricing and
promotional practices, which range from contmctually fixed percentage price reductions to provisions based on actual occurrence or performance. Qur
promotional activities are conducled either through the retail trade or directly with consumers and include activities such as in-store displays and events,
featurc price discounts, consumer coupons, and loyalty programs. The cosis of these activities are recognized at the time the related revenue is recorded,
which normally precedes the actual cash expenditure. The recognition of these costs therzfore requires management judgment regarding the volume of
promotional offers that will be redeemed by either the retail trade or consumer. These estimares are made using various techniques including historical data
on perfermance of similar promotional programs. Differences between estimaied expense and actual redempiions are recognized as a change in management
estimate in a subsequent period.

Advertising Costs — Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expenses totaled $253.4 million, $5278.6 million, and
$328.3 million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, and are included in sclling, peneral and administrative ("SG&A™) expenses.

Research and Development — We incurred expenses ol $56.1 miltion, $47.3 million, and $44.6 million Jor research and development activities in fiscal
2019,2018,and 2017, respectively.

Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income includes net income, currency translation adjustments, certain detivalive-related activity, changes in
the value of available-for-sale investments (prior to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-01), and changes in prior service cost and
net actuarial gains (losses) from pension (for amounts not in excess of the 10% "comidor") 2nd postretirement health care plans. On forcign investments we
deem to be essentially permanent in nature, we do not provide for taxes on currency translation adjustments srising from converling an investment
denominated in 2 foreign curmency to U.S. dollars. When we determine that a foreign invesiment, as well as undistributed eamings, are no longer permanent in
nature, estimated taxes will be provided for the related deferved tax liability {(asset), if any, resulling from curmrency translation adjusiments.

The following table details the accumulated balances for cach component of other comprehensive income, net of tax:

2019 2018 2017
Curency translation losses, net of reclassification adjustments s (909) $ (94.7) § (98.6)
Derivative adjusiments, net of reclassification adjustments 34.0 1.0 (.1
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale sccunties -_ 0.6 {0.3)
Pension and post<<mployment benefit obligations, net of reclassification adjustments (53.4) (17.4) {112.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss | g (1103 § (110.5) § 212.9)

I Net of unrenlized gains on available-lor-sale securitics reclassified to rewined earnings os a result of the adoption ol ASU 2016-01 in fiscal 2019 and net ol stranded lax elfecls from
chonge in tax rate as a result of the carly odoption of ASU 2018-02 in fiscal 2018 in the amount of $0.6 million and 317.4 million, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)
Fiscal Years Ended May 26,2019, May 27,2018, and May 28,2017
(columnar dollars in millions except per share amounts)

The lollowing table summarizes the reclassifications from accumulaled other comprehensive loss into income:

Aflfected Line [tem to the Consolldated Statement of

Operatlons!
2019 2018 2017
Nct dedvative adjustment, net of Lax:
Cash flow hedges S (19) % o1 S (0.2) Interest expense, net
(L9 0.1 (0.2) Totnl before 1ax
0.5 — 0.1  Income tax expense
S (t4) § 01 8 {0.1) Netoftax
Amortizalion of pension and postretirement healthcare
liabilities:
Nel prior service cost (benefit) $ 09 % 04) § (3.9) Pension and postretirement non-service income
Pension sctilenweat —_ 1.3 13.8  Pension and postretirement non-scrvice inconw
Postretirement healtitcare settlement (1.0) — —  Pension and postretirement non-service incoms
Net actuarial loss (gain) (L4 — 0.5 Pension and postretirement non=service income
{1.5) 09 104  Total before tax
0.4 0.2) (4.0) Incomeiax cxpense
) (k.1 % 07 § 64 Netofltax
Currency translation losses s 104 § — 8 —  Selling, general and administrative expenscs
10.4 — —  Total before tax
— — — lncome Lax expense
3 104 % — § — Netofax

I Amounts in parenthescs indicate income recognized in the Consolidaled Statements of Operatiens.

Foreign Currency Transaction Gains and Losses — We recognized net foreign curency transaction losses trom continuing operations of $2.3 million.
$1.4 million, and $1.5 million in fiscal 2019,2018. and 2017, respectively, in SG&A e¢xpenses.

Business Combinations —- We usc the acquisition method in accounting tor acquired businesses. Under the acquisition method, our finaneial statements
refiect the operations of an acquired business stating (rom the completion of the acquisition. The assels acquired and ltabilities assumed are recorded at their
respective estimated foir values at the date of the acquisition. Any cxcess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable nel assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Reclassifications and other changes — Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified 10 conform with curmrent year presentation.

Use of Estimates — Preparation of financial statements in conformily with U.S. GAAP requircs management 1o make estimaies and assumptions. These
cstimates and nssumptions affcct eported amounts of asscts, liabilities, revenues, and cxpenscs as reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Actual
results could ditfer from these estimates,

Accounting Changes — In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers CTopic 606"). which replaces most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S, GAAP, including industry-specific requirements. Topic 606
provides companies with a single revenue recognition model [or recognizing revenue with cusiomers; specifically requiring an entity to recagnize the
amount ot revenue Lo which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services Lo customers,

We utilized a comprehensive approach o evaluate and document the impact of the guidance on our cumrent accaunting policies and praclices in order o
identify material differences, if any, that would result from applying the new requirements
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10 our revenue contracts. We did not identify any material difTerences resulling from applying the new requirements Lo our revenue contracts. In addition, we
did nat identify any significant changes 1o our business processes, systems, and controls to suppar recognition and disclosure requirements under the new
guidance. We adopted the provisions of Topic 606 in fiscal 2019 utilizing the modified retrospective method. We recorded a $0.5 million cumulative eflect
adjustment, net of tax, to the opening balance of fiscal 2019 retained camings, a decrcasc to receivables of $7.6 million, an increase to inventories of $2.8
million, an increase to prepaid expenses and other current asscts of $6.9 million, an increase 10 other accrued liabilitics of $1.4 million, and an increasc to
other noncurment liabilities of $0.2 million. The adjustments primanly related to the timing of recognition of certain customer charges, trade promotional
expenditures, and volume discounts.

The ellect of the changes made to our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of May 26, 2019 for the adoption of Tapic 606 was as follows:

Balances without Adoptlon of

As Reported AdJustments Tople 606

Cument assels

Receivables. less allowance for doubtful accounts b 831.7 $ 87 840.4

Invenlories 1.571.7 (3.1 1,568.6

Prepaid expenses and other current asscts 938 (16.6) 77.2
Current ligbilities

Other accrued liabilities 5916 (1.1 690.5
Ouher nencurrent liabilities 19518 2.5) 19493

The effect of' the changes miade o our Consolidated Statement of Eamings for the adoptien of Topic 606 was as follows:

Fiseal 2019
Balances withour Adapiien of
As Reported Adfustments Topk 606
Net sales s 95384 5 155 § 9.5539
Cost of goods sold 68854 24.5 6,909.9
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and
equily method investment camings 8233 (9.0) 8143

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 201601, Financial Insouments-Overall: Recognition and Measurcment af Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities, which addresses cenain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. The clective dale for this
standard is for fiscal years beginning afier December 31, 201 7. We adopted this ASU in fiscal 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not have a materal
impact to our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016. the FASB issued ASU 2016-135, Statemeni of Cush Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipis and Cash Payments, which clanfies
how companies present and classify certain cash receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash flows. We adopied this ASU retrospectively in fiscal
2019. The adaption of this guidance did not have a material impact to our consolidated finencial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Resrricted Cash, which provides amendments to cumrent guidance fo
address the clossifications and presentation ol changes in resiricted cash in (he statement of’cash lows. We adopted this ASU retraspectively in fiscal 2019.
The adoplion of this guidance did not have a material impact 10 our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASD issucd ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations: Clarvifving the Definition of a Business, which provides a new fmmework for
determining whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions {or disposals) of assets or businesses, We adopted this ASU prospectively in fiscal
2019. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact 10 our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 201707, Retirement Benefits: Improving the Presemtation of Ner Periodic Pension Cost and Net Pervivdic
Postretirement Benefit Cost, which requires companies to present the service cost component ol net
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benefit cast in the same line items in which they report compensation cosl. Companies are required to present all other components of net benefit cost oulside
operating income, if this subtotal is presented. In addition, the new standard requires that only the service cost component of net periodic benefit expense is
cligible for capitalization. The new standard requires retrospective adoption of the presentation of net periodic benefil expense and prospective application
of the capitalization of the scrvice cost component. We adopted this ASU in fiscal 2019. As a resull, the following amounts were reclassilied in fiscal 2018
and 2017 o corespond o the curment year presentation:

2018 2017
Reclassified from Cosl of goods sold ) — % 1.7
Reclassified from Selling, general and administrative expense 80.4 535
Reclassified to Pension and postretirement non-service income $ 804 % 55.2

In August 2017, the FASB issucd ASU 2017-12, Devivarives and Hedging: Targeted Impravements to Accounting for ledging Acrivities, which
improves the financial reperiing of hedging relationships 1o beller portray the economic results of an entity's risk managenient activities in ils finuncial
statements and make ¢erain targeted improvements to simplify the application of the hedge accounting guidance in cument U.S. GAAP. The amendments in
this update better align an entity's sk management activities and financial repoding for hedging relationships through chanpes to both the designation and
menasurcment guidance forqualifying hedging relationships and presentation of hedge results. The cffective date tor the standard is for fiscal years beginning
oller December 15, 2018. We elected ta carly adopt this ASU in tiscal 2019. The adoption of this guidance did nol have a material impact to our consolidated
financial statements. Sce Note 18 for a discussion of our derivatives.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-14, Compensution-Retirement Benefits-Defined Benefit Plans-General (Topic 713-20): Disclusure
Framework-Changes to the Disclosure Requiremenis for Defined Benefit Plans, which modifies the disclosure requirements for defined benefit pension plans
and other post-retirement plans. The cfiective date for this standard is for fiscal years beginmng after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. We
elected to early adopt this ASU in fiscal 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact 1o our consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards — In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 201602, Leases, Topic 842, which requires lessees to reflect most
leases on their balance sheet as assets and obligations, The eflective date for the standard is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. Early
adoption is penmitied. We are evaluating the effect thar this standard will have on our consolidated financial staiements and related disclosurcs. Wa have
identificd an accounting system to support the future siale lease accounting process and continue to develop the future state process design as part of the
overall system implementation. We have populated the accounting system with lease dala and have validated the completeness and accuracy of such dala.
We expect the adoption of this standard 1o result in an increase in total asscis and liabilitics related 10 operating leases that are currently not recorded on our
consolidated balance sheet, however, we do not expect there to be a material impact 1o our camings or cash flows. See Note 16 for the tolal amount of our
noncancelable operating lease commitments. The standard can be applied using the modified retrospective method or entities may atso elect the optional
transition method provided under ASU 2018-11, Leaves, Topic 842 Targeted Improvement, issucd in July 2018, allowing for application of the standard at
the adoption date, with recognition of a cumularive-effect adjustment to the opening balanee of retained eamings in the period of adoption. We will adopt
this ASU on the first day of our fiscal year 2020 using the optional transition method and will elect certain practical expedicnts permitted under the transition
guidance, including not reassessing whether existing contracts contain lecases and carrying forward the historical classification of leases.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Tuangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting
for Implementation Cesis Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Coniract, which aligns the requirements for capitalizing
impiemenlation costs incuired in a hosting arangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to
develop or obtain intemal-use soflware (and hosting amangements that include an intemnal-use sollware license). The ciective dale lor the standard is for
fiscai years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments in this ASU
should be applicd either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. We do not expect ASU 2018-15 10
have a materia) impact 1o our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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2, ACQUISITIONS

On October 26, 2018, we acquired Pinnacle Foods Ine. {"Pinnacle™), a branded packaged foods company specializing in shelf-stable and Ifozen foads,
which is now a whally-owned subsidiary ol the Company. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 26, 2018 (the "Merger
Agrecment"), among the Company, Pinnacle, and Patnot Merger Sub Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that ceased Lo cxist at the effective
time of the merger, cach outstanding share of Pinnacle common steck was converted into the right to receive $43.11 per share in cash and 0.6494 shares of
comumon stock, par vaiuc $5.00 per share, of the Company ("Company Shares") {togethier, the "Merger Consideration"), with cash payable in licu of fractional
shares of Company Shares. The total amount of consideration paid in connection with the acquisition was approximately $8.03 billion and consisted of: (1)
cash of55.17 billion (85.12 billion nel of cash acquired); (2) 77.5 million Company Shares, with an approximate valuc of $2.82 billion, issued out of the
Company's treasury; and {3) replacement awards issued to former Pinnacle employces represenling the fair value attributable to pre-combination service (see
Note 14)of$51.1 million.

In connection with the acquisition, we issucd long-term debt o8 $8.33 billion (see Note 4) {which includes lunding under the new term loan agreement)
and received cash proceeds of $575.0 million ($555.7 million net of related fees) from the issuance of common stock in an underwritien public otfering. We
used such proceeds for the payment of the cash portion of the Merger Consideration, the repayment of Pinnacle debt acquired, the refinancing of certain
Conagra Brands debt, and the payment ot related fees and expenses.

The follewing rable summarizes our current allocation of the total purchase consideration to the eslimated tair valucs of the assels acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

October 16,
2018

Cash and cash cquivalents ) 47.2
Receivables 202.8
Inventories 653.7
Prepaid expenscs and other current asscis 14,9
Propeny, plant and equipmernt 721.2
Goodwill 7,0159
Brands, trademarks and other intangibles 3.519.5
Other assets 243
Current liabilities (605.5)
Scnior long-term debt, excluding cument installments (2,671.3)
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities (814.1)
Other nencurrent liabilities (74.6)

Total assets acquircd and liabilitics assumed s 80340

PDuring fiscal 2019, we made adjustments to our tnitial allocations, which resulted in an increase 1o goodwill of$353.9 million. This goodwill increase
resulted primarily from reductions in values of brands, tndemarks and other intangibles ot'$355.6 millior, propery, plant and equipment of $20.8 mitlion,
and delerred tax liabilitics of $32.3 million as we refine our lair value cstimates. These changes did not have a significant impact on our net income for the
fiscal ycarended May 26,2019,

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration rmansferred over the preliminary estimate of fair values of the assets acquired and liabilitics assumed
and is primarily attnbutable to synergies and intangible assets such as assembled workforce which are not separately recognizable. Of the total goodwill,
$236.7 million is deductible for tax purposes. Amontizable brands, trademarks and other intangibles totaled 5668.7 million and have a weighted average
cstimated uscful life of 25 years. We are currently completing our fair value assessment of the acquired assets and liabilities with the assistance of (hird-party
valuation specialists and any adjustments identified in the measurement period, which will not exceed one year from the acquisition date, will be accounted
for prospectively. Until we complete our fair value assessments and further integratton activities and organizational struciural changes occur, our Pinnacle
business is considered a separate reportable segment and
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all goodwill was preliminariy allocaled to reporting units within this segment.

The results of operalions of Pinnacle are reported in the Company's consolideted financial statements frem the date ol acquisition and include S1.73
billion of'total net sales and $238.2 million of vperating profit for fiscal 2019 which are included in the Pinnacle Foods segment's financial resulis.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operalions as if the acquisition ol Pinnacle had oceurred on
May 29, 2017, the begioning of fiscal year 2018. These unaudited pro lorma results may not necessarily reflect the actual resulis of operations that would
have been achieved, nor are they necessarily indicative of future results of opemlions.

2019 2018
Pro (orma net sales S 10,788.1 8§ 11,0342
Pro forma net income from continuing operations attnbutable to Conagra Brands, Inc. S 8038 § 1,089.7

The pro forma resuits include adjustments for amortization of acquired intangible asscts, depreciation, and interest cxpensce an debt issued to finance the
acquisition as well as the related income laxes. The pro [unma results also include the following material nonrecurring adjustments, along with the rclated
income tax cffect of the adjustmenls:

*  Acquisition related costs incurred by the Company of $62.7 millien during fiscal 2019 were excluded and assumed to have been incurmred at the
beginning of fiscal 2018. Acquisition related costs incurmred by Pinnacle of $66.8 million during fiscal 2019 were excluded from the pro fonma
results.

+  Non-recurring expense of $53.0 mullion for fiscal 2019 related to the fair value adjustment to acquisition-date inventory estimated to have been sobd
was removed and $54.1 million of expense was included in the results for fiscal 2018.

= Non-recumring cxpense of 545.7 million for fiscal 2019 related to sccuning bridge financing for the acquisition were cxcluded and assumed to have
been tncured at the beginning of fiscal 2018,

In February 2018, we acquired the Sandwich Bros. of Wisconsin® business, maker of frozen breakfast and entree flatbread pocket sandwiches, for a cash
purchasc price of$87.3 miltion, net of cash acquired, including working capital adjustments. Approximately $57.8 million has been classified as poodwill
and 59.7 millien and $7.1 million have been classified as non-amortizing and amonizing intangible assels, respectively. The amount allocated to goodwill is
deductible for tax purposes. The business is included in the Refrigerated & Frozen scgment.

In October 2017, we acquired Angie's Artisan Treats, LLC, maker of Angie’s® BOOMCHICKAPOP? ready-to-cat popeom, for a cash purchase price of
$249.8 mullion, net of cash acquired, including working capital adjusiments. Approximately $136.7 million has been classilied as goodwill, of which $95.4
million is deductible for income tax purposes. Approximately $73.8 million and $10.3 million of the purchase price have been allocated to non-amenizing
and amortizing intangible asscts, respectively. The business is primarily incleded in the Grocery & Snacks segment, and to a lesser extent within the
Intemational segment.

o April 2017, we acquired protein-based snacking businesses Thanasi Foods LLC, maker of Duke sT meat snacks, end BIGS LLC, maker ot BIGS® sceds,
for §217.6 million, net of cash sequired, including working capital adjustments. Approximately $133.3 million has been classified as goodwill, of which
$70.5 million is deductible for income tax purposes. Approximately 565.1 million and $16.1 million of the purchase price have been allocated to non-
amortizing and amortizing intangiblc asscts, respectively. These businesses are primarily included in the Grocery & Snacks segment,

In September 2016, we acquired the opcrating asscts of Frontera Foods, Inc. and Red Fork LLC, including the Froniera®, Red Fork®, and Salpica®
brands. These businesses make authentic, gourmet Mexican food products and contemporary American cooking sauces. We acquired the business for 5108.1
million, net of cask acquired, including working capital adjustments. Approximately 339.5 million has been classified as goodwill and §59.5 million and
£7.2 million have been classified as non-amortizing and amortizing intangible assets, respeclively. The amount atlocated to goodwill is deductible tor tax
purposes. These businesses are reflecied principally within the Grocery & Snacks and Refrigermnted & Frozen segments, and to a lesser extent within the
Tntemational segment.
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These acquisitions collectively contrbuted $319.1 million, 52143 million, and $36.5 million to net sales during fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively.

For cach of (these acquisitions, the amounts allocated to goodwill were primarily attributable 10 anticipated synergics, product porifolios, and other
intangibles that do not qualify for separate recognition.

3. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Pinnacle Integration Resiructuring Plan

In December 2018, our Board of Dircctors (the "Board") approved a restructuring and integration plan related 1o the ongoing integration of the regently
acquired operations of Pinnacle (the "Pinnacle Integmtion Restructuring Plan") for the pumose of achieving significant cost synergics between the
companics. We expect Lo incur material charges for exit and disposal activities under U.S. GAAP. Although wc remain unable to make goaed faith estimates
relating Lo the entire Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan, we are reponing on actions initiated through the end of fiscal 2019, including the estimated
amounts or range of ameunts for cach major type of costs expected 1o be incurved, and the charges that have resulted or will result in cash outflows. We
expect 1o incur up Lo $360.0 million of operational expenditures (5285.0 million of cash charges and $75.0 million of non-cash charges) as well as $85.0
million of capital cxpenditures under the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan. We have incurred or expect to incur approximately $260.1 milhion of
charges {$254.0 million of cash charges and $6.1 million of non-cash charges) for actions identificd to date under the Pinnacle Integration Restructuning
Plan. We expect to incur cosis retated to the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan over a three-year period.

We anticipate that we will recognize the following pre-inx eapenses in association with the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan (amounts include
charges recognized from plan inception through the end of fiscal 2019):

Intcrnational Pinnacke Foods Corporate Total

Other cost of goads sold $ —_ 5 57 8 - % 5.7
Total cost of goods sold — 57 — 57
Severance and related costs 0.7 06 116.8 118.1
Accelerated depreciation — — a.l 6.1
Contract/lease termination — 0.8 i9.8 20.6
Caonsulting/professional fees 02 — 96.1 96.3
Otherselling, general and administrative expenses 0.1 - 13.2 13.3
Total sclling, general and administrative expenses 1.0 1.4 2520 254.4
Consolidated 1otal 3 1.0 % 7.1 3 2520 % 260.1
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During fiscal 2019, we recognized the following pre-lax expenses for the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan:

Iniernational Pinnacie Faods Corporare Toral

ihercost of goods sold 3 — 8 371 5 — 3 37
Toual cost of goods sold — 3 — 3.7
Severance and related costs 0.7 0.6 1108 12}
Accelerated depreciation — — 4.7 4.7
Contract/lease termuination — 08 0.3 1.1
Consulting/prolessional [ees 0.2 — 38.1 3183
Otherselling, general and administrative expenses 0.1 — 82 83
Total selling, general and adminisirative expenses 1.0 1.4 1621 1643
Caonsolidated total $ 1.0 § 5.1 § i62.1 % 168.2

Included in the above results are $163.5 million of charges that have resulted or will result in cash oulflows and $4.7 million in non~cash charges.

Liabilities recorded for the Pinnacle Integration Restructuring Plan and changes therein for liscal 2019 were as follows:

Balance ar Cous Incurred Costs Paid Balance at
May 27, and Charged ot Otherwise Changes in May 26.
1018 to Expense Seltled Estimates 2019
Severance and related costs 3 — 3 1212 & (352 § 9.1 8 76.9
Contract/lcase tennination —_— i.l 0.1y — 1.0
Consulting/professional fees — 38.3 (19.9) — 18.4
QOther casts — 12.0 (10.8) — 1.2
Totai S — 5 1726 § (66.0) § 9.1 s 97.5

Conagra Restructuring Plan

During fiscal 2019, management initiated a new restructuring plan (the "Conagra Restructuring Plan”) for costs in connection with actions taken 1o
imprave SG&A effectivencss and efficiencies and to optimize our supply chain network. We have incurred or expect to incur $4.3 million of charges ($2.4
million of cash charges and 51.9 million of non-cash charges) for actions identified 1o dale under the Conagra Restructuring Plan. We are unable to quantify
the scope of the entire Conapra Restructuring Plan at this time. During fiscal 2019, we recognized charges 0'$2.2 million (31.4 million of cash charges and
$0.8 millien in non-cash charges) in connection with the Conagm Restruciuring Plaa,

Supply Chain and Administrative Efficiency Plan

As of May 26, 2019, we had substantially compleled our restrucluring activities related to our Supply Chain and Administrative Efficiency Plan (the
"SCAE Plan™). We recognized charges of $9.6 million, $38.0 million, and $63.6 million in conncction with the SCAE Plan related to our continuing
operations in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017. respectively. We have recognized $469.9 million in pre-tax axpenses (31033 million in cost of goods sold,
$364.3 million in SG&A expenses, and $2.3 million in pension and postretirement non-service income) [fom the inception of the SCAL Plan through May
26,2019, related to our centinuing operations. Included in these results were $319.9 million of cash charges and $150.0 millicn of non—cash charges. Our
total pre-tax expenses for the SCAE Plan related Lo our conlinuing cperations are expected to be $471.0 million (8321.0 million of cash charges and $150.0

million of non-cash charges).
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4. LONG-TERM DEBT

May 26,2019 May 27,2018
5.4% senior debt due November 2048 S 10000 % —
4.65% scnior debt duc January 2043 1767 176.7
6.625% senior debt due August 2039 914 914
5.3% senior debt due November 2038 1,000.0 —
8.25% senior debt due Seprember 2030 300.0 300.0
4.85% senior debt due November 2028 1.300.0 —
7.0% senior debt due Qctober 2028 3822 332.2
6.7% senior debt due August 2027 92 9.2
7.125% senior debt due October 2026 262.5 262.5
4.6% senior debl due November 2025 1,000.0 —
4.3% senior debl due May 2024 1,000.0 ~—
LIBOR plus 1.50% term loan due October 2023 200.0 —
3.2% senior debt due January 2023 817.0 837.0
1.25% senior debt due September 2022 250.0 2500
LIBOR plus 1.375% term loan due October 2021 200.0 —
3.8% senior debt due October 2021 1,200.0
9.75% subordinated debt due March 2021 1959 1959
LIBOR. plus 0.75% senior debt due Oclober 2020 525.0 —
LIBOR plus 0.50% senior debt due October 2020 500.0 5000
4.95% sentor debt duc August 2020 126.6 126.6
LIBOR plus 0.75% term loan due February 2019 — 300.0
2.00% tv 9.59% leasc financing obligations due on various dates through 2033 1654 94.7
Oxher indebtedness 0.1 02
Total face value of debt 10,7220 3.5264
Unamartized (air value adjustment 245 27.6
Unamortized discounts {19.0) (5.8)
Unamonized debt issuance costs {52.1) {(11.3)
Adjustment due o hedging activity 0.9 1.6
Less current instaliments (20.6) (307.0)
Total fong-term debt s 10,6557 3§ 3,231.5

The aggregate minimuim principal maturities of the long-term debt for each ofthe five liscal years following May 26, 2019, are as follows:

2020 3 206
2021 1,368.2
2022 14204
2023 1,103.4
2024 1,213.0

Pinnacle Acquisition Financing

In the first quaner of fiscal 2319, in connection with the announcement of the Pinnacle acquisition, we secured $9.0 billion in fully committed bridge
financing. Prior to the acquisition, we capitalized financing costs related to the bridge
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financing of $45.7 million 1o be amonized over the commitment period. Our net interest expense included 51 1.9 million for fiscal 2019 as a result of this
amortization. The bridge facility was terminated in conngetion with the aequisition, and we recognized $33.8 million ol expense within SG&A expenses for
the remaining unamortized Nnancing costs.

Also in the first quarier ol fiscal 2019, we entercd inlo a 1cna loan agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement) with a syndicate of financial institutions
providing for term loans to the Company in an aggregate principal amount of up Lo 51.30 billion, as well as dcalcontingent forward slarting interest rate
swap contmacts (sce Note 18) to hedge a portion ol the interest rate risk related to our anticipated issuance of long-term debt to help finance the acquisition of
Pinnacle,

Buring the sccond quarter of fiseal 2019, 10 finance a portion of our acquisition of Pinnacle, we (i) issued new senior unsecured noles in an aggregate
principal ameunt of 37.025 billion and (ii) borrowed 51.30 billion under the Term Loan Agreement.

We issued the new senior unsecured notes in seven tranches: floating rate senior notes due October 22, 2020 in an aggregale principal amount 0 $525.0
million with interest cqual to three-month LIBOR plus 0.75%, 3.8% senior notes due October 22, 2021 in an aggregate principal amount of $1.20 billion;
4.3% scnior notes duc May |, 2024 in an aggregate principal amount ot $1.0 billion; 4.6% senior notes due November 1, 2025 in an aggregate principal
amount of$1.0 billion; 4.85% senior notes due November |, 2028 in an aggrepate principal amount of $1.30 billien; 5.3% senior noles due November |,
2038 in an aggregate principal amount of'$1.0 billion; and 5.4% senior notes duc November 1, 2048 in an aggregate principal amount of'51.0 billion.

Qur$1.30 billion of bormowings under the Term Loan Agreement consisted of a $650.0 million tranche ofthree-ycar term loans and a $650.0 million
tranche of five-year term loans. The three-year tranche loans mature on October 26, 2021, and the five-year tranche loans mature on October 26, 2021,

These term loans bear interest at, at the Company's election, either (@) LIBOR plus a percentage spread (ranging from 1% to 1.625% for three-year tranche
loans and 1.125% to 1.75% for ftve-year tranche loans) based on the Company's senior unsecured long-term indebledness ralings or {(b) the alternate base rale,
deseribed in the Term Loan Agreement as the greatest of (i) Bank of America's prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) one-month LIBOR
plus 1.00%, plus a percentage spread {ranging Fom 0% 10 0.625% for threc-year tranche loans and 0.125% 10 0.73% for five-year tranche loans) based on the
Company's senior unsecured long-term indebtedness ratings. The Company may voluntarily prepay lerm loans under the Term Loan Apreement, in whole or
in pan, withoul penalty, subject 1a cenain conditions.

During fiscal 2019, we repaid $200.0 million of our barrowings under the Term Loan Agreement, which repayment consisted of $450.0 millien of the
three-year tranche loans and $450.0 million of the five-year tmnche loans. Subsequent to fiscal 2019, we repaid an additional $100.0 million of the three-year
tranche loans and $100.0 million of the five-year tranche loans.

In the secand quarter of fiscal 2019, in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition, we prepaid in full $2.40 billion of obligations and liabilitics of
Pinnacle under or in respect of Pinnacle's credit agreement and other debt agreements. We also redeemed $350.0 million in aggregale principal amount of
Pinnacle's autstanding 5.875% scnior notes duc January 15, 2024 and recognized a charge 0 $3.9 million as a cast aleary retirement of debt.

Also, in connection with the financing forthe Pinnacle acquisition, we capitalized $49.6 million af debt issuance costs.

Our nel inlercst expense in liscal 2019 was reduced by $2.0 million due to the impact ol the interest rate swap contracts enlered into in the first quarter of
fiscal 2019. During the second quarter of fiscal 2019, we terminaled the interest rete swap contacts and regeived proceeds of $47.5 million. This pain was
defermed in accumulated other comprehensive income and is being amertized as a reduction of inlerest expensc over the lives of the related debt instruments.

Other Long-Term Debt

During the third quarter of fiscal 2018, we cntered §nto a term loan agreement (the "Pror Term Loan Agreement”) with a financial institution. The Prior
Term Loan Agreetnent provided for term loans to the Company in an sggregate principal amount nat lo exceed $300.0 million, maturing on February 26,
2019. During the fourth quarterof fiscal 2018, we barrowed the full ameunt of the S300.0 million provided for under the Prior Term Loan Agreement. During
the second quaner of fiscal 2019, we repaid in full the priacipal balance of all term toans outstanding under the Prior Term Loan Agreement. This did not
result in a significant gain or loss.
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During the fourth quarter ol fiscal 2018, we repaid the remaining principal balance of S70.0 million of our 2.1% senior notes on Lhe maturity date of
Mareh 15, 2018.

During the third quarter of liscal 2018, we repaid the remaining principal balance of$119.6 million of our 1.9% scnior netes on the maturity date of
January 25, 2018,

During the third quarter of fiscal 2018, we repaid the remaining capital lease liability balance 0f$28.5 million in connection with the early exit of an
unfaverable lease contract,

During the second quaricr of fiscal 2018, we issued $3500.0 million aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes due October 9, 2020. The notes bear
interest at a rate equal 10 three-month LIBOR plus 0.50% per annum.

Thring the third quarier of fiscal 2017, we repaid the remaining principal balance 0f$224.8 million of our 5,819% senior notes due 2017 and $248.2
million principal amount ofour 7.0% senior notes due 2019, in each case prior to maturity, resulting in a net loss on early retirement of debt 0f $32.7 million.

In connection with the SpinofT of Lamb Westen (see Note 6), Lamb Weston issucd 10 us 51.54 billion aggregate principal amount of senior notes (the
"lamb Weston notes"}. On November 9, 2016, we exchanged the Lamb Weston notes for §250.2 million aggregate principal amount of our 5.8 19% senior
notes due 2017, $880.4 million aggregale principal amount of our 1.9% scnior notes due 2018, $154.9 million aggregate principal amount of our2,1%
senior notes duc 2018, SB6.9 million aggregate principal amount of our 7.0% senior notes due 2019, and $71.1 million aggregate principal amount of our
4.95% senior notes due 2020 (collectively, the "Conagra notes”), which had been purchased in the open market by certain investment banks prior 10 the
Spinoff. Following the exchange, we cancelled the Conagra notes. These actions resulted in a net loss of $60.6 mitlion as a cost of early retirement of debt.

Duning the first quarter of fiscal 2017, we repaid the entire principal balance o'$550.0 million of our floating mte notes on the maturity date of July 21.
2016.

General

The Revolving Credil Facility (as defined in Note 5) and the Term Loan Agreement generally requite our ratio of camings before interest, 1axes,
depreciation and amontization ("EBITDA™) to interest expense not to be less than 3.0 to 1.0 and our ratio of funded debt o EBITDA not to exceed certain
decreasing specified levels, ranging from 5.875 through the first quarter of fiscal 2020 to 3.75 from the second quarter of fiseal 2023 and thereatter, with each
ratio 1 be calculated on a ralling four-quarter basis. As ol May 26, 2019, we were in compliance with all financial covenants under the Revalving Credit
Facility and the Tenn Loan Agreement.

Net interest expense consists oft

2019 2018 2017
Long-term debt S 1859 % 161.2 8 203.6
Short-term debt 15.0 4.8 0.6
[nterest income (6.8) (3.8) (3.7)
Interest capilalized 2n (3.5) (5.0}
b jot4 8 1587 % 195.5

Interest paid from continuing operations was $375.6 million, $164.5 million, and $223.7 million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

5. CREDIT FACILITIES AND BORROWINGS

At May 26, 2019, we had a revolving credit facility (the "Revalving Credit Facility") with a syndicatc of financial institutions providing for a maximum
aggregate principal amount outstanding at any onc time of $1.6 billion (subject 1o increase to a maximum aggregate principal amount of§2.1 billion with
the consent of the lenders). The Revolving Credit Faciiity mawares on July 11, 2024 and is unsecured. The term of the Revolving Credit Facility may be
extended foradditional
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one-year or lwo-year periods from the then-applicable maturity daic on an annpual basis. 1n the fourth quarer of fiscal 2019, the Company entered into an
amendment to extend the existing tennination date under the Revolving Credit Facilily for one additional year, effective July 11, 2019. As of May 26, 2019,
there were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains events of default customary for unsecured investment grade credit facilities with corresponding grace periods.
The Revolving Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants tor unsccured investment grade credit facilities of this type. It
gencrally requires our mtio of EBITDA to interest expense not 1o be less than 3.0 to 1.0 and our mtie ot funded debt to EBITDA not to exceed certain
decreasing specilied levels, mnging from 5.875 through the first quaner of fiscal 2020 to 3.75 from the second quarter of fiscal 2023 and thereafter, with each
mtio lo be caleulatad on a rolling four-quarter basis. As of May 26, 2019, we were in compliance with all financial covenants under the Revolving Credit
Facility.

We finance our short-term liquidity necds with bank borrowings, commercial paper borrowings, and bankers' accepiances. As of May 26, 2019, there
were no outstanding bomowings wider our comumercial paper program. As of May 27, 2018, we had $277.0 million outstanding under our commercial paper
program at an avernge weighted interest rate of 2.08%.

6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND OTIIER DIVESTITURES

Lamb Weston Spinoff

On November 9, 2016, we complcted the Spinoffofour l.Lamb Weston husiness. As of such date, we did not benelicially own any equity interest in Lamb
Weslon and no longer consolidaled Lamb Weston into our financial resulis. The business resulls were previously reported in the Comnercial segment. We
reflecied the results of'this business as discontinued opcerations for all periods presented.

The summary comparative financial resulis of the Lamb Weston business through (he date of the Spinoff, included within discontinued opetations, wete
as follows:

2019 1018 2017

Net sales ) — 3 — 5 1.407.9
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes and equity method investment

camings $ — 3 0.3) $ 172.3
Income {loss) before income taxes and equily method investinent eamings — {0.3) 1723
Income tax expense (benefit) 2.8 (14.6) 873
Equity method invesiment camings — — 159
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 2.8 14.3 100.7
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — 6.8
Nel income (koss) from discontinued operations altributable 1o Conagra Brands, Inc. s 28 S 143 § 919

During fiscal 2017, we incurred $74.8 million of expenses in connection with the Spinoff primadly related 10 professional fees and contract services
associated with preparation of regulatory filings and sepamtion activities. These expenscs are reflected in income from discontinued operations. During fiscal
2019 and 2018, we recognized income tax cxpensc of $2.8 million and an income lax benefit of S14.5 million, respectively, due to adjustments of the
estimated deductibility el these costs.

In connection wilh the Spinof, tolal assets of $2.28 billion and total liabilities of$2.98 billion (including debt of $2.46 billion) were transferred to
Lamb Weston. As pant of the consideration for the Spinod¥, the Company received a cash payment from Lamb Weston in the amount of $823.5 million, Scc
Note 4 for discussion of the debt-for-debt exchange related to the Spinoff.
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We eatered iolo a transilion services agreement in connection with the Lamb Weston Spinoftfand recognized 32.2 million and $4.2 million ol income for
the performance of services during fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively, classiticd within SG&A expenses.
Private Brands Operations

On February 1, 2016, pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Navember |, 2015, we completed the disposition of cur Private Brands
operations 1o TreeHouse Foods, Inc. ("TrecHouse").

The summary camparative (inaocial results of the Private Brands business, included within discontinued opemtions, were as follows:

2019 2018 2017
Loss on sale of business g — % — s {1.6)
Income lrom discontinued operations before income taxes and equily method imvesiment eamings 0.9 0.4 3o
Income before income taxes and cquity method investment camings 0.9 0.4 2.3
Income 1ax expense (benelit) — 0.5 (0.3)
Income (loss) from discontinued opemtions, net of tax 5 09 S 01 3 26

We entered intec a transition services agrecment with Treel louse and recognized $2.2 million and $16.9 million of'income for the performance of services
during fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively, classilied within SG& A expenses,

ConAgra Mifls Operations

On May 29,2014, the Company, Cargill, Incorperaled ("Cargill™), and CHS, Inc. ("CIS") compleled the formation of the Ardent Mills joint venture. In
connection with the formation, we contributed 10 Ardent Mills all af the assets of ConAgra Mills. our milling operations. Our cquity in the eamings of Ardent
Mills is reflected in ourcontinuing operations.

In fiscal 2017, we adjusted a multi-employer pension withdrawal liabilily related to our former milling opertions by $2.0 million ($1.3 million afler-
1ax}. This expense was recognized within discontinued operations.

Other Divestitures

During the lirst quaner of fiscal 2019, we completed the sale of our Def Monse®* processed fruit and vegetable business in Canada, which was included in
our Intemational segment, lo Bondueile Group for combined proceeds 0f $32.2 million. We recognized a gain on the sale of $13.2 million, included within
SG&A cxpenses. The assets of this busingss have been reclassified as assels held for sale within our Consolidated Balance Shects for all periods presented
prior to the divestiture,

The assets classified as held for sale refiected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets related 1o the Def Monte® processed fruit and vegelable business in
Canada were as follows:

May 27,2018

Current assets $ 6.1

Nencurrent assets (including goodwill of $5.8 million) 1.5

During the fourth quaner of fiscal 2019, we completed the sale of our Wessen™ oil business for net procecds of $171.8 miflien, subject to final werking
capital adjustinents. The business results were previously reported pnmarily in our Groeery & Snacks segment, and to a lesser extent within the Foodservice
and Intemational segments, We recognized a gatn on the sale oI $33.1 million included within SG&A expenses. The assets of this business have been
reclassilied as assets held for sale within our Consolidated Balance Sheets for all periods presented prior to the divestiture.
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We recognized an impairment charge of 527.6 million within SG&A cxpenses in fiscal 2017, os a production facility was not initially included in the
asscls 1o be sold, and we did not cxpect 10 recover the carrying vaiue of this facility through future associated cash flows. This production facility was
included in the assets transferred in the final Wesson® ail business divestiture transaction.

The asscts classificd as held for sale retlected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets related to the Wesson® oil business were as fallows:

May 27,2018
Current assets ) 37.7

Noncument assels (including goodwill of $74.5 millicn) 101.0

On May 24,2019, we completed the sale of our lalian-based frozen pasta business, Gelit, for proceeds net of cash divested of'$77.5 million, subject ta
final working capital adjustments, The business results were previously reported in our Refrigerated & Frozen segment. We recognized r gain on the sale of
§23.1 million included within SG&A expenses. The assets and liabilities of this business have been reclassified as asscts and liabilities held for sale within
our Consolidated Balance Sheets for all periods presented prior 10 Lhe divestiture,

The assets and liabilities classified as held forsale reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets related to Gelit were as follows:

May 27,2018

Current assets s 235
Noncurrent assets (including goodwill of $15.1 million) 4313
Current liabilities 13.9
Noncument liabilities 44

Duning the first quarter of fiscal 2017, we completed the sales of our Spicetec Flavors & Seasonings business ("Spicetec") and our IM Swank business,
cach of which was part of our Commercial segment, for $329.7 million and $159.3 million, respectively, in cash, net of cash included in the dispositions. We
recognized pre-lax gains ffom the sales of $144.8 million and $52.6 million. respectively. We cntered into lmnsition services agreements in connection with
the sales of these businesses and recognized $0.2 million and $1.9 million of income during fiscal 2018 and fiscal 201 7, respectively, classified within SG&A
expenses.

From time to time we actively market certain other assets. Balances totaling 58.2 million and $29.4 million at May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018,
respectively, have been reclassified as asscts held for sale within our Consolidated Balance Sheets for periads prior to the disposal of these individual asset
groups.

7. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The total eamrying value of our equity method investments authe end of fiscal 2019 and 2018 was $796.3 million and $776.2 million, respectively. These
amounts are included in other assets and reflect our 44% ownership interest in Ardent Mills and 50% ownership interests in other joint ventures. Due to
differences in fiscal reporting periods, we recognized the equity method investment carnings on a lag of approximately one month.

In fiscal 2019, we had purchases from our equity method investees of $39.4 million. Total dividends received from equity method investments in fiscal
2019 were 555.0 million.

In fiscal 2018, we had purchases from our equity method investees of $34.9 million. Total dividends reccived from equity method investments in fiscal
2018 were 562.5 mitlion.

In fiscal 2017, we had purchases from our equity method investees of $41.8 million. Tetal dividends received from equity methed investments in fiscal
2017 were $68.2 million.
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Summarized combitied Mnancial information for our equily method investments on a 100% basis is as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Net Sales:

Ardent Mills § 34760 § 33441 5§ 3,1800

GOthers 195.4 198.8 177.7
Tolal net sales § 36714 § 35429 § 33577
Gross margin:

Ardent Mills $§ 2819 § 3865 S 340.3

Others 45.5 348 346
Tolal gross margin $§ 3274 § 4213 % 3G
Eamings aftcr income taxes:

Ardent Mills s 1519 % 197.0 § 152.0

Others 18.1 10.1 10.1
Total camings aficr income 1axes $§ 1700 § 2071 § 162.1

May 26,2019 May 27,2018

Ardent Mills:

Curment nsseLs ] 9526 S 974.6

Noncurrent assets 1,669.8 1,675.7

Current liabilitics 36122 355.6

Noncumrent liabilities 496.9 5109
(thers:

Cument asscts b 892 % 76.4

Noncurrent assets 19.0 15.5

Current liabilities 434 375

Noncument liabilities 0.7 0.1
8. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Varlable Interest Entities Not Consolidated

We lease or leased certain office buildings from entities that we have determined to be variable interest entities. The lease agreemenls with these entities
include fixed-price purchase options for the assets being leased. The Icase agreements also contain contingent put oplions {the "lease pul options™) that allow
or allowed the lessors 1o require us to purchase the buildings at the greater of ariginal construction cosi, or fair market value, without a lease agreement in
place (the "put price") in cerain limiled circumstances, As a result of subsiantial impairment charges related 1o our divested Private Brands operations, these
lease put options became excreisable. We arc amentizing the difference between the put price and the estimated fair value (without a leasc agreement in place)
of the property over the remaining lease term within SG&A cxpenscs. During fiscal 2018, we purchased two buildings thar were subject 10 lcase put options
and recognized net losses totaling S48.2 million for the carly exit of unfavorable lease contracts. During fiscal 2017, onc of thesc lease agreements expired,
and we reversed the applicable accrual and recognized a benefit of $6.7 million in SG&A expenses.

Asof May 26,2019 and May 27,2018, there was onc remaining leased building subject to a lease put option for which the put optlion price exceeded the
estimated fair value of the properly by $8.2 million. of which we had accrued 51.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively. This lease is accounted for as an
operating lease, and accordingly, there are no matenial assets and labilities, other than the accrued portion of the put price, associated with this entity
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We have deterrnined that we do not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the
economic performance of this entity. In making this determination. we have considered, among other itcms, the terins of the lease agreement, the expected
remaining useful life of the assct Icased, and the capital structure of the lessor entity.
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9. GOODWILL AND OTHER IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The change in the camying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

Grocery & Refriperated &
Snocka Froren International Foodservice Pinnack Foods Total
Balance as of May 28,2017 s 24390 % 10228 % 2478 S 5710 % — 5§ 42808
Acquisilions 1552 573 —_ — —_ 2130
Purchase accounting adjustments (1.5) — - — — (1.5)
Currency translation — — 4.9 — —_ 19
Balance as o May 27,2018 b 25028 S 10806 5 2429 % 5711 8§ - 5 44874
Acquisitions — — _ — 70159 70159
Purchase accounting adjustments 1.5 — — — — 1.5
Currency translation — — 2.4) — (2.8) 5.2)
Balance as of May 26,2019 g 25943 % 10806 S 2405 § 5711 8§ 7.013.1 S 114994

Otheridentiliable intangible assets were as follows:

2019 2018
Grass Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulzted
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Non-amortizing intangiblc asscts ) Jo780 % — 8 9183 5§ —
Amortizing intangible assets 1,244.2 260.8 576.6 212.1
$ 49222 § 2608 S 14949 § 2121

Non-amortizing intangibte assets are comprised of brands and 1rademarks.

Amortizing intangible assels, carying a remaining weighled-avermge life of approximaiely 20 years, are principally composed of customer relationships,
and acquired intellectual propery. For fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, we recognized amontization expense of'$49.1 million, $34.9 miilion, and $33.6 million,
respectively. Based on amontizing assets recognized in our Consolidaled Balance Sheet as of May 26, 2019, amortization expense is cstimated to average
$58.3 million far each of the next five years, with a high expense of $59.9 million in fiscal 2020 and decreasing to a Jow expense of $54 .2 million in fiscal
2024,

During fiscal 2019, in conjunction with the divestiture of our halinn-based frozen pasta business, Gelit, we reclassified S15.1 million and $t.7 millien of
goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets, respectively. (o noncurrent assets held for sale for periods prior Lo the divestiture,

During fiscal 2019, as a result of our annual impaitment test for indefinite lived intangibles, we recognized impairment charges of $76.5 million (or our
Chef Boyvardes® and Red Fork® brands in our Grocery & Snacks seginent. We also recognized impairment charges of $13.1 miltior for our Ayfmer® and
Sundrop®brands in our Intemational segment.

During fiscal 2018, as a result of our annual impairment test for indefinile lived intangibles, we recognized impairment charges o $4.0 million for our
HK Anderson%, Red Fork® and Salpica® brands in our Grocery & Snacks segment. We also recognized an impaimment charge of $0.8 million for our Ap/nert
brand io our Intemational segment.

During fiscal 2017, we recorded goodwill impairment charges in our [ntemational reporting segment totaling $198.9 million. of which $139.2 million
related to our Canadian reporting unit and 559.7 million related to cur Mexican reporting unit. These impairment charges resulted from a change in reporting
segmenis, which occurmred in the first quarnier of fiscal 2017 when we were required (o detennine new reporting units at a lower level, and from furher
deterioration in forecasted sales and profits during fiscal 2017, which were caused primarily by changes in forcign exchange rales.
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In fiscal 2017, due 10 declining sales of certain brands, we elected Lo perform a quantitalive impaimment est for indefinite lived intangibles of those
brands. During fiscal 2017, we recognized impairment charges of $31.5 million f(or our Def AMonie® brand and $5.5 million for our Aydmer® brand in our
International segment. We also recognized impaiment charges of $67.1 million for our Chef Boyardee® brand and 31.1 million for our Fiddle Fuddic® brand
in our Grocery & Snacks segment.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic carnings per share is calculated on the basis of weighted average outstanding shares of connmon stock. Diluted eamings per share is computed on
the basis of basic weighted average outstanding shares of common stock adjusted for the dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock unit awards. and
other dilutive sccuritics. During the sccond quarter of fiscal 2019, we isswed 77.5 million shares of our conenon stock out of treasury 1o the lormer
sharcholders of Pinnacle pursuant 1o the terms of the Merger Agreement. In addition, we issued 16.3 million shares of our commen stock, par value $5.00 per
share, in an underwnticn public offering in conncction with the financing of the Pinnacle acquisition, with net proceeds ol'$§553.7 million (see Note 2).

The following table reconciles the income and average share amounts used lo compulc both basic and diluted eamings per share:

2019 2018 2017
Netincome available to Conagra Brands, Inc. common stockholders:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Conagra Brands, Inc. common stockholders $ 6802 § 7941 5 544.1
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, attributable to Conagra Brands, Ine. common
stockholders (1.9} 143 95.2
Net income attributable to Conagra Brands, Inc. common stockholders S 6783 § 8084 § 639.3
Less: Increase in redemption value of noncontrotling interests in cxcess of camings allocated — — 08
Net income available to Conagra Brands. Inc. common stockholders b 6783 § 8084 638.5
Wreighted average shares outstanding:
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 444 0 403.9 4319
Add: Dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock unit awards, and other dilutive secunties 1.6 15 4.1
Diluted weighted average shares oulstanding 1456 407.4 436.0

For fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, there were 2.0 million, 1.3 million, and 0.8 million stock options outstanding, respectively, that were excluded from the
camputation of diluted weighted average shares because the efect was antidilutive.

1L. INVENTORIES

The major classcs of inventories were as follows:

May 26,2019 May 27,2018
Raw matcrizls and packaging S 2765 S 2029
Work in process 126.9 91.8
Finished goods 1.099.1 647.8
Supplics and other 69.2 46.2
Total 5 15717 8§ 988.7
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12. OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Other noncurrent liabilities consisted of:

May 26,2019 May 27,2018

Postretiremient health care and pension obligations g 2625 % 361.7
Nencurment incomge Lax liabilities 1,349.0 487.3
Self-insurance labilities 429 271
Enviranmental liabilities (see Note 1 7) 56.8 56.0
Technology agreement liability 28.7 427
Other 2119 186.0

S 19518 § i,060.8

13. CAPITAL STOCK

The total number of shares we are authorized to issue is 1,218,050,000 shares, which shares may be issued as follows: 1,200,000,000 shares of common
stock, par value $5.00 per share; 150,000 shares of Class B Preferred Stock, par value $§50.00 per share; 250,000 shares of Class C Preferred Stock. par value
$100.00 per share: 1,100.000 shares of Class [} Preferred Stock, no par value per share: and 16.550,000 shares of Class E Preferred Stock. no par value per
share. There were no preferred shares issued or outstanding as of May 26, 2019.

We have repurchased our shares of common stock fram time to time afler considering market conditions and in accordance with repurchase limits
authorized by our Board. In May 2017 and May 2018, our Board approved increases 1o our share mpurchase authorization of$i.0 billion cach. We
repurchased 27.4 million shares of our common stock for approximately $967.3 miilion in fiscal 2018 and 25.1 million sharcs of our common stock for
approximately $1.0 bilkion in fiscal 2017 under this program.

14. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In accordance with stackholder-approved cquity incentive plans, we grant stock-bascd compensation awards, including restricted stock units, cash-
scttled restricted stock units, performance shares. performance-based restricied stock units, stock options, and stock appreciation nights. The shares delivered
upan vesting or lapse of restriction under any such amangement may consist, in whole or par, of treasury stock or authorized but unissued stock, not reserved
for any other purpose.

On September 19, 2014, our stockholders approved the Conagra Brands, Inc. 2014 Stock Plan (as amended effective December | 1, 2017, the "Plan"). The
Plan authorizes the issuance ol'up to 40.3 million shares of Conagra Brands common stock as well as cenain shares of Conagra Brands common stock subject
to outstanding awards under predecessor stock plans that expire, lapse, are cancelled, terminated, forfeited, otherwise become unexercisable, or are settled for
cash. A1 May 26, 2019, approximately 40.9 million shares were reserved for pranting new share-based awords.

All amounts below are of continuing and discontinucd operations.

Share Unit Awards

In accordance with stockholder-approved equity incentive plans, we grant awards of resticted stock unils and cash-settled restricted stock units ("share
units”) to employees and directors. These awards genemlly have requisite service periods of three years. Under cach such award, siock or cash (as applicablc)
is issued without direct cost to the employce. We estimale the fair value of the share units based upon the market price of our stock at the date of grant.
Certain share unit granis do not provide for the payment of dividend cquivalents to the participant during the requisite service period (the “vesting peried”).
For those grants. the valuc of the grants is reduced by the net present valug of the foregone dividend equivalent payments,

We recognize compensation expense for share unit awards on a straighr-line basis over the requisite service period, accounting for forfeitures as they
occur. All cash-settled restricted slock units are marked-o-market and presented within other curment and noncurrent liabilitics in our Consolidaled Balance
Sheels. The compensation expense (ot our stock-settled
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share unit awards totaled $23.9 million, $21.8 million, and $18.2 million for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. including discontinucd operations of
S1.4 million for iscal 2017, The 1ax benelit related to the siock-settled share unit award compensation expense for liscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was 56.0
million, $7.2 million, and $7.0 million, respectively. The compensation expense for cur cash-settled share unit awards totaled $17.5 million, $5.8 million,
and $20.9 million for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, including discontinued opertions of $2.6 million for liscal 2017. The tax benefit related 1o
the cash-scttled share unit award compensation expense for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $4.4 million, $1.9 million, and $8.0 ruillion. respectively.

During the second quanter of fiscal 2019, in connection with the completion of the Pinnacle acquisition, we granted 2.0 million cash-scttled share unit
awards at a grant date fair valuc of'$36.37 per sharc unit to Pinnacle employees in replacement of their unvested restricted share unit awards that were
autstanding as of the closing datc. Included in the compensation expense descnbed above for fiscal 2019 is expense of $18.9 million for accelerated vesting
of awards related to Pinnacle integration restructuring activitics, net of the impact of marking-o-market these nwards based on a lower market price of shares
of Conagra Brands commen steck. Approximately $36.3 million of the fair value of the replacement share unil awards granted Lo Pinnacle employees was
altribudable 10 pre-combination service and was included in the purchase price and established as a liability. Included in the expense for cash-settled share
unit awards above is income of $6.7 milliun related to the mark-to-market of this Habilily. As of May 26, 2019, our liability for the replacement awards was
$15.9 million, which includes post-cambination service expense, the mark-to-market of the liability, and the impact of payouts since completing the
Pinnacle acquisition. Pastcombination expense of approximately $3.9 million, based on the market price of shares of Conagm Brands common stock as of
May 26, 2019, is expected to be recognized related to the replacement awards aver the remaining postcombination scrvice period of approximately lwo
years.

The fellowing table summarizes the nonvesied share units as of May 26, 2019 and changes during the fiscal year then ended:

Stack-Scetled Cash-Scttled
Weighled VWelghted
Average Average
Share Unlts Grant-Date Share Units Grant-Date
Share Units ¢{In Milllans) Falr Value (in Milliops) Falr Valoe
Nonvested share units at May 27, 2018 .78 § 3420 071 S 3458
Granted 089 8 3543 195 § 36.37
Vested/Issued {0.72y § 33.29 (1.64) & 35.55
Forfzited {0.14y S 35.08 (0.05) § 36.07
Nonvesled share units at May 26,2019 1.81 S 34.89 097 % 36.20

During fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, we granted 0.9 million, 0.9 million. and 0.6 million stock-settled share units, respectively, with a weighted average
grant date fair value of$35.43, 834,16, and 546.79 per share unit, respectively, During fiscal 2017, we granted 0.4 million cash-settled share units with a
weighted average grant date fair value of $48.07 per share unit. No cash-scttled share unit awards were granted in fiscal 2018.

The total intrinsic value of stock-seitled share units vested was $24.6 million, $18.5 million, and $27.0 million during fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. The total intrinsic value ol cash-settled share units vested was $50.5 million, $14.2 million, and $24.0 million during fiscal 2019, 2018, and
2017, respectively.

At May 26, 2019, we had $25.2 million and $4.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense that will be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.9 years and [.5 ycars, related to stock-settled share unit awards and cash-settled share unit awards, respectively.

Performance Share Awards

In accordance with steckholder-approved equity incentive plans, we grant performance shares 1o selecied exccutives and other key cmployces with
vesling conlingent upon meeling various Company-wide perlormance goals. The performance goal forone-third of the 1arget number of performance shares
for the three-year performance period ending in fiscal 2019 (the 2019 performance period") is based on our fiscal 2017 EBITDA return on capital, subject 1o
cenmain adjustments. The fiscal 2017 EBITDA return on capital target, when sct, excluded the results of Lamb Weston. The performance goal for the final
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two-thirds of the target number of perfformance shares granted tor the 2019 performiance period is based on our diluted EPS compound annual growth nate
("CAGR"), subject to cennin adjusiments, mcasured over the two-year penod ending in fiscal 2019, in addition, for certain panticipanis, all performance
shares for the 2019 performance period are subject 1o an overarching EPS goal that must be met in each tiscal year of the 2019 performance penod before any
payout on the performance shares can be made Lo such participants, The awards actually eamed for the 2019 performance period will range trom zero to (wo
hundred percent of the targeted number of performance shares for that peried.

The performance goal for cach of the three-ycar performance period ending in fiscal 2020 {the "2020 performance period™) and the three-year
performance perod ending in 2021 ("2021 performance period") is based on our diluted EPS CAGR, subject to certain adjustments, measured over the
defined performance perod. In addition, for cenain participants, all performance shares for the 2020 performance period are subject 10 an overarching EPS
goal that must be met in each fiscal year of the 2020 performance period before any payoul on the performance shares can be made to such participants. For
cach of'the 2020 perdormance period and the 2021 performance penod, the awards actually camed will range from zero to two hundred percent of the targeted
oumber of performance shares for such performance period.

Awards, il camed, will be paid in shares of our common stock. Subject 1o limiled exceptioons set torth in our pertormance share plan, any shares earned
will be distributed after the end of the performance period, and only if the panicipant continues to be employed with the Company through the date of
distribution. For awards where performance against the performarnce target has not been certified, the value of the performance shares is adjusted based upon
the market pnce of our comnon stock and current forecasted pertonmance against the performance targets at the end of each reporting period and amontized as
compensation expense over the vesting period. Forfeitures are accounted for as they oceur.

A summary ofthe activity for performance share awards as of May 26,2019 and changes during the fiscal year then ended is presented below:

Weighred
Averape
Share Unlts Grani-Date
Performance Shares (In Millions) Fulr Value
Nonvested performance shares at May 27,2018 100 § 33.40
Granted 045 S 3596
Adjustments for performance results attained and dividend equivalents 0.18 § 31.03
Vested/1ssued 043y S 31.03
Forfeited (0.05) S 34.54
Nonvested performance shares al May 26, 2019 115 8 34.89

The compensation expense for our perfonnance share awards Lotaled $8.2 million, $11.8 million, and $13.3 million for fiscal 2019, 2018. and 2017,
respectively. The tax benefit related 1o the conpensation expense for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $2.1 million, $3.9 million, and $5.1 million,
respectively.

The total intrinsic value of performance shares vested (including shares paid in licu of dividends) during fiscal 2019, 2018,and 2017 was S15.7 million,
$11.2 million, and 52.8 million, respectively.

Based on estimates at May 26, 2019, we had 513.2 million of total unrccognized compensation expense related to performance shares that will be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.7 years.

Perfarmance-Bascd Restricted Stock Unit Awards

On April 15, 209 (the "grant date™), we made grants of perfermance-based restricted stock unit ("PBRSU") awards to the Company's named executive
officers and a limited group of other scnior officers of the Company. A total of 0.2 million PBRSU awards were granted with a grant date fair value of $41 .82
per PBRSLUL

The PBRSU awards are awards of share units with vesting contingent on our achievement of cenain absolute total shareholder retum performance
("TSR™} goals over a performance period beginning on the grant date and ending May 27, 2022 {the "PBRSU performance period™). if PBRSUs are carned
based an absolute TSR and absolute TSR meets or exceeds a predetermined raie, they become eligible for an upward adjustment of 25% based on our relative
TSR forthe PBRSU
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performance period versus the median TSR of the S&P 500 Index (“RTSR®). Each PBRSU award payout can rangce from 0% 1o 500%% of the initial target grant
and will nol cxceed 8.6 times the grant value of each grantee’s PBRSU award (including camed dividend equivalents).

Compensation expense for the awards is recognized over the PBRSU performance period based upon the grant date fair value. The grant date fair value
was estimated using 2 Monte-Carlo simulation model with a risk-free rmte 0f235% and an expected volatility of 24.92%. The model includes no cxpected
dividend yicld ns the PBRSUs eam dividend cquivalents.

We recognize compensalion expense using the stright-line nkthod over the requisite service perod, accounting for forfeitures as they occur. The
compensation cxpense for our PBRSU awards totaled $0.3 million for fiscal 2019. The tax bencfit related to the compensation cxpense for fiscal 2019 was
£0.1 million. Bascd on cstimates at May 26, 2019, we had 57.4 million ol total unrecognized compensation expense related to the PBRSU awards that will be
recognized overa period of' 3 years,

Stock Option Awards

In accordance with stockholder-approved equily incentive plans, we granted stock options Lo employees and dircetors for the purchase of common stock
at prices equal to tts fair value at the date of grant. Stock aptions become exercisable under various vesting schedules (typically three years) and generally
expire sgven to ten yeats after the date of grant, No stack options were granted in fiscal 2019 or 201 8.

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions for stock options granted:

2017
Expecled volatility (%) 19,15
Dividend yicld (%) 2.13
Risk-free interest raies (%) 1.03
Expected life of stock option {years) 4.94

The expecied volatility is based on the historical market volatility of our stock over the expected hife of the stock options granted. The expeciced lifc
represents the period of time that the owards are expected to be outstanding and is based on the contractual tetm of cach instrument, taking into account
employces' historical exercise and tennination behavior,

A summary of the option activity as of May 26. 2019 and changes during the fiscal yearthen ended is presented below:

Average
Welghted Remainlog Appregate
Number Average Contractual Intrinsc
af Optlons Exerclse Term Value (in
Qptions {in Millians} Price {Years) Milllons)
Qutstanding at May 27,2018 5.1 $ 28.11
Exercised 06) S 20,75 5 79
Expired 0.1) § 29.84
Outstanding at May 26, 2019 4.4 s 29.00 547 § 59
Excrcisable at May 26,2019 4.1 s 28.38 532 8§ 9.9

We recognize compensation expense using the siraight-linc method over the requisite service penod, accounling for forfeitures as they occur. During
fiscal 2017, we granted 1.1 million stock options with a weighted average grant date fair value of $6.12 per share. The total intrinsic value of stock options
exercised was $7.9 million, $15.8 million, and $29.8 willion for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. The closing market price of our common stock on
the last trading day of fiscal 2019 was $28.83 per share.

Compensation expense for siock option awards totaled $2.2 million. $4.2 million, and $6.2 milliont for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, wmspectively,
including disconlinued operations of $0.2 milltan for fiscal 201 7. Included in the compensation expense
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tor stack option awards for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $0.2 inillion, 50.4 million, and 50.9 million, respectively, related 1o stock options granted by a
subsidiary in the subsidiary's shares Lo the subsidiary's employees. The tax benefit related 1o the stock option cxpense for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was
$0.5 million, $1.4 million, and $2.4 million, respectively,

At May 26, 2019, we had $0.2 million of tolal unrecognized compensalion expense related to stock oplions that will be recognized aver a weighted
average period of 0.1 years.

Cash received from stock option cxercises for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was 512.4 million, $25.1 million, and $84.4 million, respectively. The actual
tax benefit realized for the tax deductions (rom oprion excrcises totaled $2.3 million, $5.3 million, and $19.5 million for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively.

Stock Appreciation Rights Awards

During the second quarter of fiscal 2019, in connection with 1the completion of the Pinnacle acquisition, we granted 2.3 million cash-settled stock
appreciation rights with a fir value estimated ot closing date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and a grant date price 0f$36.37 per share to
Pinnacle employecs in replacement of their unvested stock option awards that were outstanding as of the closing date, Approximately 814.8 million of the
fair value of the replacement awards granted to Pinnacle employees was attributable to pre-combination scrvice and was included in the purchase price and
established as a liability. As of May 26, 2019, the liability of the replacement slock appreciation rights was $0.9 million, which includes past-combination
service expense, the mark-10-market of the liability. and the impact of payouts since acquisition.

The compensation income for our eash-setiled stack appreciution rghts totaled $13.7 miltion for fiscal 2019. Included in this ameunt is income of §14.0
million related to the mark-to-market of the liability established in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition and expense of $0.2 mitlion lor accelerated
vesting of awards refated to Pinnacle integration restructuring aclivities, net of the impact of marking-to-market these awards based on a lower market price of
Conagra common shares. The related tax cxpense for fiscal 2019 was S3.4 million.

A summary of Lthe steck appreciation nglits activity as of May 26, 2019 and changes during the fiscal year then ended is presented below:

Averape
Welghted Remainiop Apgregate
Number Average Contractual Intrinslc
of Options Exerclse Term Value {in
Stock Appreclation Rights (In Mitllons) Price (Years) Millions)
Granted 23 ;) 2709
Exercised {(0.1) § 24.79 $ 0.1
Expired (18 § 2692
Ouistanding at May 26,2019 04 g 28.13 016 § 0.6
Excrcisable at May 26, 2019 04 3 28.13 0.16 S 0.6

[5. PRE-TAX INCOME AND LINCOME TAXES

The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act") was signed into law on December 22, 2017. The changes to U.S. 1ax law include, but arc not limited 10,
lowering the statutory corporate fax rate from 35% 1o 219%, eliminating certain deductions, inposing a mandalory onc-time tax on accumulated camings of
forcign subsidiaries, and changing how foreign eamings are subject to U.S, tax.

Beginning in fiscal 2019, the Tax Act created o provision known as global intangible low-1ax income ("GILTI™) that imposes a tax on cerain eamings of
foraign subsidiaries. We have made an accounting policy election to treat GILTI taxes as a current period expense.

Pretax income [rom continuing operations (including e¢quity method investment camings) consisted ol the following:
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2019 2018 2017
United States 3 8266 S 9025 § 883.5
Foreign 725 69.6 (82.8)
s 899.1 % 9721 8 %00.7
The provision for income taxes included the following:
2019 2018 2017
Curmrent
Federal S 1254 & 1531 § 201.5
State 22.6 17.8 6.7
Foreign 21.6 325 6.5
169.6 2034 214.7
Deferred
Federad 40.1 (43.7) 62.1
State 19.0 7.4 (5.3)
Foreign 9.9 (2.5 (16.8)
492 (28.8) 40.0
s 2188 § 1746  § 2547

[ncome taxes computed by applying the U.S. Federal statutory rates to inconme from continuing operations before income taxes are reconciled to the
provision for income taxes sct forth in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as follows:

2019 2018 017

Computed ULS. Federal inconie taxes S 1838 & 2853 & 280.2
Stale income 1axes. net o U.S. Federal 1ax impact 34.1 18.0 124
Remeasurerment of U.S, deferred 1axes — (241.6) P
Transition lax on forcign camings (4.5) 19.8 —
Tax credits and domestic manufacluring deduction {5.6) (20.6) (19.8)
Federal rte differential on legal reserve — 12.6 —
Goodwill and imtangible impairments 12.5 -— 104.7
Stock compensation 2.1) (5.7) (18.8)
Lepal entity reorganization 16.9 — —
State tax impact of combining Pinnacle business (12.0) —- —
Change of valuation altowance on capital loss carry forward {32.) 78.6 (84.1)
Change in estimate related 10 tax methods used for certain international sales,
federal credits. and state credits — — (8.0)
Other 230 28.2 {21.9)

M 2188 S 1746 % 2547

income taxes paid, netl of refunds, were $133.8 million, $164.1 millien, and £213.0 million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.
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The tax eflect of temporary differences and camyforwards that give rise 1o significant pontions of deferred 1ax assets and liabilities consisted of the
following:

May 26,2019 May 27,2018

Assels I.1abilides Assels Liabllities
Praperty, plant and cquipment S — 5 2407 % — 5 141.0
[nvenlory 152 — 26 —
Goodwill, irademarks and other intangible assels — 1,187.0 — 406.2
Accrucd expenses 1.8 — 15.5 —
Compensation related liabilities 359 — 341 —
Pension and other postretirement benefits 340 — 458 —
Investment in unconsolidaled subsidianies - 1854 — 1658
Other liabilities that will give rise to future tax deductions 123.5 — [09.7 —
Net capital and operating loss camyforwards 766.5 — 762.5 —
Federal credits 18.0 — 35 —
Other 37.6 24.0 236 9.5
1.063.1 1.637.1 9973 7225
Less: Valuation allowance {738.1) — (739.6) —
Net deferred taxes ) 3250 ¢ 16371 % 2577 8 7225

The liability for pross unrccognized 1ax bencfits at May 26, 2019 was $44.1 million, excluding a related liability of $11.7 million for gross interest and
penalties. Included in the balance at May 26,2019 are $1.0 million of wax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly cenain but for which there
is unceriainty about the timing of such deductibility. Because ofthe imnpacl of delerred tax accounting, the disallowance of the shoner deduclibility period
would not affect the annual effective tax rte bul would aceclerate the payment of cash 1o the taxing authority o an earlier period. Any associated interest
and penaltics imposed would affect the tax rate. As of May 27, 2018, our gross liability tor unrecognized tax benefits was $32.5 million, excluding a related
liability of $7.7 million for gross interest and penalties. Interest and penalties recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Opcrations was an expense of
S1.2 miliion in (scal 2019, an expense of $1.6 million in fiscal 2018, and a benefit of $0.3 million in fiscal 2017.

The net amount of unrecognized tax benefits al May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018 that, if recognized, would [avorably impact our effective tax mie was
£37.3 million and $27.8 million, respectively.

We accrue infercst and penalties associated with uncertain lax positions as part of income 1ax expensc.

We conduct business and file tax retums in numerous countries, states, and local jurisdictions. The ULS. Intemal Revenue Service ("IRS™) has completed
its audit ot the Company for tax years through fiscal 2017. All resulting significant items for fiscal 2017 and prior years have been settled with the IRS, with
the exception of fiscal 2016. Statutes of limitation for pre-acquisition 1ax ycars of Pinnacle gencrally remain open for calendar year 2002 and subsequent
years principally related to net operating losses. Other major jurisdictions where we conduet business generally have statutes of limitations ranging from
three to five years.

We estimate thai it is reasonably possible that the amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by up to 520.7 million over the next twelve
months due to various lederal, state, and foreign audit settlements and the expiration of statutes of limitations. Of this amount, approximately 56.7 million
would reverse through resulis of discontinucd operations.
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The change in the unrecognized tax benefus for the yearended May 26,2019 was:

Beginning balance on May 27,2018 $ 325
Acquired business positions 10.6
Increases from positions cstablished during prior perieds 7.7
Decreases from positions established during prior periods (&)
Increases from positions established during the current penod 1.2
Decreases relating to settlements with taxing authorities (5.1)
Reductions resulting trom lapse ol applicable stawute of limitation 3.3)
Other adjustments to liability 1.0
Ending balance on May 26,2019 $ 441

We have approximately $30.1 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards (§15.0 mitlion will expire between fiseal 2020 and 2040 and §15.1
million have ne expiration dates) and $146.2 million of Federal net operting loss camyforwards which expine between fiscal 2022 and 2027. Federal capital
loss camry lorwards related to the Private Brands divestiture of approximately $2.6 billion will expire in fiscal 2021. Included in net deferred (ax liabilities are
$49.0 million of tax cflected siate net operating loss canyforwards which expire in varous years ranging from fiscal 2020 to 2038 and $169.0 million of 1ax
effected state capital loss camyforwards related to Lthe divestiture of Privaie Brands, the vast majority of which expire in tiscal 2021, Forcign 1ax credits of
$7.6 million will expire belween fiscal 2025 and 2029. Statc tax credits of approximately S11.5 million will expire in various years ranging from fiscal 2020
to 2029,

We have recognized a valuation allowance (or the portion of the net operating loss carry forwards, capital loss carry forwards, 1ax credit camry lorwards, and
ather deferred tax assets we believe are not more likely than not 10 be realized. The net change in the valuation allowance for fiscal 2019 was a decrcase of
S1.5 million. For fiscal 2018 and 2017. changes in the valuation allowance were a decreasc 0f $273.8 million and 2 decrease of $420.1 million, respectively.
The current year change principally relates to increases in the valuation allowances for state and foreign net operating losses and credits ofTset by the releasc
of valuation allowances on capilaf toss due Lo capital gains from the divestiture of the Wesson® oil and Gelit businesses.

We believe that our foreign subsidiaries have invested or will invest any undistributed eamnings indefinitely, or the eamings will be remitted in a tax-
neutral transaction, and. therefore, do not provide deferred taxes on the cumulative undistributed camings of our foreign subsidiaries. Historically, we had
determined that previgusly undistributed carnings of cerlain foreign subsidiaries no longer met the requirement [or indefinite reinvestment and therefore
recorded certain tax liabilities in our current tax expense. The net change in defemred laxes on cumulative undistnbuted eamings of our foreign subsidianies
for fiscal 2019 was a decrease of $5.9 million.

16. 1LEASES

We lease centain facilities, land, and transponation equipment under agreements that expire at various dates. Renl expense under all operating leases
from continuing operations was $83.5 million, $62.5 million, and $71.2 million in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. These amounts are inclusive of
certain charges recognized at the cease-use date for remaining lease payments associated with exiled propertics.

78




Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements - (Continued)
Fiscal Years Endcd May 26,2019, May 27, 2018, and May 28,2017
{columnar dollars in milllens cxcept per share nmounts)

A summary of non-cancellable operating lease commitments for fiscal years following May 26, 2019, was as follows:

2020 g 52.1
2021 484
2022 3180
2023 34.1
2024 25.8
Later years 1144

5 3126

At May 26,2019 and May 27. 2018, asscts under capital and financing leases otaling $157.1 million, net of accumulated depreciation of $37.6 million,
and $82.9 million, net of $32.1 million of accumulated depreciation, respectively, were included in Propeny, plant and equipment. Charges resulting from
the depreciation of assels held under capital and financing leases are recognized within depreciation expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Non-cash issuances of capital and financing leass obligations totaling $23.5 million, $1.3 million, ard $0.5 million, arc excluded [rom cash tlows from
investing and financing activities on the Conselidated Statements of Cash Flows for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

17. CONTINGENCIES
Litigation Matiers

We are a panty to centain litigation matlers relating to our acquisition of Beatrice Campany ("Beatrice") in iscal 1991, including litigation proceedings
related to businesses divested by Beatrice prior to our acquisition of the company. These proceedings include suits against a number of lead paint and
pigment manufacturers, including ConAgra Grocery Products Company, LLC. a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("ConAgra Grocery Products™) as
alleged successorto W. P. Fuller & Co., a lead paint and pigment manuofacturer owned and operated by a predecessor 1o Bealrce from 1962 until 1967, These
lawsutts genewmlly seck damages [or personal injury, preperty damage, economic loss, and govemmenial expenditures allegedly caused by the use of lead-
based paint, and/or injunetive relief for inspection and abatement. Although decisions favorable to us have been rendered in Rhode Island, New Jersey,
Wisconsin, and Chio, we remain a defendant in active suits in [llinois and California. ConAgr Grocery Products has denied liability in both suits, both on
the merits of' the claims and on the basis that we do not believe it 1o be the successor to any liability attibuiable 1o W. P. Fuller & Co. The Califomia suit is
discussed in the following paragraph. The Illlineis suit sccks class-wide welief for reimbursement of costs associated with the testing of lead levels in blood.
We do not belicve it is probable thal we have incurred any liability with respect to the linois case, nor is it possible to cstimate any potential cxposure.

In Cahifornia, u number of citics and counties joined in a consalidated action sccking abatement of an alleged public nuisance in the form of lead-based
paint potentialty present on the interior of residences, regardless of its condition. On Scptember 23, 2013, a trial of the Califomia case concluded in Lthe
Superior Count of California for the County of Santa Clara, and on January 27, 2014, the court entered a judgment (the "Judgment™) against ConAgra Grocery
Products and two other defendants ordering the creation of a California abaiement fund in the amount of $1.15 billion. Liability is joint and severnl. The
Company appealed the Judgment, and, on November 14, 2017 the Califomia Court ol Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District reversed in pan, holding that
the defendants were pot liable to pay for abatement of homes built after 1950, but aflimied the Judgment as 10 homes built before 1951, The Count of Appeal
remanded the case ta the trial court with directions to recalculate the amount of the abatement fund estimated to be necessary ta coverthe cost of remedialing
pre-1951 homes, and 10 hold an evidentiary hearing regarding appointment of a suitable receiver. ConAgm Grocery Products and the other defendants
petitioned the California Supreme Count for review of the decision, which we believe to be an unprecedented cxpansion of current California law. On
February 14, 2018, the Califomia Supreme Count denied the petition and declined 1o review the merits of the case, and the casc was remanded to the trial
cour for funker proccedings. ConAgra Grocery Products and the other defendants sought further review of cenain issucs from the Supreme Coun of the
United States, but on October 15,2018, the Supreme Court declined to review the case. On Seprember 4, 2018, the trial court recalculated its cstimate of the
amount needed to remediate pre-1951 homes in the plaintifl junsdictions 10 be $309.0 million. As of July 10, 2019, the parties reached an agreement in
principle to resolve this matter, which agreement remains subject Lo approval by the trial court. Once
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approved, the action against ConAgr Grocery Producls will be dismissed with prejudice. Pursuant to the settlement, ConAgra Grocery Products will pay a
totat of S101.7 million in seven installments 1o be paid annually from fiscal 2020 through fiscal 2026, ConAgm Grocery Products will funher provide a
guarantee of up to 315.0 million in the cvent co-defendant, NL Industries, Tne., defaults on its payment obligations,

We have accrued $25.3 million and $74.1 millien, within other accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilitics, respectively, for this matter as of
May 26, 2019. The extent of insurunce coverage is uncertain and the Company's carriers are on notice; however, any possible insurance recovery has not
been considered for purposes of detennining our lability. We cannol assure that the inal resolution of these matlers will not have a material adverse eflect on
our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

We arc party to a number of putative elass action lawsuits challenging vanous product claims madc in the Company's product labeling. These matlers
include Briseno v. Condgra Foods, Inc., in which it is alleged thar the labeling for Wesson® oils as 1006% natural is false and mislcading because the oils
coatain penetically modificd plants and organisms. In February 2015, the U.S. District Court for the Central District of Californis granted class certification Lo
permit plaintifTs to pursue state law claims. The Company appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which affirmed class
certification in January 2017. The Supreme Court ot the United States de¢lined to review the decision and the case has been remanded to the tral cour for
further procecdings. On April 4, 2019, the iral court granted preliminary approval of a settlement in this matter.

We arc party to matters challenging the Company's wage and hour practices. These matters include a number of closs actions consolidated under the
caption Negrete v. ConAdgra Foods, Inc,, el al, pending in the U.S. Distriet Courl for the Central District of California, in which the plaintiffs allege a patiem
of violations of California and/or federal law at several current and former Company manufacturing facilities across the Siate of California. While we cannot
predict with certainty the results of this or any other legal proceeding, we do not expect this matter to have a matenal adverse effect an our financial
condition, results of operations, or business.

We arc parly o a number of mattets asserting product liability claims against the Company related to cenain Pam® and other cooking spray products.
These lawsuits generally seek damages for personal injuries allegedly caused by defects in the design, manufacture. or safety wamings of the cooking spray
products. We have put the Company's insurance carriers on notice. While we cannot predict with ceriainty the results of these or any other lepal proceedings,
we do not expect these matters to have ¢ material adverse effect an our financial condition, results of operations, or business.

The Company, its directors, and several of its executive officers are defendants in several class actions alleging violations of federal securitics laws, The
lawsuits assert that the Company's oflicers made material misstatements and omissions that caused the market to have zn unrealistically posilive assessment
of the Company’s linancial prospeets in light of the acquisition of Pinnacle, thus causing the Company's securitics to be overvalued prior to the release of the
Company's consolidated financial results on December 20, 2018 for the second quarter of fiscal 2019, The first of these lawsuits, captioned West Paim Beach
Firefighters’ Pension Fund v. Conagra Brands, lnc., et al., with which subsequent lawsuits alleging similar facls have been consolidated, was filed February
22,2019 in the U.S. District Court for the Northem District of [linois. In addition, on May 9, 2019, a sharcholdcr filed a dervative action on behalf of the
Company against the Company’s directors captioned Kfein v Arora, ¢r al. in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of llinois. The sharcholder
derivative lawsuit asserts harm to the Company duc to alieged breaches of fiduciary duty and mismanagement in connection with the Pinnacle acquisition.
On July 9, 2019, the Company received a stockholder demand under Delaware law to inspect the Company’s books and records related to the Board of
Directors' review of the Pinnacle business, acquisition, and the Company's public statements related 1o them. While we cannot predict with certainty the
results of these or any other legal proceedings, we do not expect these matlers to have a malenal adverse effect on our fnancial condition, results of
operations, or business.

Environmental Marters

We are a parly to certain environmental proceedings relaling to our acquisition of Beatnice in fiscal 1991. Such proceedings include proceedings refated
1o busincsses divested by Beatrice poor to our acquisition of Beatrice, The curment environmental proceedings associated with Beatrice include litigation and
administrative proceedings involving Beatrce's possible stawus as a potentially responsible parly at approximately 40 Superfund, proposed Superfund, or
stale-cquivalent sites {the "Beatrice sites”). These siles involve locations previously owned or operated by predecessors of Beatrice that used or produced
petroleum, pesticides, fentilizers, dyes, inks, solvents, PCBs, acids, lead, sulfur, tannery wastes, and/or other contaminants. Reserves for
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these Beatrice environmental proccedings have been cstablished based on our best estimate af the undiscounted remediation liabilities, which estimates
include cvaluation of investipatory studies, extent of required clean-up, the known valumetric contnbution of Beatrice and other potentially responsible
parties, and iis expericnce in remediating sites. The accrual for Beatnice-related environmental matters totaled $52.8 million as of May 26, 2019. a majority of
which relates 1o the Superfund and stale-equivalent sites referenced above, During the third quaner of fiscal 2017, o final Remcedial Investigation/Feasibilily
Study was submitted for the Southwest Propenics pottion of the Wells G&H Superfund site, which is one of the Beatrice sites. The U.S, Environmental
Protection Agency (the "EPA") issued a Record of Decision (the "ROD") for the Southwest Properties portion of the site on September 29, 2017 and has
entered into ncgotiations with potentially responsible parties 1o detenmine final responsibility forimplementing 1he ROD.

Guaraniges and Other Contingencies

We guarantec an obligation of the Lainb Weston business pursuant 1o a guamantee arrangement that existed pror to the Spinoff and remained in place
following completion of the Spinoff until such guarantee obligations Is substituted for guarsntecs issued by LLamb Weston. Pursuant to the sepamation and
distmbution agreement, dated as of November 8, 2016 (the "Separation Agreement”}, between us and Lamb Weston, this guarantee amangement is deemed a
liability of Lamb Weston that was iransferred 10 Lamb Weston as part of the SpinofT. Accordinply, in the event that we are required 1o make any payments as a
result of this guarantee amangement, Lamb Weston is obligated to indemmify us for any such liability, reduced by any insurance proceeds reccived by us, in
accordance with the terms of the indemnification provisions under the Scparation Agreement.

Lamb Weston is a party to an agricultural subleasc agreement with a third pany for certain farmland through 2020 (subject, at Lamb Weston's option, to
extension fortwo additional five-year periods). Under the terms of the sublcase agreement, Lamb Weston is required to make certain rental payments to the
sublessor. We have guaranteed Lhe sublessor Lamb Weston's performance and the payment of all amounts (including indemnification obligations) owed by
Lamb Weston under the sublease agreement, up to a maximum of $75.0 million. We belicve the farmland associaled with this sublease agreement is readily
markelable for fease to other area fanming operators. As such, we believe that any financial exposure to the Company, in the event that we were required 1o
perform under the guarantee, would be largely mitigated.

We lease or leased centain office buildings from entities that we have determined o be variable interest entitics. The lease agreements with these entities
include fixed-price purchase options for the assets being leased. The leasc agreements also contain contingent put optiaens {the "lease put options™) that allow
or allowed the lessors to require us to purchase the buildings at the greater of erginal construction cost, or fair market value, without a lease agreement in
place (the "put price®) in certain limited circumstances. As a result of substantial impairment charges related (o our divested Privale Brands operations, these
lease put options became excreisable. We are amonizing the difterence between the put price and the estimated fair value (without a lensc agreement in place)
ol the property over the remaining lease lerm within SG&A expenses. During fiscal 2018, we purchased two buildings that were subject to lcase put options
and recognized net losses totaling $48.2 million for the carly exit of unfavorable lease contracts. Duning fiscal 2017, one of these lease agreements expired,
and we reversed the applicable accrual and recoganized a benefit of $6.7 million in SG&A expenses.

As of May 26,2019 and May 27, 2018, there was onc remaining leased building subject to a lease put option for which the put option price exceeded the
estimated fair value of the property by $8.2 million, of which we had accrued $1.6 million and £1.2 million, respectively, This Icase is accounted for as an
operating lease, and accordingly, there are no matenial assets and [liabilitics, other than the accrued portion of the put price, associated with this entity
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We have determined that we da not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the
economic performance of this entity. In making this determination, we have considered, among other items, the terms of the lease agreement, the expected
remaining uscful life of the assct lcased, and the capital structure of the lessor entity.

In centain limiled situations. we will guarantee an obligation of an unconsolidated entity. We guarantiee certain leases resulling from the divestiture of
the JM Swank business completed in the lirst quaner of fiscal 2017, As of May 26,2019, the remaining tenns of these arrangements did not exceed four years
and the maximum amount of future payments we have guaranteed was $1.2 million, In addition. we guarntec a lease resulting from an exited facility. As of
Mayv 26, 2019, the remaining tcrm of this amangement did not exceed cight years and the maximum amount of future payments we have guaranteed was
S19.1 million.
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General

After taking inlo account liabilities recognized for all of the forcgoing matters, management believes the ultimate resolution of such matlers should not
have a material adverse effeet on our financial condition, results of operations, or liguidity; however, it is reasonably possible that a change of the estimales
of any of the foregoing matters may occur in the fuiure and, as noted, the lead paint matter could result in a matenal final judgment which could have a
malerial adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

Costs of legal services associaled with the toregoing matters are recognized in eamings as services are provided.

18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

QOur operations are exposed to marker risks from adverse changes in commnodity prices affecting the cost of raw materials and energy, foreign cumency
exchange rates, and interest rates. In the nomal course of business, these risks are managed through a variety of strategies, including the usc ol derivalives.

Commodity and commodity index fulures and option cantracts are used from time to time to economically hedge commodity inpul prices on items such
as natural gas, vegetable oils, proteins, packaging materials, dairy, grins, and clectricity. Generally, we cconomically hedge a portion of our anticipated
consumption of commodity inputs for perieds of up to 36 menths. We may enter into longer-tenn economic hedges on particular commadities, if deemed
appropriale. As of May 26, 2019, we had cconomically hedged certain portions of our anticipated consumption of commodity inpuls using derivative
instruments with expiration dates through February 2020.

In order to reduce ¢xposures related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, we enter into forward exchange, option, or swap contracts from time
1o time for transactions denominated in a currency other than the applicable functienal currency. This includes. but is not limited to, hedging against foreign
cumrency risk in purchasing invenlory and capital equipment, sales of finished goods, and future seitlement of foreign-denominated assets and liabilities. As
ofMay 26, 2019, we had economically hedged certain ponions of our forcign cumency risk in anticipated transactions using derivative instruments with
cxpiration dates through February 2020,

From time Lo time, we may use derivative instruments, including interest rate swaps, 10 reduce risk related 10 changes tn interest raes. This includes, but
i5 not limited o, hedging against increasing interest ries prior (o the issuance of long-term debt and hedging the fair value of our sentor long-termm debt.

Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

During fiscal 2019, we cntered inlo deal-contingent forward starting interest rale swap contracts o hedge a portion of the inlerest mte sk related to our
tssuance of long-term debt to help finance the acquisition of Pinnacle. We settled these centracts durtng the sccond quarter of fiscal 2019 and deferred a
$47.5 million gain in accumulated other comprehensive income. This gain will be amonized as a weduction of net interest expense aver the lives of the
related debt instruments. The unamortized amount ot May 26,2019, was $45.5 million.

Economic Hedges of Forecasied Cash Flowx

Many of our denivatives do not qualify for, and we do nol curmently designate centain commodity or forcign currency derivatives to achicve, hedye
accounting treatment. We reflect realized and unrealized gains and losses from derivatives used to economically hedge anticipated commodity consumption
and to mitigate forcign cumrency cash flow risk in camings imniediately within general corporate expense (within cost of goads sold). The gains and losses are
reclassificd to segment operating results in the period in which the underlying item being economically hedged is recognized in cost ol goods sold. In the
event that management determines a particular derivative entered into as an economic hedge of a forecasied commodily purchase has ceased to function as an
economic hedge, we cease recognizing further gains and losses on such derivatives in comorate expense and begin recognizing such gains and losses within
segpment operating results immediately.
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Economic Hedges of Fair Values — Foreign Curvency Exchange Rate Risk

We may use options and c¢ross cuimency swaps to economically hedge the fair value of certain monetary assets and liabilities {including intercompany
balances) denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. These derivatives are marked-to-market with gains and losses immediately
recognized in SG&A expenses. These substantially offset the foreign cumrency transaction gains or losscs recognized as values of the monetary assets or
liabilities being cconomically hedged change.

All derivative instruments are recagnized on the Consolidaled Balance Sheets at fair value {refer to Nate 20 for additional information related to fair
value measurements). The fair value of derivative assets is recognized within prepaid expenses and other current assels, while the fair value of derivative
liabilities is recognized within other accrued liabilities. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we offsei certain derivative asset and liability balances, as well as
certain amounts representing nights to reclaim cash collateral and obligations to retum cash collateral, where masier netting agreements provide for legal right
of sctoff. At May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018, amounis representing an obligation to return cash collateral of $0.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively,
were included in prepaid cxpenses and other current assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivative assets and liabilities and amounts representing a rght to reclaim cash collateral or oblipation to return cash collateral were reflected in our
Consolidated Balance Shects as follows:

May 26,2019 May 27,2018
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3 59 8§ 4.4
Other accrued liabilities 14 0.1

The following table presents our derivative assets and liabilities at May 26, 2019, on a gross basis, prior (o the setoff of $0.5 million 1o total derivative
assels and $0.4 million to total derivative liabilitics where legal right of sctoff existed:

Derivative Assets Derivatlve Liabilities
Balance Shect Balance Sheet
location Fair Value Locadon Fair Value
Prepaid expenscs and other curent
Commodity contracis assels 5 4.9  Otheraccrued liabilities 5 09
Prepaid expenses and other cument
Foreign exchange conlracts assets 1.4 Otheraccrued liabilitics 09
Prepaid expenses and other current
Other &55C1S 0.1  Otheraccrued liabilities —
Total derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments S 6.4 $ 1.8

The following table presents our denvative assets and liabilities, al May 27, 2018, on a gross basis, prior to the setofTof $1.4 million to total derivative
assels and $0.4 million to tolal derivative liabilities where legal right of seto(T existed:

Derivative Assets Derivatve Linbilities
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
Lacation Fair Value Location Fair Value
Prepaid expenses and other cument
Commodily conlmcls nssets % 3.7 (eheraccrued liabilities s 04
Prepaid expenses and other current
Foreign exchange contracts asscls 2.1 Otheraccrued tiabilities —
Prepaid expenses and other current
Other asscts —  Otheraccrued liabilities 0.1
Total derivatives not designated as hedging
instrumcnis S 5.8 s 0.5

83




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)
Fiscal Years Ended May 26,2019, May 27,2018, and May 28, 2017
(columnar dollars in millions except per share amounts)

The location and amount of gains {losses} from derivatives not designated as hedging instruments in our Consolidmed Statements of Operations were as
lollows:

For the Fiscal Year Ended May 26,2019

Amount of Galn {Loss)
Recognized on Derivarives

Location In Consolidated Statement af Operatlons of In Cansalidated
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Gain ([oss) Recognized on Derivatives Statement of Operations
Commadily contracts Cost of goods sold ) 5.3
Foreign exchange contracls Cost of goeds sold 1.7
Total loss from denivative instruments not designated as hedging
Instruments b (3.6)
For the Fiscal Year Ended May 27, 2018
Amount of Gain {l.osy)
Recogolzed on Derivatives
Locatlan Iz Consolldated Staterment of Operations of in Consolkared
Derivatives Not Deslgnated as Hedging Instruments Gain (L.oss) Recognized on Derivatlves Statement of Operations
Commodity contracts Cast of goods sold s 30
Forcign exchange contracts Cost of goods sold 9N
Forcign exchange contracts Selling, general and administrative expense 0.3
Total loss from derivative instruments not designated as hedging
instrumernts ) (0.6)
For the Fiscal Year Ended May 28, 2017
Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recagnized on Derlvatlves
Location in Consolldated Staterent of Operations of in Consolidated
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Galn (Loss) Recognized on Derlvalives Statement of Operations
Commodity conlracls Cost of goods sold ) 0.9
Foreign exchange contracts Cost of goods sold {0.3)
Foreign exchange contracts Selling, geneml and administrative expense 0.2
Total gain from derivative instrumenis not designated as hedging
< 08

instruments

As of May 26,2019, our open commmodity contracts had a notional value (defined as notional quantity times market value per notional quantity unit) of
$140.1 million and $18.5 millien for purchase and sales contracts, respectively. As of May 27, 2018, our oper commodity contracts had a ngtional value of
$100.0 million and $34.2 million for purchase and sales contracts, respectively. The notional amount of our foreign currency forward and cross cumency swap
contracts as of May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018 was $88.2 million and $82 .4 million, respectively.

We enter info certain commodity, interest rate, and foreign exchrange denvatives with a diversilied group of counterparties. We continually monitor our
positions and the credit ratings of the counterpariics involved and limit the amount of eredit cxposure o any one party. These transactions may exposc us (o
potential losses due 10 the risk of nonperformance by these counterpartics. We have not incurred a material loss due to nonperformance in any period
presented and do not expect to incur any such materiad loss. We also enter into futures and options transactions through varous regulated cxchanges.

At May 26,2019, the maximum amount of loss due to the credit risk of the counterparties, had the counterporics failed to perform according to the tenns
ol the contracts, was $2.9 million.
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19. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

We have defined benefit retirement plans ("plans") for eligible salaried and hourdy employees. Benefits are based on years ol credited service and average
compensation or staled amounts lor cach year of service, We also sponsor postretirement plans which provide centain medical and denial benefits ("other
postretirement benefits") 1o qualifying U.S. employees. Effective August |, 2013, our defined benefit pension plen for eligible salaried employces was closed
to new hire salaricd employces. New hire salaried employees will generally be eligible to panicipate in ourdefined contribution plan.

In connection with the acquisition of Pinnacle, we now include the components of pension and postretiremient cxpense associated with the Pinnacle
pension plans and a post-ecmployment benefit plan in our Consolidated Statements of Eamings from the date of the completion of the acquisition. These
plans are frozen for future bencfits. The tabular disclosures presented below are inclusive of the Pinnacle plans.

During the sccond quarteraf fiscal 2018, we approved the amendment of our salaried and non-qualified pension plans effective as of December 31, 2017.
The amendment froze the compensation and service periods used to calculate pension benefits for active employees who panicipate in the plans. Beginning
January 1, 2018, impacted employees do not acerue additional benefit for future service and eligible compensation received under these plans.

As a result of the amendment, we remeasured our pension plan liability as of Seplember 30, 2017. In connection with the remeasurement, we updated the
effective discount rate assumption from 3.90% 1o 3.78%. The cunailment and related remeasurement resulied in a net decrease to the underfunded status of
the pension plans by $43.5 million with a conesponding benctit within other comprehensive income (loss) for the second quarter of fiscal 2018. In addition,
we recorded charges of$3.4 million and $0.7 million reflecting the write-off of actuaral losses in excess of 10% of our pension liability and a cunailment
charge, respectively.

We recognize the funded status of our plans and other benefits in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. For our plans, we also recognize as a component ol
accumulated other comprehensive loss, the net of lax resulls of the acluarial gains or losses within the commidor and prior service costs or credits that arise
during the period but are not recognized in nct perodic benefit cost. For our other benefits, we also recagnize as 2 compaonent of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), the net of tax results of the gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that arise during the period but are not recognized in
net periodic benefit cost. These amounts will be adjusted out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as they arc subsequently recognized as
components of net periodic benefit cost. For our pension plans, we have elected to immediately recognize actuurial gains and losses in our operating results
in the year in which they occur, to the extent they exceed the comdor, eliminating amortization. Amounts are included in the components of pension benefit
and other postretitement benefit costs, below, as recognized net acluanial lass.

The information below includes the activities of cur continuing and discontlinued operations.
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The changes in benefit obligations and plan assets at May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018 are presenled in the fallowing 1able.

Penslon Benefits Other Benefits
019 2018 2019 2018
Change in Benefit Obligatan

Benefit obligation at beginning of year § 34236 § 35487 % 1183 & 1569
Service cost 10.9 428 a1 0.2
Interest cost 132.4 1111 38 39
Plan participanis' coantributtons — — 25 4.7
Amendments 1.4 0.6 (0.8) (17.2)
Actuarial loss {gain) 150.1 (9.4) (24.3) (13.2)
Plan settlements — (10.2) (0.5) —
Curtailments — {79.5) (0.6)

Bencfits paid (191.3) (181.3) (9.8) (16.2)
Cumency {0.6) 0.8 (0.2) 0.2
Business acquisitions and divestitures 206.4 — 1.7 —

Benetit obligation at end of year $ 37332 % 314236 % 912 § 119.3
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan asscts at beginning of year § 33551 § 29836 § 37 8 —
Actual retwm on plan assets 252.2 2496 0.2 3.9
Employer contuibutions 14.7 il26 1.3 11.5
Plan paricipants' contributions — — 2.5 4.7
Plan settlements — (10.2) (0.5) —
Benefits paid (191.2) (181.3) (9.8) (16.2)
Curmrency {0.6) 03 — —
Business acquisitions and divestitures 171.3 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year S 36015 3§ 33551 % 14 3 3.7
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The funded status and amounis recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at May 26,2019 and May 27, 2018 were:

Funded Status

Amounts Recognlzed In Consolldated Balance Sheets

Other assets

Other accrued liabilitics

Other noncurrent liabilities
Net Amount Recognlzed

Amounts Recognlzed in Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Incame) Loss (Pre-

tax}

Actuanal net loss (gain)

Net prior service cosl (benefit)
Total

Weighted-Average Actuarlal Assumptlons Used to Determine Benefit Obligations

at May 26,2019 and May 27,2018
Discount rate
Long-lerm rate of compensation increase

Pension Beaeflts Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018
S (131.7y s (68.5) § 878y $ (115.6)
s 61.2 s 103.0 s 18 ) 2.6
(10.2) (11.8) (10.8) (16.2)
(182.7) (159.7) (79.8) (102.0)
$ (131.7y % (68.5) §% (B78) § {115.6)
$ 1158 S 488 S 478 S (25.8)
12.1 13.8 [{FAS) {18.4)
§ 127.9 $ 62.6 $ 619 S {44.2)
31.88% 4.14% 348% 3.81%
NIA NIA NFA N/A

The accumulated benelit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $3.7 billion and $3.4 billion a1 May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018,

respectively.

The projected benelit obligation, aceunwlated benefit obligation, and fair value ol plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in
¢xcess of plan asscts at May 26,2019 and May 27, 2018 were:

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated bencefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

Components of pension benefit and other postretirement benefit costs included:

Service cos!
Interest cost
Expected retum on plan assets

Amortization of prior service cost (benefit)

Special termination benefits
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)
Settlement loss (gain)

Cuntailment loss (gain)

Benefit cost — Company plans

Pension berefit cost — mulli-employer plans

Total benefit (income) cost

2019 018
S 9643 951.1
963.7 950.i
7714 779.5

Pension Renefits Other Beneflts

2019 1018 2017 2019 2018 017
) 109 S 428 S 569 § 0.1 § 0.2 0.3
132.6 NN 116.8 38 39 4.6
(174.4) {218.3) (2074) — — —
11 29 2.6 (2.2 3.4) (6.6)
— _ 1.5 — _ —
5.1 34 12 (1.4} — 0.5
— 1.3 13.8 (1.0 — —
— 0.7 1.7 (0.6) — —
(22.1 (56.1) (12.9) (1.5 0.7 (1.2)
6.3 7.1 120 — — —
S (164) % (49.0) § 09) 8§ (1.3) $ 0.7 (1.2)
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As a result of the Spinoff, during fiscal 2017, we recorded a pension curtailment gain of $19.5 million within other comprehensive income (loss) and
remeasured a significant qualified pension plan as of November 9, 2016. In connection with the remecasurement, we updated the cffective discount mie
assumption rom 3.86% to 4.04%. The remeasurement and the curtailment gain decreased the underfunded status of the pension plans by $66.0 million with a
comesponding benefit within other comprehensive income (loss).

During tiscal 2017, we provided a voluntary lump-sum settlement offer to eertain terminated vested participants in our salaried pension plan, Lump-sum
scttlement payments totaling $287.5 million were distributed from pension plan assets to such participants. Due to the pension setilement, we were required
to remeasure our pension plan liability. In connection with the remeasurement, we updated the cffective discount rate assumption to 4.1 1%, as of
December 31, 2016, The seitlement and related remeasurement resulted in the recognition of a settlement charge of 513.8 million, reflected in pension and
postretirement nen-service income, a3 well as a benefit to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) totaling $62.2 million.

in fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company recorded charges of $5.1 million, $3.4 million, and §1.2 million, respectively, reflecting the year-end write-
ol ol aciuanial losses in excess of 10% of our pension liability.

The Company recorded an expense o 50.3 mullion (primacily within restructuring activities), 0.6 million (primarily within restrueluring activities), and
$4.0 million (52_1 million was recorded in discontinued operations ond $1.9 million was recorded in restructuning activities) during fiscal 2019, 2018, and
2017, respectively, related 1o our expected incunence of certain multiemployer plan withdrawal costs.

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) were:

Penslon Bencfits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018
Net actuanial gain {loss) 3 (72.1) 8 1200 5§ 251 § 16.8
Amendments (1.4) {0.6) 08 17.2
Amortization ol prior service cost (benefit) 31 29 2.0 3.4)
Settlement and curtailment loss (gain) —_ 20 {1.6) —
Recognized net actuanial loss (gain) 5.1 34 {1.4) —
Net amount recognized $ (65.3) 3 1277 § 207 S jo.6
Weighted-Average Actuarial Assumptions Used to Determine Net Expense
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
Discount rate 4.15% 3.90% 3.83% 181% 333% 3118%
Long-term rate of retum on plan assets 5.17% 7.50% 7.50% N/A NFA N/A
Long-term rate of compensation increase 3.63% 3.63% 3.66% N/A N/A N/A

Beginning in fiscal 2017, the Company has elected 1o use a split discount rate (spot-rale approach) for the U.S. plans and centain foreign plans.
Historically, a single weighted-average discount rate was used in the calculation of service and inlerest costs, both of which are camponents of pension
benelfit costs. The spot-rate approach applies separate discount mtes for each projected benelit payment in the calculation of pension service and interest cost.
This changc is considered a change in accounting estimate and has been applied prospectively. The pre-tax reduction in total pension benefit cost associated
with this change in fiscal 2017 was approximately $27.0 million.

We amortize prior service cost for our pension plans and postretirement plans, as wetl as amortizable gains and losses for our pestretirement plans, in

¢qual annual amounts over the average expected future period of vested service. For plans with no active participants, average life expectancy is used instead
of average expected useful service.
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Plan Assets

The tair value of plan assets, summarized by level within the fair value hierarchy described in Note 20, as of May 26, 2019, was as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tolal

Cash and cash equivalents $ a7 s 777 S — 8 784
Equity securities:

U.S. equily securities 563 918 — 148.1

International equily sccurities 8738 04 — 88.2
Fixed income securitics:

Govemment bonds — 7483 — 748.3

Corporate bonds — 2,255.5 — 22555

Morngage-backed bonds — 311 — 311
Real estate funds 04 — — 04
Net receivables for unsertled transactions 36 — — 5.6

Fair value measurement of pension plan assets in the fair value hiemrehy $ 1508 § 32048 S — § 33556
Investments measured at net assct value 2459

Total pension plan assets 5 36015

The fair value of plan assets, summarized by level within the fair value hicrarchy deseribed in Note 20, as of May 27, 2018, was as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash end cash cquivalents S 1o 5 650 § — 8 66.0
Equity securities:

U.S. cquity securitics 319.8 124.0 — 4438

International equity securities 2565 1.0 — 2575
Fixed income securities:

CGovermnment bonds — 1,854.8 — 18548

Corporate bonds — 4.7 — 4.7

Mortgage-backed bonds — 9.3 — R
Real estate funds 7.7 — — 1.7
Master limited partnerships 04 — — 0.4
Net receivables for unsetiled transactions 10.9 — — 10.9

Fair value measurcment of pension plan assets in the fair value hicrarchy § 5963 § 20588 3§ — § 26551
Investments measured at net asset value 700.0

Total pension plan assets $  3,355.1

Level 1 asscts are valued based on quoted prices in active markets for identical securities. The majority of the Level 1 assets listed above include the
common stock of both U.S. and intemational companies, mutual furds, master limited parinership units, and real estate investment trusts, all of which are
actively traded and priced in the market.

Level 2 assets are valued based on other signiticant observable inputs including quoted prices for similar securities, yicld curves, indices, etc. Level 2
assets consist primarly of individual fixed income securities where values are based on quoted prices of similar securities and observable market data.
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Level 3 assets consist of investments where active market pricing is not readily available and, as such, fuir valuc is cstimated using significant
unobscrvable inpuis.

Cenain assets that are measured at fair value using the NAY (net asset value) per share {or its equivalent) practical expedicnt have not been classified in
the fair value hierarchy. Such invesuments arc generally considered long-term in nature with varying redemption availability. For certain of these
investments, with a fair value of approximately $51.0 mitlion as of May 26, 2019, the asset managers have the ability to impose customary redemption gates
which may further restrict or limit the redemption of invested tunds therein, As of May 26, 2019, funds with a fair value of $4.2 million have imposed such
gates.

As of May 26, 2019, we have unfunded commitments for additional invesiments of $48.3 million in private equity funds and $17.0 million in natural
resources funds, We expect unfunded commitments to be funded ffom plan assets rather than the general assets of the Company.

To develop the expected long-term rate of retum on plan assets assumption for the pension plans, we consider the current assel allocation strategy, the
historical investment performance, and the expectations for future retums of cach asset class.

Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category were as fallows:

May 26,2019 May 27,2018

Equity securities 7% 21%
Debi sceuritics 85% 58%
Real estate funds 1% 10%
Multi-strategy hedpe funds —% 4%
Privale equity 3% 4%
Other 4% 3%

Total 100% 100%

Due so the salaried pension plan [ecze, the Company's pension assel strategy is now designed to align our pension plan assets with our projected benefit
obligation 1o reduce volatility by targeting an investmenl strategy of approximately 90% in fixed-income securitics and approximately 10% in retum
sceking assets, pnimarily cquity sccurities, real estate. and private asscts.

Orher investments are primarily made up of cash and master limited pantnerships.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant cffect on the benefit obligation olthe postretirement plans.

Assumed Health Care Cost Trend Rates at: May 26,2019 May 27,2018
[nitial health care cost trend rate 7.20% 7.87%
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.5% 4.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2024 2024

We currently anticipate making contributions of approximately $14.2 million 1o our pension plans in fiscal 2020. We anticipate making contnbutions of
$10.8 million 1o our other postretirement plans in fiscal 2020. These cstimaltes are based on ERISA guidclines, current 1ax laws, plan asset performance, and
liabilily assumptions, which are subject to change.
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The following lable presents estimated luture gross benelit payments for our plans:

Health Carc and
Life Insurance
Pension Beneflts Bencfits
2020 S 2007 0§ 109
2021 2013 10.1
2022 2039 9.3
2023 207.1 85
2014 2100 7.8
Succeeding $ years 1,074 8 30.2

Mulriemployer Pension Plans

The Company contribules to several multiemployer detined benetit pension plans under collective bargaining agreements that cover certain ot'its union-
represented employees. The risks of panticipating in such plans are different [fom the risks ot'sinple-employer plans, in the following respects:

a.

b.

Assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employcr may be used to provide benelis to employees of other participating emnployers,

[f a participating employer ceases (o contribule 1o the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be bomne by the remaining panicipating
cmployers.

Ifthe Company ceases to have un obligation 1o contribute 10 a muftiecmployer plan in which it had been a contributing employer, it may be required
1o pay to the plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan and on the history of the Company's panticipation in the pian prior to the
cessation ot'its obligaiion to cantribute. The amount that an employer that has ceased (o have an obligation to contribute to a multiemployer plan is
required 10 pay to the plan is referred 1o as a withdrawal liability,

The Company's panticipation in mulliemiployer plans for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2019 is outlined in the lable below. For each plan that is
individually significant to the Company the following information is provided:

The "ELN / PN column provides the Employer Identification Number and the three-digit plan number assigned to o plan by the Intemal Revenue
Service.

The most recent Pension Proteclion Act Zone Status available for 2018 and 2017 is for plan years that cnded in calendar ycars 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The zone status is based on information provided to the Company by cach plan. Aplan in the "red" zone has been determined to be in
"critical status", based on criteria established under the Intemal Revenue Code ("Code™), and is generally less than 65% funded. A plan in the
"yellow" zone has been determined 1o be in "endangered status”, based on criteria established under the Code, and is generally less than 80%
funded. A plan in the "green" zone has been determined 1o be neither in "critical status" nor in "endangered status™, and is genenily at least 80%
funded.

The "FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates whether a Funding Improvement Plan, as required under the Code to be adopted by
plans in the "yellow” zone, or a Rehabilitation Plan, as required under the Code to be adopted by plans in the "red” zone, is pending or has been
implemented by the plan as of the end ofthe plan year that ended in calendar year 2018,

Contributiens by the Company are the amounts contributed in the Company's fiscal periads ending in the specified year.

The "Surcharge Imposed” column indicates whether the Company contribution rate for irs fiscal year that cnded on May 26, 2019 included an
amount in addition to the contribution rate specified in the applicable collective bargaining agreemenl. as imposed by a plan in "critical status", in
accordance with the requirements of the Code.
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»  The last colwnn 1ists the expimtion dates of the collective bargaining agreemenis pursuant to which the Company contributes to the plans.

Far plans that are not individually significant to Conagra Brands the tatal amount of contributions is presented in the aggregate.

Cu:lr(I:huliuns I:r\ Explration

Peruh.m Pratection Acl FIP/ the Company Dales of
Zone Status RP Slatus {milllgns) Collective

Pendlag / Surcharge Bargaining

Pension Fund EIN/PN 2018 2017 Implemented FY19 | FYI8 | FY17 [mposcd Agreements

Bakery and Conlectionary Union and 526118572 Red, Criticel | Red, Crirical

Industry Inernational Pension Plan 1001 and Declining | and Doclining [ RP Implemented |5 0.1 |§ 1.5 | 318 No 2729020

Central States, Southeast ond Southwest 36-6044243 Red, Critical

Arcas Pension Fund 7001 and Declining Red RP Implemented 1.8 1.3 1.8 No 5/3172020

Weslern Conferenee of Teamsters 91-6145047

Pension Plan /001 Green Green N/A 3.2 28] 40 No 0643072021

Other Plans 0.9 0.4 0.4

Total Contributions $ 60| $65 $8.0

The Company was not listed in the Forms 5500 filed by any of the other plans or for any ol the other years as providing rore thar 3% of the plan’s tolal
coniributiens. At the date our financial statements were issued, Forms 5500 were not available for plan years ending in calendar ycar 2018.

During fiscal 2019, we ceased to participate in the Bakery and Confectionary Union and Indusiry Inlemational Fund in conjunction with our sale of the
Trenton, Missour plant.

Tn addition to the contributions listed in the table above, we recorded an additional expense 0 $0.3 mitlion, $0.6 million and $4.0 million in fiscal 2019,
2018, and 2017, respectively, related 10 our expected incumence of certain withdrawal costs.

Certain of our employees are covered under defined contribution plans. The expense related to these plans was $39.9 million, $24.5 million, and §18.0
million in liscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

20. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

FASB guidance establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy based upen the assumptions (inputs) used 10 price assets or liabilities. The three levels of
inpuls used Lo measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets foridentical asscts ar liabilities,

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than those included in Level !, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilitics in active markets or quoted
prices far identical assets or liabilities in inacfive markets, and

Level 3 — Unobscrvable inputs reflecting our own assumptions and best estimate of what inputs market participants would use in pricing Lhe asset or
liability.

The fair values of our Level 2 derivative instruments were determined using valuation models that use market absarvable inputs including interest rale
curves and both forward and spot prices for curencies and commodities. Derivative assets and liabilities included in Level 2 primaiily represent commadity
and foreign currency option and forward contracts and cross-curmency swaps.
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The following table presents our financial assets and labilities measured at fair value on a recurming basis based upon the level within the fair value
hicrarchy in which the tair value measurements fall, as of May 25,200 %:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tolal
Assels:
Derivative asscts 8 30 % 19 % — 5 5.5
Marketable sccunities 15.7 — —_ 15.7
Deferred compensation assets 10.7 — — 10.7
Toual assels $ 94 S 2% % — % 323
Linbilities:
Derivative liabilities 3 — & t4 % —  § 1.4
Deferred compensation liabilitics 704 — — 704
Total liabilities $ 704 8 14 5 — % 8

The tollowing table presents our financial assets and liabilities imeasured at fair value on a recurring basis based upon the level within the fair value
hicmrchy in which the fair value mcasurements tall, as of May 27, 2018:

Level ] Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Derivative assels S 1.7 % 27 8§ — 8 4.4
Marketable securitics 4.8 — — 48
Total assets g 65 § 27 3 — 5 9.2
Liabilities:
Dervative labilitigs S — 3 0.1 S — 5 0.1
Deferred compensation liabilitics 50.6 - — 516
Tolal liabilities ] 516 % 01 8 — 5 517

Cenatn asscts and liabilities, including long-lived assets, goodwill, assct retirement obligations, and cost and equity investments are measured at fair
valuc on a nanrecurring basis using Level 3 inpuls.

Wa recognized charges (or the impairment of certain indefinite-lived brands. The fair values ofthese brands were estimated using the "relief from royalty"
method {Sce Note 9). Impairments in aur Grocevy & Snacks seyment wotaled $76.5 million, $4.0 miltion, and $68.2 million for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. Impaimments in our Intermnational segment tetaled $13.1 million, $0.8 million, and $37.0 million for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectivety.

We recognized charges oI'$2.7 million and $4.7 million in the Corporate scgment for the impairment of certain long-lived assets in fiscal 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The impairment was measured based upon Lhe estimated sales price of the assets.

During fiscal 2017, a charge 0f $27.6 million was recognized 1n the Grocery & Snacks segment for the impairment ot our Wesson™ oil production facility.
The impainment was measured based upon the estimated sales price of the facility (See Note 6).

During fiscal 2017, goodwill impainnent charges totaling $198.9 million were recognized within our Intemational segment.

The canying amount of long-term debt (including current installments) was $10.68 billion as of May 26, 2019 and $3.54 billion as of May 27, 2018.
Based on current market rates, the fair value of this debt (level 2 liabilities) at May 26, 2019 and May 27, 2018 was estimated at $11.24 billion and $3.76
billien, respectively.
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21. BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND RELATED INFORMATION

As a result of the Pinnacle acquisition, we currently reflect our resulis of operations in six reporting segments: Gracery & Snacks, Refngeraied & Frozen,
Intemational, Foodservice, Pinnacle Foods, and Commercial.

In the second quaner ol tiscal 2017, we completed the Spinofl of Lamb Weston. The Lamb Weston business had previously been included in the
Commercial segment. The results of operations ef the Lamb Weston business have been classified as discontinued opertions for all periods presented.

The Grocery & Snacks reporting segment principally includes branded, shelf-stable food products sold in various retail channels in the United States.
The Refrigerated & Frozen reporting segment includes branded. temperature-controlled food products sold in various retail channels in the United States.

The Intemational reporting seginent prineipally includes branded food products, in varigus temperzture states, sold in various retail and foodservice
channels outside of the United States.

The Foodservice reponting segment includes branded and customized food produets, including mneals, entrees, sauces and a varicly of custom-
manufactured culinary products packaged for sale to restaurants and other foodscervice establishiments primarily in the United States.

The Pinnacle Foods reporting segment includes branded and private-labeled food products, in various temperature stales, sold in various retail and
foodservice channels in the United States and Canada. Results of the Pimnacle Foods segment reflect aclivity beginning on October 26, 2018, the date of the
acquisition of Pinnacle.

The Commerciat reponting scgment included commercially branded and private label food and ingredients, which were sold primarily to commercial,
restaurant, foodservice, food manufaciuring, and industnal customers. The segment's primary food items included a varely of vegetable, spice, and frozen
bakery goods, which were sold under brands such as Spicesec Flavors & Seasonings®. The Spiceice and JM Swank busincsses were sold in the first quarier of
fiscat 201 7. These businesses comprised the entire Commercial segment following the presentation of Lamb Weston as discontinued operation.

We do not aggregate operting segments when delermining our reporing segments.
Intersegiment sales have been recorded at amounts approximating market. Operating profit for each of the segments is based on net sales less all
identifiable operating expenses. (Generat corporate expense, net interest expense, and income taxes have been excluded from segment operations.
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2019 2018 2017
Net sales
Grocery & Snacks h) 3,2719.2 3,287.0 3,208.R
Refrigerated & Frozen 2,304.0 2,7530 26527
Inlemnational 793.4 B43.5 816.0
Foodservice 934.2 1,054.8 1,078.3
Pinnacle Foods 1.727.6 — —
Conumnercial — — 71.1
Total nct sales 5 29,5384 79383 78169
Opcrating profit
Grocery & Snacks h) 689.2 724 8 655.4
Reflripemted & Frozen 502.2 4794 4458
[nternational 94.5 865 (168.9)
Foodservice 117.7 1218 105.1
Mnnacle Foods 2382 — —
Commercial — — 2026
Tatal operaling profit 3 1.6418 14825 1,240.0
Equity method investment camnings 758 97.3 712
General corporale CXpenscs 462.2 4594 3702
Pension and postrelirement non-service income 35.1 804 55.2
Interest cxpense, nct 3914 158.7 1955
Income tax cxpense 218.8 174.6 254.7
Income from continuing operations 3 6803 797.5 546.0
Less: Net income atiributable Lo noncontrolling interests of continuing operations 0.1 34 1.9
Income from continuing operations auributable 10 Conagra Brands, Inc. $ 6RO.2 794.1 3d44.1
The lollowing table presents further disaggregation of our net sales:
2019 2018 2017
Snacks $ 1,363.4 1,199.0 1,046.7
Other shelf-stable 2,567.1 2,088.0 2,162.1
Frozen 29684 20148 1,886.1
Refrigerted 788.0 738.2 766.5
Intemational 846.2 843.5 816.0
Foodservice 1.005.3 1,054.8 1,078.4
Commercial —_— — 7L.1
Total net sales $ 9,518.4 7.938.3 7.826.9
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Presentation of Devivative Gains {Losses) for Economic Hedges of Forecasted Cash Flows in Segment Results

Dervatives used (o manage commadity prce nsk and foreign currency risk are not designated for hedge accounting treaiment. We helicve these
derivatives provide cconomic hedges of certain forecasted transactions. As such, these derivatives are recognized at fair market valuce with realized and
unrealized gains and losses recognized in gencral corporate expenses. The gains and losses are subsequenily recognized in the opemating results of the
reporling segments in the penod tn which the underlying transaction being economically hedged is included in eamings. In the event that maragement
determines a panicular derivative entered into as an economic hedge of a forecasted commodity purchase has ceased to function as an economic hedge, we

cease recognizing further gains and losses on such derivalives in corporale expense and begin recognizing such pains and losses within segment operating
results, immediately.

The foliowing table presents the net derivative gains (losses) from economic hedges of forecastied commadity consumplion and the foreign curreney sk
of ¢cenain forecasted transactions, under this methodology:

2019 2018 2017

Net derivative gains (losses) incurred $ 3.6) 8 09%) § 0.6
Less: Net derivative gains (lesses) allocated 10 reporling scunwents {1.8) (7.1) 57

Net derivative gains {losses) recognized in peneral corpomate expenses 8 (18) 5 62 § (5.1)
Net derivative gains (losses) allocated 10 Grocery & Snacks S 2.1y § 02 3 34
Net derivative gains (losses) allocated to Refrigerated & Frozen (1.1) (0.3) 0.8
Nel derivative gains (losses) allocated to International 2.8 6.9) 1.6
Nel derivative losses allocated 1o Foodservice (0.6) 0.9 —
Net derivative losses allacaled Lo Pinnacle Foods (0.8) — —
Net derivative losses allocated to Commercial — — {0.1)

Net derivative gains (losses) included in segment operating profit $ (18) % .1 s 5.7

As ol May 26, 2019, the cumulative amount ol net derivative gains fom economic hedges that had been recognized in general corporate expenses and
net yet ollocated to reporting segments was $1.4 million. This amount reflected net gains of $1.0 million incurred during the fiscal ycar ended May 26, 2019,
as well as net gains of $0.4 millien incurred prior 1o fiscal 2019. Based on our forecasts of the timing of recognition of the underying hedged items, we
expect Lo reclassify 10 scgment operating results gains o $0.9 million in fiscal 2020 and $0.5 million in fiscal 2021 and thereafter.

Assets by Segment

The majority ol our manufacluring asseis are shared across multiple reporting segments. Omput from these facilitics used by each reporting segmenl can
change over time. Also, working capital balances are not tracked by reporting segment. Therefore, it is impracticable (o allecate those assels Lo the reparting

segiments, as well as disclose 1otal assets by segment, Total depreciation cxpense for fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $283.9 million. $222.1 million, and
$234 .4 million, respectively.

Other Information

Qur operations are principally in the United Staies. With respeet 10 operalions outside of the United Stales, no single foreign country or geographic
region was signilicanl with respect Lo consalidated operations (or fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017. Foreign net sales, including sales by domestic segmenis 10

customers localed outside ol the United States, were approximately $919.5 million, $918.4 millien, and $887.2 millien in fiscal 2009, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. Our long-lived assels localed outside ot the United States are not significant.

Our largest cusiomer, Walmant, Inc. and its atliliates, accounted lorapproximately 24% of consolidated net sales for each of fiscal 2019, 2018, and 2017,
significantly impacting the Grocery & Snacks, Relrigerated & Frozen, and Pinnacle Foods segments,

Walman, Inc. and its affiliates accounted for approximately 30% and 25% of consolidated net receivables as of May 26, 2019 and May 27. 2018,
respectively.
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We offer centain suppliers access to ¢ third-pany service that allows them to view our scheduled payments online. The third-party service also allows
suppliers (o finance advances on our scheduled payments at the sole discretion of (he supplier and the third-party. We have no economic inlerest in Lthese
financing amangements and no direct relationship with the suppliers, the third-party, or any financial institutions concerning this service. All of our accounts
payable remain as obligations to our suppliers as stated in our supplier agreements. As of May 26, 2019, $189.3 million of our total accounts payable is
payablc to supplicrs who utilize this third-party scrvice.

22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudlied)

2019 W18
First Second Third Fourth Flrst Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarfer Cuarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Net sales ] 1,834.4 s 23837 3 2,707.1 ] 16132 S 18042 8§ L1134 5 19945 § 1,966.2
Grosa profit 515.5 677.2 7523 708.0 519.0 4658.3 598.8 575.4
incone from continuing aperarions.
net of lax 178.2 134.3 2426 125.2 153.4 1341 3462 0.6
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax — [{E)] — — (0.3} 0.4 14.5 {0.3)
Net income atributable 10 Conagra
Brands, Ine. 178.2 131.6 242.0 126.5 152.5 2235 362.8 69.4
Earnings per shace
Rasic earnings per share:

Net income altributable to

Conagra Brands, [nc. common

stackhalders 3 0.45 b 0.1 s $.50 5 026 S 037 % 0.55 § 091 S 0.18
Diluted ¢amings per share:

Nel income atributable to

Canagra Urands, [ne, cammaon

stockhalders S 0.4 s 0.3 b 0.50 § 024 S 036 S 0.54 % noea s .18
Dividends declared per common
share 5 02125 § 0.2125 s 0.2125 S 0.2125 8§ 02125 % 02128 % 0.2125 § 0.2125
Share price:

High s 3894 § IR % 3260 % 3128 S w9y s 3587 S 3850 § 38.29

Law 14.64 3242 20.85 2137 1307 32.43 3547 35.34

(1" Basie and diluted earnings per share are cakulated independently Jor cach of the quarters presented. Accordingly, the sum of Lhe quarterly camings per share amounts may

not agree with the 1otal year.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockhaolders and Board of Dircctors
Conagra l3rands, Inc.:

Opinions on the Consolidatcd Financial Statements and Internal Cantral Over Fingncial Repoarting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Conagra Brands, [ne. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of May 26, 2019 and May 27,
2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, commen steckholders’ equity, and cash flows foreach of the fiscal yearsin
the three-year penod ended May 26, 2019, and the related notes (collectively, the cansolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s
intemal control over financial reporting as of May 26, 2019 based on criteria established in rernal Control - Integrated Framework (2013} issucd by the
Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above prasent fairly, in 211 material tespects, the financial position of the Company as of May
26,2019 and May 27. 2018, and the results ofi(s operations and its cash Mows for cach of the fscal years in the three-year peried ended May 26,2319, in
conformity with U.S. penerally aceepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective intemal
control over financial reporting as of May 26,2019, based un criteria established in fnierna! Control - hitegrated Framewaork (2013) issucd by the
Commitice of Sponsoring Organizatiens of the Treadway Commission.

The Company acquired Pinnacle Foods Inc. (Pinnacle}during fiscal 2019, and management excluded from ils assessment of the eflfectiveness ol the
Company’s intermal control over linancial reporting as of May 26, 2019, Pinnacle’s intemal contrel over financial reporting associated with tolal assets of
$12.06 billion and otal net sales of $1.73 billion included in the consolidated linancial statements of the Company as ol and tor the year ended May 26,
2019, Ouraudit of internal contrel over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an cvaluation of'the intemal control over financial reporting of
Pinnacle.

Baslis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible forthese consolidated linancial statements, for maintaining eftective intenal control over financial reporting.
and for its assessment of the cffectiveness of intemal conuol over financial repotting, included in the accompanying Management s Annual Report on
Iternal Coniral Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is Lo express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements and an opinion
on the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered wilh the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United Sintes) (PCAQB) and are required to be independent with respect (o the Company in accordance with the U.S, tederal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations ot'the Sccurities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conductled ouraudits in accordance with the standards ol the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and pedorm the audits 10 oblain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dee to emor or fraud, and whether effective intemal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Cur audits af the consolidated financial statements included perforniing procedures 10 asscss the risks ol materal misstatement ofthe consolidated financial
statements, whether due to emror or [raud, and performing procedures that respond to those nisks. Such procedures included examining. on a 1est basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 1he consolidated financial statements, Ouraudits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the conselidated financial statements, Our 2udit of intemal
control over financial reporting included obiaining an understandiug of internal contral over inancial reporting, asscssing the risk that a material weakness
cxists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating cffectiveness of intemal control based on he assessed risk, Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our epinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s inlemal control over financial reponting is a process designed 1o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with genemlly accepled accounting principles. A company’s intermal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) penain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable derail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assels of the company, (2) provide reasonable assurance that {ransactions are recorded as necessary to permit
prepamtion of financial statements in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of'the company are being
made only in accordance with avthorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection ol unavthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effeet on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal conlrol over financial reporting may not prevent or detect missiatements. Also, projections ofany cvaluation of

effectivencss to fulure periods are subject Lo the risk that controls imay become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may delericrate.

/st KPMG LLP
Wc have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005,

Omaha, Nebraska
July 19,2019
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ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WI'TH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management carmied out an evaluation, with the participation of the Company's Chiel Exccutive Officer and Chief Financial Offtcer, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule |3a-i5(¢) under the Securties
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. as of May 26, 2019. Based upon that evaluation, the Chiel Exccutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective. We acquired Pinnacle on October 26,
2018 and have not yel inciuded Pinnacle in our asscssment ol the effectiveness ol our intemal control over financial reporting. Accordingly. pursuant to the
SEC's general puidance that an assessment ol'a recently acquired business may be omitted from the scope of an assessment in the year ol acquisition, the
scope of our assessment of the effectivencss of our disclosure controls and procedures docs not include Pinnacle. For fiscal 2019, Pinnacle accounted tor
£1.73 billion of ourtotal net sales and as of May 26, 2019 had rotal assets of $12.06 billion.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Exccutive OtTicer and Chicf Finaneial Officer, evaluated any change in the
Company's intemal control over linancial reperting that occurred during the quarter covered by this report and determined that there was no change in the
Company's intemnal cantrol over financial reporting duning the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 that has matcrially affected. or is rcasonably likely to materally
affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on [oternal Control Over Financial Reporting

Conagra Brands' management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reparing of Conagra Brands (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Conagra Brands' intemal control over inancial repornting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilily of financial reponting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with U.S. penerally accepted accounting principles. Conagra Brands' intemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
{i) pertain to the mainicnance of records thal. in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the iransactions and dispositions ol the assots of Conagra
Brands: (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are rccorded as necessary to permoit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
LS. generally accepted accounting princtples, and that receipts and expenditures of Conagra Brands are being made only in accordance with the
autharization of management and directors of Conagra Brands; and (iii} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tunely detection of
unauthonzed acquisition, use or disposition of Conagra Brands' assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inhicrent
limilations, intcrmal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misslalements. Also, projections of any evaluations of effectiveness Lo future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of the changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policics
or procedures may deteriorate.

With the participation of Conagra Brands' Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management assessed the effectivencss of Conagm
Brands' intemal control over financial reporiing as of May 26, 2019. Management's assessment of intemnal control over financial reporting as o May 26, 2019
excludes internal control aver financial reporting related to Pinnacle (acquired October 26, 2018), which accounted for approximately $12.06 billion of
consolidated total assets and $1.73 billion of consolidated net sales as of and for the year ended May 26, 2019. in making this assessment, management used
critcria cstablished in huternal Control-fnregrated Framework (2013). issued by the Commitice of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Conunission
("COS0O"). As a result of this assessment, management concluded that, as of May 26, 2019, its intemnal control over financial reporting was effective.

100




The cfiectiveness of Conngra Brands' intemal control over finaneial tepoiting as of May.26, 2019 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an indépendent
regisiered public accounting finn, as stated in theirreport, a copy‘of which is ineluded in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Isf 1. N /5 DAVID S, MARBERGER

.Sean M. Connolly David §. Marberger

President and Chief Exccutive Officer Exccutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
July 19,2019 July 19,2019 '
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ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

MNane.
PART 111

ITEM 19. BIRECTORS, EXECUTLVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Infonmation with respect to our diseclors will be set forth in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the heading "Voting llem #1: Election of Directors,” and the
intermation is incorporated herein by reference.

[nformation regarding our exceutive officers is included in Pari [ of'this Form 10-K under the heading "Executive Ofticers of the Registrant as of July 19,
2019, as permitted by the Instruction 10 [tem 401 of Regulation S-K.

If applicable, information with respect 1o eompliance with Seetion 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, by our dircciors, executive
officers, and holders of more than ten pereent of our equity sccuritics will be set forth in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the heading "Information on Stock
Owmership—Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and the information is incorporated lerein by reference.

Information with respect to the Audit / Finance Committee and its financial expens will be set forth in the 2019 Proxy Siatement under the heading
"Voting llem #1: Election of Dircetors—How We Govemn and are Govemed—-The Board's Audil / Finance Commiltee,” and the information is incorporated
herein by reference,

We have adopted a code of cthics that applies to our Chief Execulive Oficer, Chief Financial Officer. and Controller. This code of cthics is available on
aur website al www.conagrabrands.com through the "Investors—Cormorate Govemnance” link. If we make any amendinents La this code ather than technical,
administrative, or other non-substantive amendments, or grant any waivers, including implicit waivers, from a pravision of this code of conduct to our Chief
Exceutive Offieer, Chief Financial Officer, or Controller, we will disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver, its effective date, and to whom it applics on
aut website at wwiw.conagrabrands.com through the "investors—Comorate Governance" link.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information wilh respect (o director and exccutive compensation and our Human Resources Commitiee will be set forth in the 2019 Proxy Statement
under Lthe headings ™oting Item #1: Election of Directors—How We Are Paid," "Voting ltlem #[: Election of Direclors—How We Govern—The Board's
Human Resouices Committee,” "Compensation Committec Report.” and "Executive Compensation,” and "CEO Pay Ratio™ and the information is
incorporated herein by reference,




ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information with respect (o security ownership of eenain beneficial owners, directors and management will be set forth in the 2019 Proxy Statement
under the heading "[nformation on Stock Ownership," and the information is incorporated herein by reference.

Equily Compensation Plan Informatlon

The following table provides information about shares aTour common stack that may be issued upon Uhe exercise of options. wanants, and rights under
exisling equity compensation plans as of our most recent fiscal yearend, May 26, 2019.

Number of Securities

Wreighted-Average Remaining Available for
Number of Securities 1o Exerclse Price of Future Issoance Under
be Issued Upon Excrelse QOutstanding Fquity Compensation Plans
af Qutsianding Oprlons, Opilons, Warrants, and (Excluding Securities
Warrants. and Righus Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Plan Catcgory (a) (b) {c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securily
holders (1) 7.867.712 & 29.00 40.897.313
Equily compensation plans not approved by security
holders — — —
Total 7867712 § 29.00 40,897,313

(1) Column (a) includes 1,169,063 shares that could be issued under performance shares outstanding at May 26, 2019, The performance shares are
eamed and common stock issued if pre-set financial abicctives are met. [ncluded are 95,909 shares for one-third of the fiscal 2017 through 2019
performance period, for which the performance has been detenmined. For the remaining performance perieds, actual shares issued may be cqual 1o,
less Lhan. or gieater than the number of outstanding performance shares included in column (a), depending on zctual performance. Column (b) does
not take these awards into account beeause they do not have an exercise pnee. The number of shares reflected in column (a) with respect Lo these
performance shares {or which the performance has not been delermined assumes the vesting eriteria will be achieved at larget levels, Column {(c) has
not been reduced far the perfonnance shares outstanding. Coluinn (a) also includes 184,636 shares that could be issued under performance-based
restricted stock units outstanding al May 26, 2019, The perfonnance-based restricted stock unils are camned and common stock issued if pre-set
markct-based objectives are met. Actual shares issued may be equal to, less than, or greater than the number of outstanding performance-based
restricted stock units included in column {a), depending on nciual performance. Column (b) does not take these awands into account because they do
not have an exercise price. Column (¢} has not been reduced tor the performance-based resiricted slock units outstanding. The number of shares
reflected in calumn {a) with respect ta these perfonmance-based restricted stock units assumes the vesting criteria will be achizved at target levels.
Column (b} also excludes 1.810,201 restricted stock units and 278,432 deflemal interests in deferred compensation plans that are included in column
{2} but do not have an excrcise price. The units vest and are payable in common stock afler expiration of the time periods set forth in the related
agreements. The interests in the delerred compensalion plans are seitled in common stock on the schedules selecied by the participants.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect 1o ditector independence and eentain relationships and related transactions will be set fonh in the 2019 Proxy Statement under
the headings "Voting llem #1: Electian of Ditectors—How We are Selected, Evaluated and Omanized—Director [ndependence," "Voting ltem #1: Election of
Dircctors—How We Govemn—The Beard's Audit / Finance Commitice,"” and "Voting fiem #1: Election of Direclors—How We Gavem—The Board's Human
Resources Committee” and the information is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information with respect to the principal accountant will be set forth'in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the heading "Voting ltem #2: Ratilication af the
Appoinument of Our Independent Auditor for Fiscal 2020," and the information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCEAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
a) List of documents filed as pan of this report:
I. Financial Statements
All financial statements of the Company as set forth under ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable. not required, or because the required information is included in the
consolidated financial statements, notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

All documents referenced below were filed pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act ol 1934, as amended, by Conagra Brands, Ine. (file number 001-
07275), unless otherwise noted.

EXHIBT DESCRIPTION

2.1

*2.1.0

*2.1.2 T 2 Afasl A 3 W

*2.1.3

*2.1.5 Acknowle Amend Agreen a i 25,201 an 3 3 § !

*2.2

222

165




*2.3

24

3l

4,1 Indenture, dated as of October 8, 1990, between Conagra Brands, Inc. (formerdy ConAgra Foods, Inc.) and The Bank of New York Mellon
(as successor 1o JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association)), as lrusice, incorponiled by
referenee 1o Exhibit 4.1 of Conagr Brands' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Regisiration No. 033-36967)

4.2.1 i enla 7 - Wells i s

422 t 22, 8 21w ells ' ahi

4.3
**10.1
**10.1.1

**10.1.2

**16.1.3

1014

**10.2 5 ] . salj 20 Iy 20]8, ]

**103

106




**10.3.1

**10.3.2

**10.4

**10.441

042

**1043

**10.5

**10.5.1

**10.5.2

"IO.S.J

**105.4

¥*10.5.5

**10.5.6

1057

**10.58

**10.55

**10.5.10
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**10.5.01

**10.6

**10.7

**10.7.1

**10.8

**109

**10.10

**10.11

10010

**10.11.2

**10.2

**10.13

**10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17
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10.18

10.18.1

21 Subsidiaries o Conagrg Brands, Ing.

23 Consent ol KPMGQ LLP

24 Powers of Attomey

311 i 2 ifica

3z Section 302 Cenificate

32 Section 906 Cerificalcy

101 The following materials from Conagra Brands' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 26, 2019, formatted in XBRL

(cXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, {ii) the Censelidated Staremeuts of
Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, {iv) the Consolidated Statements of Comunon Stockholders' Equity, (v) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (vi) Noles to Consalidated Financial Statements, and (vii) document and entily infonnation.

* Schedules have been omitted pursuant to tem A0 1(b¥2) of Regulation S-K. Conagra Brands agrees to fumish supplementally to the
Seccurities and Exchange Commission o copy of any omitted schedule upon request.

** Managenient conlract or compensatory plan.

Pursuant to ltem 601{bk4) of Regulation S-K, certain instruments with respect to Conagra Brands' long-term debt are not filed with this
Fonn 10-K. Conagra Brands will fumish a copy of any such long-term debt agreement to the Secorities and Exchange Commission upon
request.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 3 or | 5(dYoflthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Conagm Brands, Inc. has duty caused this report 1o be sighed

on its behal by the undersigned, thercunio duly authorized.

CONAGRA BRANDS, INC.

By:

/s/ SEAN M, CONNOLLY

By:

Sean M. Cannolly
President and Chief Fxecutive Officer
July 19,2019

/s/ DAVID S. MARBERGER

By:

David 8. Marberger
Execntive Viee President and Chief Financial Officer
July 19,2019

/s ROBERT G. WISE

Robert G. Wise
Senior Vice President and Corporate Controlier
July 19,2019

Pursuant Lo the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 19th day of July. 2019.

Sean M. Connolly*
Anil Arora*
Thamas K. Brown*
Stephen G. Butler*
Joie A. Gregor*
Rajive Johri*
Richard H. Lenny*
Melissa Lomn*

Ruth Ann Marshall*
Craig P. Omtvedt*
Scott Osifeld*

Director
Director
Director
Direclor
Director
Direclor
Dircctor
Director

Director
Director
Dircetor

David S. Marberger, by signing his name hereto, signs this annual report on Form 10-K on behall of cach person indicated. Powers-af-Attamey

authorizing David S. Marberger to sign this annual repon on Form 10-K on behall of each of the indicated Directors of Conagra Brands, Inc. have been filed

herewith as Exhibit 24,

By:

/s/ DAVID §. MARBERGER
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Exhibit 4.3

a Bran
Description of Scecurities

The summary of the general terms and provisions of the common stock of Conagra Brands, Ing, ("Conagra Brands,” "we,” and “our™) set lonh below
docs nol purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to our Amended and Restated Centiticate of Incorporation {our
“centificate of incorporation”) and Amended and Restated By-laws (our “by-laws.” and together with our certificate of incorporation, our “Charter
Dacuments™), each of which is incorporated herein by reference and attached as an exhibit to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Sccurities and Exchange Commission, We encourage you ta read our Charter Documents and the applicable provisions of the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware (the “DGCL™) for additional information.

General

COur authorized capital stock cansists of 1,200,000.000 shares of common stock, par valuc $5.00 per share; 150,600 shares of Class B prefermed stock,
$50.00 par value; 250,000 shares of Class C preferred stock, 8$160.00 par vatue; 1,100,000 shares of Class D preferred stock, without par value; and
16,550,000 shares of Class E prefened stock, without par value,

Dividends on Capital Stock

The board of dircctors may declare and pay dividends on our common stock out of funds legally availablc for that purpose, subject 1o the rights of
helders of preferred stock.

Common Stock

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vole for each share forall matlers submiited to stockhelders fora vote al every meeting of the
stockholders. Our by-laws provide that, except as required by our Charter Documents or Lhe rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to Conagr
Brands, or as otherwise provided by law or pursuant to any regulation applicable to Conagra Brands or our securities, all matters will be decided by the vote
of'the majorily of the voles cast. Each direclor is to be clecied by the vote of the majority of the votes cast with respect to that direclor’s election; provided, if
the number of persons properly nominated to serve as directors excecds the number of direclors to be elected, then each director shall be elected by the vote
of a plurality ol the shares present in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vate on the election of directors.

Upon liquidation, the holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in assets available for distribution o stockholders aiter satisfoclion
of any liquidation preferences of any outstanding preferred stock. The issuance of any shares of any series of preferred stock in future financings, acquisitions
or otherwise may result in dilution of voting power and rclative equily interest of the holders of shares of our comimon stock and will subject our common
stock 10 the prior dividend and liquidation rights ol the outstanding shares of the series of preterred stock.

Qur common stack has no conversion rights nor are there any redemption or sinking fund provisions with respect 1o the common stock. Holders of
our common stock have no pre-emptive right 1o suhscrbe for or purchase any additional stock or securitics of Conagra Brands.

Preferred Siock
We may issue preferred stock in series with rights and preferences as authorized by our board of directors. including:

+ thetitle of the seres;

« the voting rights of the holders of the pretemed stock;

+ thedividends, ifany, which will be payable with regard to the series;

» theterms, if any, on which the serics may or will be redeemed;

+  the preference, il any, to which holders of the series will be entitled upon our liquidation:

» theright, if any, of holders of the series o convert them inlo another class of our stock or securities; and

+  any othermaterial terms of the series.
Provisions of Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Delaware Law That May Have an Antl-Takeover Effect

Anticle X1l of our certificate of tncorporation preseribes relevant faclors, including social and economic effects on employces, customers, suppliers
and other conslituents of Conagra Brands, to be considered by the board of dircctors when reviewing any proposal by another corporation 1o acquire or
combine with Conagra Brands.

Anticle X111 of our centificate of incorporation requires that any action required or permitied to be taken by Conagra Brands stockholders must be
cffected at a duly called annual or specizl meeting of the stockholders and may not be effected by any consent in writing by the stockholders.

Article XIV of our cenificate ol incorparation provides in general that any direct orindirect purchase by Conagre Brands or any subsidiary of
Conagra Brands of any of its voting stock, as defined in Article XIV, or rights to acquire voting stock, known to be beneficially owned by any person or
group that holds more than 3% of a class of'its voting stock, referred to in this paragraph as an “interested stockhalder,” and that has owncd the securities
being purchased for less than two years, must be approved by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes entitled 1o be cast by the holders ol the
voting stock, excluding voting stock held by an interested stockholder. Anticle XIV is intended ta prevent “greenmail,” which is a term used 1o describe the



accumulation of a bleck of'a corporation’s stock by a speculator and the subscquent attempl by the speculator to coerce the corporation into repurchasing its
shares. typically at a substantial premium over the market price.

We are govemned by Lhe provisions of Section 203 of'the DGCL. in general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delawar: corporation rom enpaging ina
“business combination™ with an “interested stockholder™ fora period of three years following the time that the person became an interested stockholder,

untess:

« prorto the time that the person became an interesied stockholder the corporation’s beard of dircctors approved cither the business combination or
the transaction that resulted in the stockholder's becaming an interesied stockholder;

upon consummalion of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder’s becoming an interested stockholder, the stockholder owned al least 85%
af'the outstanding voting stock of the corporation at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for the purpose ol'determining the number ol
shares outsianding those shares owned by the comporation’s officers and dircctors and by employee stock plans in which employes panticipants de

not have the dght to determine confidentially whether sharas held subject ta the plan will be tendered in a tender orexchange offer; or

+ atorsubsequent to the time, Lthe business combination is approved by the corporation™s board of directors and authorized at an annual or special
meeting of its stockhaolders, and not by wnitien consent, by the affinmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of its outstanding voling stock that is not owned
by the interesicd stackholder.

A “business combination™ includes mergers, asset sales or other transactions resulting in a financial bencfit to the stockholder. An “interested
stockliolder™ is a person who. together with afliliates and associales, owns {or within lhree years did own) 15% or more of the comoration's voting stock.

The provisions of our certificate ofincorporation and Delaware law described in this section may be decmed to have anti-takeaver effects. These
provisions may discourage or make more difficult an attempt by a stockholder or other enltily to acquire control of Conagra Brands. These pravisions may
also make more diflicull an atlempt by a stockholder or other entity 10 remove management,



Exhibit 10.5.11

FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
FOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CONAGRA BRANDS, INC, 2014 STOCK PLAN

This Restricted Stock Unit Agresment, hereinafter referred to as the "Agreement’, is made between Conagra Brands, Inc., a Delaware cofporation
{"Conagra” or lhe "Company”), and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the "Participant™.

1.  Award Grant. Conagra hereby grants Reslricted Stock Units (*RSUs”, and each such unit an "RSU") {o the Parlicipant under the Conagra
Brands, Inc. 2014 Stock Plan {the "Plan®), as follows, effective as of the Date of Grant set forth below:

Participant:

Number of RSUs:

VYesting Datefs]:
Qividend Equivalgnis: Dividend equivalents on the RSUs will not be paid or accumulated.

Please read thls Agreament and the Plan carefully. Conagra has caused this Agreement to ba execuled effective as of the Date of Grant. In the
event of any conflict between the temns of this Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the Plan shall control. if you do not wish to receive this
Award and/or you do not consent and agree lto the terms and conditions on which this Award is offered, as set forth in this Agreament and the
Plan, then you must reject the award no later than 11:538 p.m., Pacific Time, on tha 90th calendar day following the Date of Grant by (1) indicating
yaur relection on the "Grant Acceptance® page of the Merill Lynch Benefits Online website or (2) contacting the Memiil Lynch call center. The
award will only ba cancelled if you take one of these affirnative aclions. Your fallure to validly reject the award prior to the deadline will constitute
your acceptance of the award with its lerms and conditions, as set forth in this Agreement and the Plan.

CONAGRA BRANDS, INC.

By:
Date:

2 Defipitlong, Capitalized terms used herein without dafinition have the maanings set forth in the Plan. The following tarms shall have the
respective meanings set forth below;

(|} "Continuous Employment” means the absence of any interruption or termination of employment with the Company and the performance
of substantial services. Continuous Employment shall not be considered interrupted or terminated in the case of sick leave, shortterm disability
(as defined In the Company's sole discretion), military leave or any other leave of absence approved by the Company unless and until there Is a
Separation from Service (as defined in Section 2(f)).

(b} “Disability” means that the Participant, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expectad to
result in death or can be expecied to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, is receiving income replacement benefits for a period
of not less than three months under the Company’s long-term disability ptan.

() “Divestilure” means a parmanent disposltion to a person other than the Company or a Subsldlary {f) of a plant at which the Particlpant
performs a majorlty of the Panticipant's services, {ii) of any discreet organizational unit, division or business of tha Company with which the
Participant’s employment is principally associated, or {iii) of assets or Subsidiary slock that is determined by the Committee in its sole discretion
to be treated as a "Divestiture” for purposes of this Agreement, In each case in this sentence regardiess of whether such disposition is effected by
means of a sale of assets, a sale of Subsidiary stock or otherwise. However, "Divestiture” shall not include any event that constitutes a “Change
of Contral”.

(d) “Early Relirement” means a Separation from Service with the Company when the Particlpant is at least age 55.
(e} “Normal Retirement™ means a Separation from Service with the Company on or after attaining age 57.
N "Separation from Service,” “termination of employment” and similar tenrms mean the dale that the Participant “separales from service”

within the meaning of Code Section 409A. Generally, a Participant separates from service if and only if the Particlpant dies, retires, or otherwise
has a termination of employment with the Company detemmined in accordance with Code Section 409A and the fallowing:



{i} Leaves of Absence. The employment relationship is treated as continulng intact while tha Participant is on military leave, sick
leave, or other bona fide leave of absence if the period of such leave does not exceed six months, or, if longer, so long as the
Participant retains a right to reemployment with the Company under an applicable stalute or by contract. A leave of absence
constitutes a bona fide leave of absence only if there is a reasonable expectation that the Pariicipant will retum to perfonm services
for the Company. If the period of leave exceeds six months and the Participant does not retain a right to reemployment under an
applicable statute or by contract, the employment relationship is deemed to terminate on the first date immediately following such
six-month period. Notwilhstanding the foregoing, where a leave of absence is due to any medically delemninable physical or mental
impaimment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than six months,
where such Impairmment causes the Participant to be unable to perform the duties of his or her position of employment or any
substantially similar position of employment, a 12-maonth period of absence shall be substituted for such six-month period.

{ii) Dual Statug. Generally, if @ Parlicipant perfforms services both as an employee and an Independenl contractor, such Partlcipant
must separate from service both as an employee and as an independent contractor, pursuant to standards set forth in Treasury
Regulations, to be treated as having a separation from service. However, If a Partlcipant provides services to the Company as an
employee and as a member of the Board, and if any plan in which such person particlpates as a Board member is not aggregated
with this Agreement pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1{c)X2)(ii), then the services provided as a director are not
taken Into account in determining whether the Participant has a separation from service as an employee for purposes of this
Agreement.

(i) Termnination of Employment. Whether a termination of employment has occurred Is determined based on whether the facts and
clreumstances indicate that the Company and the Participant reasonably anticipated that no further services would be performed
after a certain date or that the level] of bona fide services the Participant would parform after such date (whether as an employee or
as an indapendent contractor except as provided in (ii) above) would permanently decrease to no moare than 20% of the average
level of bona fide services performed (whether as an employee or an independent contractor, except as provided in (i) above) over
the immediately preceding 36-month period (or the full period of services to the Company if the Participant has been providing
sarvices to the Company less than 36 months). For periods durng which a Particlpant Is on a pald bona fide leave of absence and
has not olherwise terminated employment as described above, for purposes of this paragraph (iii), the Participant Is treated as
providing bona fide services at a level equal to the level of services that the Participant would have been required to perform to
racelve the compansatian pald with respect to such leave of absence. Perleds during which a Pariclpant is on an unpaid bona fide
leave of absence and has not otherwise terminated employment are disregarded for purposes of this paragraph (iti) (including for
purposes of determining the applicable 36-month {or shorter) pariod).

As used in connection with the definition of “Separation from Service,” Company includes the Company and any other enlity that with the Company
constitutes a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Code Section 414{b)), or a group of trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated)
under common control (as defined in Code Section 414(c)), substltuting 25% for the 80% ownership level for purposes of both Code
Sections 414(b) and 414(c).

(g) *Settlement Amount” means one share of Stock.
) Specifisd Empioyse” is as defined under Code Section 406A and Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i).
(i) “Successors” means the beneficiaries, axecutors, administrators, heirs, successors and assigns of a person.

3. Yasting of RSUs,

(a) . Subject to the Plan and this Agreement, if the Participant has been in Contlnuous Employment through the respective
Vesting Date[s] as set forlh in Section 1, then the RSUs subject 1o such Vesting Date[s] shall become nonforfeitable ("West® or similar terms).

{b) Temmination of Employment. If, prior to the Vesting Date[s]| set forth In Section 1, the Participant's employment with the Company
terminates:

(1)by reason of death, then all unvested RSUs evidenced by this Agreement shall, to the extent such RSUs have not previously been
forfeited, bacome 100% Vested.

(i1)by reason of Normal Retirement, then all unvested RSUs evidenced by this Agreement shall, to the extent such RSUs have not
previously been forfeited, continue to Vest lollowing such Normal Retirement to the same extent that the unvested RSUs
would Vast had the Participant remained Continuously Employed by the Company through the Vesting Date.

(iii)by reason of Early Retirement, then a pro rata portion of the RSUs shall continue to Vest fallowing such Early Retirement an the
same schedule that the RSUs would Vest had the Partlcipant remained Continuvously Employed by the Company through
the Vesting Date, with such pro rata portion determined by multiplying the number of RSUs evidenced by this Agreement,
to the extent not praviously Vested or forfeited, by a fraction, the numerator of which Is the total number of calendar days
during which the Particlpant was employed by the Company during the period beginning on the Date of Grant and ending
on tha Partlcipant’'s Separation from Service and the denominator of which is the total number of calendar days beginning
on the Date of Grant and ending on Lhe final Vesting Date, rounded Lo the nearest whole number of RSUs.

(iv)for Cause prior to the final Vesling Date, then all RSUs, whether Vested or unvested prior to the final Vesting Date, shall be
Immadiatsly forfaited without further consideration to the Participant.

{c) Ing i ngction with a Change of Gontrol,



{i)If a Change of Control eccurs prior to the final Vesting Date, and the Parlicipant has been In Continuous Employment between the
Dats of Grant and the date of such Change of Contral, then all unvested RSUs evidenced by lhis Agreement shall become
100% Vested, except (A) to the extent such RSUs have previously been forfeited, or (B) to the extent that a Replacement
Award |s provided to the Participant to replace, continue or adjust the outstanding RSUs (the “Replaced Award"). If the
Participant's employment with the Company (or any of Its successors after the Change of Control) (as applicable, the
"Successecr Company®) is terminated by the Participant for Good Reason or by the Successor Company other than for
Cause, in each case within a period of two years after the Change of Control but prior to the final Vesting Date, to the
axtenl that the Replacement Award has not previously been Vested or forfeited, the Replacement Award shall become
100% Vested (and become entitled to settlement as specified in Section 4(b)(iv)).

{(ii)For purposes of this Agreement, a "Replacement Award” means an award {A) of the same type (i.se., time-based restricted stock
units) as the Replaced Award, {B) thal has a value at least equal to the value of the Replaced Award, {C) that relates to
U.S. publicly traded equity securities of the Successor Company in the Change of Control (or another U.S, publicly traded
entity that is affiliated with the Successor Company following the Change of Control), {D) the tax consequances of which
for such Parliclpant under the Code, If the Partlcipant is sublect to U.S. federal income tax under the Code, am not less
favorable to the Participant than the tax consequences of the Replaced Award, and (E) the other terms and conditions of
which are not less favorable to the Participaml than the lerms and conditions of the Replaced Award (including the
provisions that would apply in the event of a subsequent change of controf). A Replacement Award may be granted only to
the exlent it does not result In the Replaced Award or Replacement Award failing to comply wilh or ceasing to be exempt
from Cede Section 409A. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a
continuation of the Replaced Award if the requirements of the preceding two sentences are satisfied. The determination of
whether the conditions of this Sectlon 3{c)il) are satisfled will be made In good (aith by the Commitiee, as constltuted
immediately before the Change of Control, in its sole discretion.

(ii1)For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means: (A) the willful and continued failure by the Participant to substantially perfarm the
Participant's duties with the Successor Company (other than any such failure resulting from termination by the Particlpant
for Good Reason) after a demand for substantlal perfformance is delivered to the Participant that specifically identifies the
manner in which the Successor Company belleves that the Paricipant has not substantially psformed the Participant's
duties, and the Participant has failed to resuma substantlal performance of the Partlcipant's duties on a continuous basis
within five days of receiving such demand; (B) the willful engaging by the Participant in conduct that is demonstrably and
materially injurious to the Successor Company, maonetarily or otherwlse; or (C) the Particlpant's conviction of a felony or
convictlon of a misdemeanor that impairs the Participant’s abillty substantially to perform the Participant's duties with lhe
Successor Company. For the purpeses of this definition, no act, or failure to act, on the Paricipant's part shall be deemed
“willful* unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant not in good falth and without reasonable belief that the
Particlpant's action or omission was in the best interest of the Successor Company.

Notwithstanding anything In this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement prevents a Participant from providing,
without prior notice to the Company, Information to governmental authoritles regarding possible legal violations or otherwise
testifying or participating in any investigation or proceeding by any govemmental authorities regarding possible lega! violations
and, for purpcse of clarity, the Participant is not prohibited from providing information voluntarily to the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Sectlon 21F of the Securilies Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(iv)For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason™ means: (A} any material failure of the Successor Company to comply with and
satlsfy any of the terms of any emplayment or change of control (or simllar) agreement between the Successor Company
and tha Participant pursuant to which the Parlicipant provides services to the Successor Company; (B) any significant
involuntary reduction of the authority, duties or responsibilities held by the Partlcipant immediately prior to the Change of
Control (and, for the avoidanca of doubt, involuntary remaoval of the Participant from an offlcer posltion that the Pariicipant
holds immediately prior to the Change of Contral will not, by itself, constitute a significant invaluntary reduction of the
authority, duties or responsibilities held by the Particlpant immediately prior to the Change of Control); (C) any material
involuntary reductlon in the aggregate remuneratlon of the Particlpant as in effect immedialely prior to the Change of
Control; or (D) requiring the Participant to become based at any office or location more than the minimum number of miles
required by the Coda for the Participant to claim a moving expense deductlon, from Lhe office or location at which the
Participant was based immediately prior to such Change of Control, except for travel reasonably required in the
performance of the Participant's responsibilities; provided, however, that no termination shall be deemed to be for Good
Reason unless {x) the Particlpant provides the Successor Company with written notice setting forth the specific facts or
clrcumstances constituting Good Reason within 90 days after the initial existence of the occumence of such facts or
circumstances, and (y) the Successor Company has failed to cure such facls or circumstances within 30 days of its
receipt of such written notice.

{v)If a Replacement Award is provided. notwithstanding anything In this Agreement to the contrary, any outstanding RSUs that, at the
time of the Change of Control, are not subject to a “substantial risk of fordeiture™ (within the meaning of Code
Section 409A) shall be deemed to be Vested at the time of such Change of Control.



) Eorfeiture of Unvested RSUs. Subject to Section 3{b)(iv), any RSUs that have not Vested pursuant to Section 3{a), Section 3(b), Section
3(c), or Section 3{e) as of the final Vesting Date shall be forfeited automatically and without further notice on such date {or earlier if, and
on such date that, the Participant ceases to be in Continuous Employment pricr to the final Vesting Date for eny reason other than as
described in Sectlon 3(b) or Sectlon 3(c)).

(e) Disablllty. If, pror to the Vesting Date set forth in Section 1, the Paricipant becomes Disabled, then the Participant shall Immediately
Vest in a pro rata portion of the unvested RSUs evidenced by this Agreement determined by muttiplylng Llhe number of RSUs evidenced
by this Agreement, to the extent not previously forfeited, by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of calendar days during
which the Parilclpant was employed by the Company during the pericd beginning on the Date of Gramt and ending on the date the
Participant becomes Disabled and the denominator of which is the total number of calendar days beginning on the Date of Grant and
ending on tha Vesling Date, rounded to the nearest whole number of RSUs.

4. SUs

(a) Nomal. Subject to Section 4(b), the Company shall pay to the Participant the Settlement Amount on or wilhin 30 days after tha
Vasting Date for each Vasted RSU to the extent the RSU has not previously heen Vested, forfeited or settled.

(b} Other Settlement Events. Nolwithstanding Section 4(a), to lhe extent the RSUs are Vested RSUs on the dates set forth below and to
the extent the Vested RSUs have not pravicusly besn Vested, forfeited or settied, the Company wdll seltle such Vested RSUs as follows:

(i)Daath. Within 30 days of the Participant’s death, the Company will pay, lo the person entitled by will or the applicable laws of
descent and distribution to such Vasted RSUs, the Settlemeant Amount for each such Vasted RSU.

(i)\Rizability. Within 30 days of the Parlicipant's Disability, the Company will pay to the Participant the Settlement Amount for each
such Vested RSU.

(iii)Chanae of Control. The Participant is entitled to recelve payment of the Settlement Amount for each Vestad RSU on the date of
the Change of Control; provided, however, that if such Change of Control would not qualify as a permissible date of
distribulion under Code Section 408A{a)2)A} (such qualifying date of distribution, a “409A Change of Control®), and the
regulations thereunder, and where Code Sectlon 408A applies to such distribution, the Participant is entitled to recelve the
corespending payment on the date that would have otherwise applied pursuant to Section 4 as though such Change of
Control had not occurred.

(iv)Se¢paration from Servica Following Change of Control. Within 30 days of the Participant's Separation from Service that occurs

within a period of two years after a 409A Change of Control, the Company will pay to the Paricipant the Settlement
Amount for each such Vested RSU.

(ch Payment of Taxes Upon Settlement. As a condition of the payment of the Setllement Amount upon settlement of RSUs hereunder,
the Participant agrees that the Company shall withhold from the Settlement Amount any taxes required to be withheld by the Company under
Federal, State or local law as a result of the seltlement of the RSUs in an amount sufficient to satisfy the minimum amount of taxes that is
required 1o be withheld. To the extent permitted under the Plan, the Committee may allow for withholding up to the maximum amount pemissible in
accordance with applicable law in effect as of the date the RSUs are settled; provided, however, and notwithstanding Section 11.4 of the Plan,
additional tax withholding above the statutcry minimum may not be satisfied by delivering to the Company previously acquired shares of Stack.

(d) Specified Employes, Notwithstanding anything {including any provision of this Agreement or the Plan) to the contrary, if a Participant
is a Specified Employee and if the RSUs are subject to Code Saection 409A, payment to the Participant on account of a Separation from Service
shall, to the extent required to comply with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(1X2), be made to the Participant on the eadier of (i) the
Participant’s death or (i) the first business day (or within 30 days after such first business day) that is more than six months after the date of
Separation from Service. In the Company's sole and absolute discretion, interest may be paid due to such delay. Further, any Interest shall be
calculated in the manner determined by the Company in Its sole and absolute discretion in a manner that qualifies any Interest as reasonable
eamings under Code Section 409A. Dividend equivalents shall not be paid with respect to any dividends that would have been paid during the
delay.

5. Non-Transferability of RSUs, The RSUs may not be assigned, transferred, pledged or hypothecated In any manner (otherwise than by will
of the laws of descent or distribution) nor may the Particlpant enter into any transaction for the purpose of, or which has the effect of, reducing the
market risk of halding the RSUs by using puts, calls or similar financial techniques. The RSUs subject to this Agreement may be settled during the
lifetime of the Particlpant only with the Participant or the Parlicipant's guardian or legal representative. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign,
pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispase of the RSUs or any refaled rights to the RSUs that is contrary to the provisions of this Agreement or the
Plan, or upon the levy of any attachment or similar process upon the RSUs or such rights, the RSUs and such rights shall immediately bacome
null and void. The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon the Successors of the Participant.

B. Rlahts ag Stockholder. The Parlicipant, or his/her Successors, shall have no rights as stockholder with respect to any RSUs cavered by
this Agreement, and, except as provided In Section 8, no adjustment shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights in respect of such
RSUs.

7. No Dividend Eguivalents. No dividend equivalents will be paid or accumulated on the RSUs.

8. Adjustments Upon Changes in Capltaljzation; Change of Control. In the event of any change In corporate capitalization, corporate
transaction, sale or other disposition of assets or similar corporate transaction or event Invalving the Company as described in Sactlon 5.5 of the
Plan, the Committee shall make equitable adjustment as it determines necessary and appropriate in the number of RSUs subject o this
Agreamnent; provided, however, that no fractional share shall be issued upon subsequent settlement of the RSUs. No adjustment shall be made If



such adjustment |s prohibited by Section 5.5 of the Plan (relating to Code Sectlon 409A).

8, Notigas, Each notice relating to this Agreement shall be deemed to have besn given on the date It is received., Each notice 1o the
Company shall be addressed to its principal office in Chicago, Illinais, Attention: Compensation. Each notice to the Participant or any aother persan
or persons entitled to receive a Settlemant Amount upon settlement of the RSUs shall be addressed 1o the Paricipant's address and may be in
written or electronic form. Anyone to whom a notice may be given under this Agreement may designate a new address by giving notice to the
effect.

10. Benefits of Agreement, This Agresment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upen each successor of tha Company. All gbligations
imposed upen the Participant and all rights granted to the Company under this Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant’s Successors. This
Agreernent shall be the sole and exclusive source of any and all rights thal the Particlpant or his/her Successors may have in respect to the Plan
or this Agreement.

11. No Right to Continued Employment. Nothing in this Agreement shall interfere with or affect the rights of the Company or the Paricipant
under any employment agreement or confer upon the Participant any right to continued emplayment with the Company.

12. Resolution of Disputes. Any dispute or disagreement that should arise under or as a result of or in any way related 1o the interpretation,
construction or application of this Agreement shall be determined by the Committee. Any determinalion made hereunder shall be final, binding and
conclusive for all purposes. This Agresment and the legal relations between the parties hereto shall be govemed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the state of Delawars,

13. Section 409A Compllangg. To Lhe extent applicable, this Agreement is inlended to comply with Code Section 4039A and any regulations
or notices provided thersunder. This Agreemenl and the Plan shall be interpreted in a manner consistent wilh this intent. The Company reserves
the unilateral right to amend this Agreement on written notice to the Participant in order to comply with Code Section 408A. It is intended that all
compensation and benefits payable or provided to Participant under this Agreement shall, to the extent required to comply with Code
Section 409A, fully comply with the provisions of Code Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations relating thereto so as not ta subject
Participants to the additional tax, interest ar penalties that may be imposed under Code Section 409A. None of the Company, ils contractors,
agents and employees, the Board and each member of the Board shall be liable for any consequences of any failure to follow the requirements of
Code Section 409A or any guidance or regulations thereunder, unless such failure was the direct result of an action or failure to act that was
undertaken by the Company In bad faith.

14. Amandmant. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the amandment is
applicabla hereto.

15. Severabllity. If any provision of Lhis Agreement or the application of any provision hereof to any persan or circumstances is held invalid,
unenferceable or otherwise illegal, the remalnder of this Agreement and the application of such prevision to any other person or circumstances
shall not be affected, and the provisions so held to be invalid, unenforceable or otharwise illegal shall be reformead to the extent (and only to the
extent} necessary to make it enforceable, valid and legal.

16. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the RSUs and the Parlicipant's
paticipation in the Plan, or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means or request the Participant's consent to
particlpate in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronl; defivery and, if requested,
agrees to participate in the Plan lhrough an on-line or elecironic system established and maintained by the Company or another third parly
designated by the Company.



Exhible 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF CONAGRA BRANDS, INC.

Conagra Brands, Inc. is the parent cotporation ewning, directly or indirectly, 100% of the voling securities of the following subsidiares principally engaged
in the production and distribution of food products 2s of May 26,2019:

Subsidiary Jarisdi¢tion of Formatign
Angic's Artisan Treats, LLC Delaware
Birds Eye Foods LLC Delaware
Boulder Brands USA, Inc. Delawarc
ConAgn Foods AM Hoelding S.arl. Luxembourg
ConAgra Foods Canada, Inc. / Aliments ConAgra Canada, Inc. Canada
ConAgra Foods Enterprse Services, Inc. Delawarc
ConAgn Foods Peckaged Foods, LLC Delaware
ConAgr Foods RDM, Inc. Delaware
ConAgr Foods Sales, LLC Delaware
Conagra Funding, LLC Delaware
Kennedy Endeavors, Incomorated Washington
Pinnacle Foods Group LLC Delaware

The corporations listed above are included in the conselidated financial statements, which are a part of this repont.



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Conagra Brands, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration siatements (Nos. 333-227740 and 333-219411) on Form 5-3 and registralion statements (Nos.
333-70476,33346962,333-46960. 33344426, 333-78063. 33364633, 33-32330, 333-17549, 3363061, 33-37293, 333.00997,333-162180,333-162137,
333-162136,and 333-199109) on Form $-8 of Conagra Brands, Ine. {the¢ Company) of our repont dated July 19, 2019, with respect to the consolidated
balance sheels of Conagra Brands, [nc. as af May 26,2019 and May 27,2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income,
common stockholders® equity, and cash {lows for each of the fiscal years in the three-ycar period ended May 26, 2019, and the relaled notes (collectively, the
consolidated linancial statements), and the effectiveness of intemal control over finencial reponting as of May 26, 2019, which report appears in the annual
report on Form 10-K of Conagra Brands, Inc. for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2019.

Our report dated July 19,2019, contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company acquired Pinnacle Foods Inc, (Pinnacle) during fiscal 2019
and manogement excluded from its assessment of the eflectiveness of the Coinpany's intenal eontrol vver finaneial reporting os of May 26, 2019, Pinnacle’s
internal control over financial reponing associated with $12.06 billion oftotal asscts and total net sales 0f $1.73 billion included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended May 26, 2019. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also
excluded an evaluation ofthe intemnal control over flinancial eporting of Pinnacle.

/sl KPMG LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
July 19,2019



Exhlbit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY
The undersigned Director of Conagra Prands, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Rabert G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Batcheler as his Attomney-in-Fact in his name, place and stead, 1o execute Conagra Brands’ Annual Report on Fonn 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendments thereof. in his capacity as a Director and hereby ratifies all that any one or more of said
Attomneys-in-Fact may do by virlue ther¢of.

IN WITNESS WHERECF, the undersighied has executed this Powerof Attomey this 19th day of July, 2019.

s/ 1 Lord
Melissa Lora




POWER OF ATTORNEY

Tre undersigned Director of Conagra Brands, tnc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints cach of David S. Marberger, Robent G. Wise. and
Colleen R. Balcheler as his Altomey-in-Fact in his name, place and stead, 10 exccute Conagra Brands' Annual Report oo Farm 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26. 2019, 10gether with any and al! subsequent amendmenis thereof, in his capacity as a Director and hercby ratifies all that any one or more of said
Artomeys-in-Fact may do by virtue thercof,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attomey this | 9th day of July, 2019.

3/ Anil Arora
Anil Arora




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Direclor of Conagra Brands, lnc., a Delaware corporaiion, hereby constitules and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Robert G. Wisc, and
Collcen R, Batcheler as his Attomey-in-Fact in his namce, place and stcad, 10 cxccute Conagra Brands’ Annual Report on Fonn 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26, 2019, 1ogether with any and all subsequent amendments thereof, in his capacity as a Direetor and hereby ratifies all that any one or imere of said
Altomeys-in-Fact may do by viriue thereaf.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Altomey this 19th day of July, 2019,

s
Stephen G. Butler




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Direclor ol Conagra Bmnds, e . a Delaware comporation, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Robert G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Batcheler as his Auomey-in-Facl in his name, place and stead, 1o execute Conagra Brands® Annual Report on Fonm 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendmenis thereof, in his capacity as a Directar and hereby ratifies all that any one or more of said
Attomeys-in-Fact may do by virtue therecf.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Allomey this 19th day of July, 2019.

/8! Scou Ostteld
Scou Ostleld




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Director of Conagm Brands, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Robert G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Batcheberas her Attomey-in-Fact in her name, place and siead, to execute Conagra Brands® Annual Report on Forn 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendments thereof, in her capacity as a Director and hereby ratifies all that any one or more of said
Altomeys-in-Fact may do by virue thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed tltis Power of Attorney this 19h day of July, 2019.

/s Joie A. Grepor
Joic A. Gregor




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigeed Direclor of Conagm Brands, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Roberl G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Baicheler as his Atomey-in-Fact in his name, place and stead, to execute Conagra Brands® Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendmenis thereof, in his capacity as a Director and hereby ratifies all that any one or mare of said
Attomeys-in-Fact may do by virtue thercof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Allomey this 19th day ol July, 2019.

/ Raiive Jolri
Rajive John




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Director of Conagra Brands, Inc., a Delaware comoration, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Robert G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Batcheler as his Attomey-in-Fact in his name, place and stead, 10 execute Conagra Brands' Annual Report on Forin 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendmients thereof, in his capacity as a Director and hereby ratifies all that any one or more of said
Attomeys-in-Fact may do by virlue thereol.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undcersigned has executed this Power ol Attomey this 19th day oFJuly, 2019.

fs/ Richard H. L.enny
Richarg F. Leany




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Director of Conagra Brands, [nc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David S. Marberger, Robert G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Batcheler as her Atomey-in-Fact in her name, place and stead, 10 exccule Conagra Brands® Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendiments thereof. in her capacity as a Director and hereby ratifies all that any one or mare of said
Attomneys-in-Fact may do by vinue thercof,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed this Power af Attormey this [9th day ol July, 2019.

/s/ Ruth Ann Marshall
Ruth Ann Marshall




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Director of Conagra Brands, Inc.. a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints each of David 5. Marberger, Robert G. Wise. and
Colleen R. Batcheler as his Attomey-in-Facl tn his name, place and stead, to exccute Conagra Brands” Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendments thereof, in his capacity as a Direcior and hereby ratifies all that any onc or mere of said
Altomeys-in-Fact may do by virlue thercof.

N WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Altorney this E91h day of fuly, 2019.

s/ Criip P. Omivedt
Craig P. Omtvedt




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Director of Conagma Brands, Inc., a2 Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints cach of David S. Marbergeer Robert G. Wisc, and
Colleen R. Batcheler as his Automey-in-Fact in his name, place and stcad, to exccule Conagra Brands’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendments thereaf, in his capacity as a Director and hereby matifies all that any one or more of said
Allomeys-in-Fact may do by virue thereol.

IN WITNESS WIEREOF, the undersigned has execuled this Power of Altomey Lhis 19th day of July, 2019,

fe/ Thomas K. Brown

Thoemas K. Brown




POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned Director of Conagra Brands, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoints cach of David 8. Marberger, Robert G. Wise, and
Colleen R. Batcheler as his Atiomey-in-Fact in his name, place and stead, to execute Conagra Brands' Annual Repont on Form 10-K for the (iscal year ended

May 26, 2019, together with any and all subsequent amendments thereof! in his capacity as a Director and hereby ratifics all Utat any one or more of said
Attomeys-in-Fact may do by virtue thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has execuled this Power ol Attomey this 19th day ol July, 2019,

fs/ Sean M, Conpolly
Sean M. Connolly



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I.Sean M. Connolly, certify that:

1.
2.

| have revicwed this annual report on Form 10-K for the ycar ended May 26,2019 of Conagra Brands, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, (his report does nol contain any untric statement of @ material fact or omit 10 state a material fact necessary Lo
make the statements made, in light of the cireumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 1o the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repor, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of'the regisimnt as of, and for, the periods presented in this repon;

The registmat's other centifying oflicen(s) and 1 arc responsible for establishing and maintainiog disclosure controls and procedures {as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(¢)) and intemal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(tyand 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or ciused such disclosure controls and procedures 10 be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that malterial information relating to the registrant, includiag its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known 1o us by others within those entilics, particularly during the period in which this repont is being prepared;

(b) Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with genenally aceepted accounting principles;

(¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions aboul
the effectivencess of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting that oceurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially effecred,
or is reasonably likely o materizlly affect, the registrant’s intemal conirol over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other centifying officer(s) and I have disclosed. based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audii committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control aver financial reporing which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial tnformation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or rot material, that involves management or ather cmployees who have a significunt role in the registrant's
intenal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 19,2019

s/ SEAN M. CONNOLLY

Sean M. Connolly
Chicf Executive Officer



Exhiblt 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

1. David S. Marherger, certify that:

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K [or the yearended May 26,2019 of Conagra Brands, Inc;

Based on ny knowledge, this repon does not conlain any untrue statement of’a materdal facl or omit to state a matenal fact necessary (o
make the statements made, in light ol the circumstances under which such stalements were made, not misleading with respect o the period
covered by this report;

Based an tny knowledye, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repon, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condilion, results of operations and cash {lows of the registrant as of, and for, the pedods presented in this repon;

The registrant’s other certifying ollicer(s) and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules |3a-15(e) and 15d-15(c)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
I3a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) forthe registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures Lo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant, including its consalidated subsidiares, is made known to
us by others within those entitics, particulary during the period in which this repon is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting. or caused such intemal control aver financial reporting (o be designed
under our supervision, to pravide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reponting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepled accounting principles;

{c) Evaluated the elTectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the cftectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
cvaluatian; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal control over financial reponiing thal occumed during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quaner (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quaner in the case of an annuai report) that has malerially affected, or is
rensonably likely lo matenally affect, the registrant’s intemnal control over financial reporting: and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and 1 have disclosed. based on our most recent evaluation of intemal contre) over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitiee of the registrant's board of directors (er persons performing Lhe equivaleni
functions):

(a) All significant deliciencices and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation ol intemal control over linancial reporing which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(B Any Iraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
intermal control ever financial reporting.

Date: luly 19,2019

s/ David 8. Marberger

David 5. Marberger
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant ta 18 U.S.C. Sector 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002:

[, Sean M. Connolly, Chiefl Executive Officer ¢f Conagrz Brands, lnc., certily, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1330, as adepled pursuant to Section 906
ol the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 10 my koowledge that Conagra Brands, Inc.'s Annual Repon on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2019 (the
“"Annuzl Report™ fully complies with the requirements ot Seclion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934; and that the information contained
in the Annual Repon faitly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Conagra Brands, Inc. as of the dates and for
the perieds presented Lherein.

July 19.2019

/a/ SEAN M, CONNOLLY
Sean M. Connolly
Chief Executive Officer

I, David S. Marberger, Cxecutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Conagra Brands, Inc., cenify, pursuant to 18 US.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant 1o Scction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge that Conagra Brands, Inc's Annual Report on Fonn 10-K for the fiscal
year ended May 26, 2019 (the "Annual Repon™) fully complies wilh the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) ol the Securilies Exchange Act ol 1934; and

that the informatien contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Conagra
Brands, In¢. as of the dates and for the periods presented therein.

July 19,2019

/sf David S. Marberger
David S. Marberger
Cxeculive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Asigned original of this writtan statement requircd by Scetion 906 has been provided 1o Conagra Brands, [nc. and will be retained by Conagm Brands,
Inc. and fumnished (o the Seeuritics and Exchange Commission orits staffupon request.



